

Factors Associated with Cognitive Impairment in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Ridwan Musbeh A. Alomri

B.A., (Psychology), King Abdulaziz UniversityM.E., (Psychology), The University of Sydney

School of Health and Biomedical Sciences College of Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths RMIT University

November 2020

Declaration

I certify that except where due acknowledgement has been made, the work is that of the author alone; the work has not been submitted previously, in whole or in part, to qualify for any other academic award; the content of the thesis is the result of work which has been carried out since the official commencement date of the approved research program; any editorial work, paid or unpaid, carried out by a third party is acknowledged; and, ethics procedures and guidelines have been followed.

Ridwan Musbeh A. Alomri

Date: 25/11/2020

Acknowledgements

Acknowledgements

First of all, 'thanks are for Allah, the one who, by his blessings and favour, good works are accomplished'. I wish to acknowledge my primary supervisor, Prof Stephen Robinson, for his continuous support, encouragement, intellectual input in the development of this project and particularly for his enthusiasm, patience and kindness and professional behaviour. I would also like to thank my second supervisor, Prof Gerard Kennedy, for his valuable guidance, support and optimism. Without Stephen's and Gerard's solid support and helpful feedback, this thesis would not have been possible. I am grateful for their advice and help in facing the challenges during my PhD journey.

Second, I would like to thank Prof Siraj Wali and Dr Faris Alhejaili from Sleep Medicine and Research Centre, King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, for their supervision and support during the data collection and all staff of the Sleep Centre including the clinical research coordinator and sleep technicians; and RMIT, especially staff members and sleep laboratory members in the discipline of Psychology for their enthusiasm and collaboration during my study. I would particularly like to thank Dr Wendell Cockshaw for his valuable statistical advice. I thank the HDR office staff, especially Associate Professor Anthony Jaworowski (Associate Dean, HDR), Mrs Mary Briganti and Mrs Helen Cassidy. I am also grateful to my sponsors, The University of Jeddah and the Saudi Arabian Cultural Mission in Australia, for their limitless and generous support.

Finally, I would like to thank my mother for continuously including me in her prayers; my siblings for their assistance and support during my PhD study; my wife (Ahoud) for her endless support, especially during my study journey; and my beautiful daughter (Hiafa) and gorgeous son (Tamim).

Table of Contents

Declarationii
Acknowledgements iii
Table of Contents iv
List of Tablesix
List of Figures xii
List of Abbreviationsxiv
Preface xviii
Abstractxix
Chapter 1: Literature Review1
1.1 Obstructive Sleep Apnoea1
1.2 Physiological Consequences of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea
1.2.1 Hypoxia and Oxidative Stress5
1.2.2 Sleep Fragmentation7
1.3 Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Diagnostic Tool—Polysomnography10
1.4 Screening Tools for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Severity13
1.5 Risk Factors for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea15
1.5.1 Age16
1.5.2 Body Mass Index16
1.5.3 Sex and Geography17
1.5.4 Smoking
1.5.5 Comorbid Conditions that Affect the Prevalence and Severity of Obstructive
Sleep Apnoea21

1.6 Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Treatment: Continuous Positive Airway Pressure23
1.7 Physiological and Neurocognitive Correlates of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea25
1.7.1 Sympathetic Nervous System25
1.8 Daytime Dysfunction in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea31
1.8.1 Excessive Daytime Sleepiness in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea
1.8.2 Depressive Symptoms
1.8.3 Cognitive Dysfunction in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea
1.9 Potential Mechanisms of Cognitive Dysfunction in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea39
1.9.1 Intermittent Hypoxia40
1.9.2 Sleep Fragmentation41
1.9.3 Depressive Symptoms42
1.9.4 Nocturnal Sympathetic Nervous System Over-activity43
1.10 Obstructive Sleep Apnoea in Saudi Arabia45
1.10.1 Pre-screening Tools for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea in Saudi Arabia46
1.11 Summary47
1.12 Thesis Aims and Hypotheses48
1.12.1 Aims
1.12.2 Thesis Hypotheses
1.12.3 The Sample Recruitments Summary50
Chapter 2: Risk Factors and Characteristics of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Patients
Referred for an Overnight Sleep Study in Saudi Arabia: Utility of the STOP-Bang
Questionnaire as a Screening Tool
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Methods54
2.2.1 Study Participants

2.2.2 Procedure and Measurements
2.2.3 Questionnaires
2.2.4 Hypertension
2.2.5 Analysis
2.3 Results
2.4 Discussion
2.5 Conclusions73
Chapter 3: Differential Associations of Hypoxia, Sleep Fragmentation and
Depressive Symptoms with Cognitive Performance in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea74
3.1 Introduction74
3.2 Method and Materials77
3.2.1 Study Participants77
3.2.2 Procedure and Measurements
3.2.3 Questionnaires
3.2.4 Neurobehavioral Evaluation
3.2.5 Analysis
3.3 Results
3.4 Discussion
3.4.1 Intermittent Hypoxia
3.4.2 Sleep Fragmentation90
3.4.3 Depressive Symptoms90
3.5 Conclusion
Chapter 4: Association Between Nocturnal Activity of the Sympathetic Nervous
System and Cognitive Performance in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea
4.1 Introduction96

4.2 Method and Materials	.97
4.2.1 Study Participants	.97
4.2.2 Procedure and Measurements	.98
4.2.3 Questionnaires	.98
4.2.4 Autonomic Nervous System Measurements	100
4.2.5 Neurobehavioral Evaluation	101
4.2.6 Analysis	102
4.3 Results	105
4.4 Discussion	113
4.5 Conclusion	117
Chapter 5: Association Between Nocturnal Peaks of Blood Pressure and Cognitive	
Performance in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea	18
5.1 Introduction	18
5.2 Method and Materials	21
5.2.1 Participants	21
5.2.2 Procedure and Measurement	121
5.2.3 Questionnaires	121
5.2.5 Questionnailes	121
5.2.4 Neurobehavioral Evaluation	121
5.2.4 Neurobehavioral Evaluation	121 122 124 1 26
 5.2.5 Questionnaires 5.2.4 Neurobehavioral Evaluation 5.3 Analysis 5.4 Results 	121 122 124 1 26 1 28
5.2.4 Neurobehavioral Evaluation	121 122 124 126 126 128
5.2.5 Questionnalies 5.2.4 Neurobehavioral Evaluation 5.3 Analysis 5.4 Results 5.5 Discussion 1 5.6 Conclusion	121 122 124 126 128 139 143
5.2.5 Questionnaires 5.2.4 Neurobehavioral Evaluation 5.3 Analysis 5.4 Results 5.5 Discussion 5.6 Conclusion Chapter 6: General Discussion	122 122 124 126 128 139 143
5.2.5 Questionnales	121 122 124 126 128 139 143 145 145

6.3 Utility of the Arabic Version of the STOP-Bang Questionnaire	
6.4 Nocturnal Over-activity of the Sympathetic Nervous System in Obstruct	tive
Sleep Apnoea	149
6.5 Factors Associated with Cognitive Impairment in Obstructive Sleep Apr	noea150
6.6 Limitations	153
6.7 Directions for Future Research	154
References	156
Appendices	225
Appendix 1: RMIT ethics approval	225
Appendix 2: Publications and Conference Abstracts Related to the Thesis	227
Publications	227
Appendix 3: STOP Bang Questionnaire	229
Appendix 4: The Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale - 21 Items	230
Appendix 5: Epworth Sleepiness Scale	231
Appendix 6: Travel Award (Annual Scientific Meeting of the Australasian Sleep	
Association)	232

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Classification of OSA severity based on the AHI. 10
Table 1.2 Classification of OSA severity based on the RDI (Gottlieb et al., 1999)11
Table 1.3 Classification of OSA severity based on an ODI of 4% blood oxygen desaturation.
Table 1.4 Sensitivity and specificity of the BQ, SBQ, SQ and ESS (table derived from Chiu
et al., 2017)
Table 1.5 Estimated prevalence of obstructive sleep apnoea stratified by sex, age and country.
Table 1.6 Studies that have used OSA screening tools that had been translated into Arabic47
Table 2.1 Comparison of demographic, and sleep-related variables and smoking status
between the sexes
Table 2.2 The prevalence rate of depressive symptoms, daytime sleepiness, hypertension,
type 2 diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance among OSA patients (\geq 5 AHI)61
Table 2.3 Results of the binary logistic regressions analysis for associations between OSA
severity (AHI) and depressive symptoms, excessive daytime sleepiness, impaired
glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes after controlling for age, Body Mass Index and
smoking status, and applying the FDR multiple comparison adjustment62
Table 2.4 Results of the multiple regression analysis for associations between OSA severity
(AHI) and age, Body Mass Index and smoking status63
Table 2.5 Descriptive statistics for the categorical results obtained from the Apnoea-
Hypopnoea Index and STOP-Bang questionnaire63
Table 2.6 Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, positive
likelihood ratio, and negative likelihood ratio for the STOP-Bang questionnaire score
(< 3 v. ≥ 3)66

List of Tables

Table 2.7 Diagnostic accuracy for the individual SBQ items for different cut-off values of
AHI67
Table 2.8 Frequency of 'yes' responses to the eight SBQ items stratified by OSA severity68
Table 3.1 Comparison of demographic variables, depressive symptoms, daytime sleepiness
and polysomnography parameters stratified by OSA severity group
Table 3.2 Multiple linear regression analysis for the association between depressive
symptoms and demographic variables, and daytime sleepiness
Table 3.3 Multiple linear regression analyses for the key measures on the Psychomotor
Vigilance Task and Austin Maze test, showing the strength of association between
scores on these tests and measures of hypoxia (SaO ₂ time <90%), sleep fragmentation
(Arousal Index) and depressive symptoms, after adjusting for confounders
Table 3.4. Multiple linear regression analysis of measures on the Autobiographical Memory
Interview, showing the strength of association between scores on this test with
measures of hypoxia (SaO ₂ time <90%), sleep fragmentation (Arousal Index) and
depressive symptoms, after adjusting for confounders
Table 4.1 Comparison of demographic variables, depression, daytime sleepiness, PSG
parameters and nocturnal SNS indices by OSA severity group
Table 4.2 Multiple regression analysis including age, SaO ₂ time <90%, Arousal Index and
Body Mass Index in the model to predict the nocturnal pulse wave amplitude, heart
rate variability, and first-morning samples of cortisol and glucose levels, and after
applying FDR corrections for multiple comparisons109
Table 5.1 Comparison of demographic variables, and depressive symptoms, daytime
sleepiness, PSG parameters and blood pressure indices, stratified by OSA severity.

х

Table 5.2 Descriptive data for hypertension status prior to and during sleep time: number of
participants (percentage of sample)
Table 5.3 Multiple linear regression analysis including age, SaO ₂ time <90%, Arousal Index
and BMI modelled to predict nocturnal peaks of blood pressure134
Table 5.4 Multiple linear regression analyses of the association between psychomotor
vigilance and Austin maze test indices and blood pressure indices (adjusted for
demographic cofounders, hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms),
after applying FDR corrections for multiple comparisons
Table 5.5 Multiple linear regression analyses of the association between autobiographical
memory interview indices and blood pressure indices (adjusted for demographic
cofounders, hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms), after applying
FDR corrections for multiple comparisons

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Normal <i>v</i> . obstructed airway during sleep
Figure 1.2 A) Magnetic resonance images showing the restriction of the airway by the tongue
in an awake apnoeic person (right panel), compared with a person without OSA (left
panel). B) 3-D reconstruction of the upper airway during wakefulness and sleep5
Figure 1.3. Schematic diagram summarising the major biochemical pathways that lead to the
production of free radicals and oxidative stress following hypoxic episodes (Lavie,
2015)7
Figure 1.4 Schematic diagram of the autonomic nervous system showing how the
parasympathetic and sympathetic nervous systems provide complementary
innervation to the same organs
Figure 1.5 Heart rate variability: variation in the duration between heartbeats (Cornforth,
Tarvainen, & Jelinek, 2014)28
Figure 1.6 Pulse wave amplitude (PWA) trace obtained from finger plethysmography
illustrating three temporary reductions in blood flow due to activation of the SNS (Vat
et al., 2015)
Figure 1.7 Pulse transit time (PTT) is the time elapsed between the EEG R-peak recorded
above the heart and the corresponding peak recorded in the finger during a single
cardiac cycle (Ding et al., 2020)
Figure 1.8 Schematic illustration of the research aims of the thesis. Each of the four data
chapters (Chapters 2–5) is associated with a different aim (a–d)
Figure 1.9 Recruitment flow chart for the study sample
Figure 2.1 The relationship between OSA severity (AHI) and SBQ scores (a), ODI (b), and
Arousal Index (c)

Figure 2.2 Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves based on cut-off values for
AHI of 5 (a), 15 (b) and 30 (c) for SBQ scores of \geq 3, showing the corresponding area under
the curve
Figure 4.1 The relationship between OSA severity (AHI) and PWA index (a); PWA drop
time duration (b); HRV ratio (log) (c)108
Figure 5.1 Relationship between resting SBP (a) and DBP (b) measured by
sphygmomanometer and PTT130
Figure 5.2 Relationship between baseline blood pressure and nocturnal peaks of SBP (a);
DBP (b)
Figure 5.3 Relationship between the severity of OSA (AHI) and mean variance between
resting and peaks of SBP (a) and DBP (b)133
Figure 6.1 Schematic diagrams illustrating the research findings associated with the research
aims that formed the basis of Chapters 2–5 (a–d, respectively)
Figure 6.2 Schematic diagram showing the factors identified by the present study to have an
independent association with impairments in specific cognitive domains151

List of Abbreviations

AASM	American Academy of Sleep Medicine
ABPM	Ambulatory blood pressure monitor
AHI	Apnoea–Hypopnea Index
AM	Austin maze
AMI	Autobiographical Memory Interview
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ANS	Autonomic nervous system
AUC	Area under the curve
BMI	Body Mass Index
BP	Blood pressure
BQ	Berlin questionnaire
CPAP	Continuous positive airway pressure
DASS	Depression Anxiety Stress Scale
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure
ECG	Electrocardiography
EDS	Excessive daytime sleepiness
EEG	Electroencephalogram
EMG	Electromyography
EOG	Electrooculography
ESS	Epworth Sleepiness Scale
fMRI	Functional magnetic resonance imaging
FDR	False discovery rate
HF	High frequency

HIF1a	Hypoxia-inducible factor-1α
HPA	Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
HRV	Heart rate variability
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance
IH	Intermittent hypoxia
LF	Low frequency
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MSLT	Multiple sleep latency test
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NF-kB	Nuclear factor-kB
NF2L2	Nuclear factor erythroid 2-like 2
NLR	Negative likelihood ratio
NO	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
NPV	Negative predictive value
NREM	Non-rapid eye movement
ODI	Oxygen Desaturation Index
OHS	Obesity hypoventilation syndrome
OSA	Obstructive sleep apnoea
OSAHS	Obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnea syndrome
POMS	Profile of mood states
PLR	Positive likelihood ratio
PNS	Parasympathetic nervous system
PPG	Photoplethysmography
PPV	Positive predictive value

PSG	Polysomnography
PTT	Pulse transit time
PVT	Psychomotor vigilance test
PWA	Pulse wave amplitude
RDI	Respiratory Disturbance Index
REM	Rapid eye movement
RERA	Respiratory effort-related arousal
RG	Retroglossal region
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RP	Retropalatal
RT	Reaction time
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SBQ	STOP-Bang questionnaire
SD	Standard deviation
SDB	Sleep-disordered breathing
SNS	Sympathetic nervous system
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
SQ	STOP questionnaire
SWS	Slow-wave sleep
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
US	United States
VIF	Variance inflation factor
WASO	Wake time after sleep onset

WSQ Wisconsin sleep questionnaire

Preface

This thesis includes four interrelated research projects (Chapters 2–5), which have been prepared as draft publications (each with an abstract, introduction, methods, results and discussion). This structure has necessitated a degree of duplication in the methods sections of these chapters. The candidate formulated and wrote all thesis chapters, obtained ethics approval, performed the entire study, analysed all data and interpreted the results for chapters 2-5. Chapter 3 has been published in *Sleep*, chapter 4 has been published in *Scientific Reports Journal* – *Nature*, and Chapter 5 is under review in *Hypertension Journal*, for Chapter 2 it is prepared for the submission (See appendix 2). Chapter 1 provides an introduction and literature review for the research projects, while Chapter 6 provides a general discussion of the main outcomes and findings of the research projects.

Abstract

Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) is a sleep disorder characterised by repetitive episodes of airway obstruction, which lead to transient hypoxia and sleep fragmentation. Persons with OSA can suffer from excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS) and mood swings and are twice as likely as healthy peers to have difficulty concentrating, performing repetitive tasks and acquiring new knowledge. Sleep fragmentation and intermittent hypoxia (IH) are only able to account for 30-40% of the cognitive impairment, so additional factors must be involved. One possibility is depressive symptoms, as these are common in OSA. People with depressive symptoms but no other comorbid condition exhibit cognitive deficits that can include memory loss, ambiguity in decision making, a decline in judgment and problem-solving skills and an inability to pay attention during routine activities. Another potential factor is increased nocturnal activity of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS), which can lead to changes in heartbeat and spikes in nocturnal blood pressure (BP). In the general population, high BP in midlife has been strongly linked to impairments in visuospatial ability, motor speed and attention. Since little is known about the contributions of depressive symptoms and SNS over-activation to the cognitive impairments in OSA, the present study has examined whether these factors are associated with cognitive impairments in OSA patients, after controlling for the confounding effects of age, smoking, IH and sleep fragmentation.

The first aim of this study was to characterise the participants. They were drawn from patients who had been referred to a Saudi Arabian sleep laboratory to undergo a sleep study using polysomnography (PSG). It was hypothesised that participants should show no differences in OSA characteristics or risk factors compared with participants in previous studies in Western countries. Of the 100 patients who presented consecutively to the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre, 90 met the study inclusion criteria. This study measured OSA via overnight PSG and

the participants were asked to complete the Arabic version of the *STOP-Bang questionnaire* (SBQ). Of the participants, 62 (69%) were male; mean participant age was 42.0 \pm 12.7 years; and mean Body Mass Index (BMI) was 33.4 \pm 9.4 kg/m². PSG showed that 14 of the 90 participants did not have OSA, 30 had mild OSA, 23 had moderate OSA and 23 had severe OSA. Eight of the 90 participants did not answer the SBQ completely; therefore, the SBQ data are from 82 participants. Multiple regression analysis revealed that age and BMI (p < .05) but not smoking status (p > .05) were significant predictors of OSA severity. The prevalence of depressive symptoms and EDS was 74% and 50%, respectively. In addition, 60% of participants with OSA had impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) or type 2 diabetes (T2D). These proportions are similar to reports from other countries, making it likely that the research findings from this Saudi cohort have global relevance.

Data from this cohort demonstrated a significant correlation (p < .05) between the SBQ score and the Apnoea–Hypopnea Index (AHI), confirming the utility of the SBQ as a predictor of OSA severity. Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis revealed that a total SBQ score >2 predicted an AHI > 5 with high sensitivity (90%) but low specificity (54%), and an AHI of >15 with a sensitivity of 98% and a specificity of 32%. The loud snoring item provided superior prediction of mild OSA (AHI >5), while the observed apnoeas item predicted an AHI >15 with a sensitivity of 87% and specificity of 76%.

The second aim was to determine the extent to which IH, sleep fragmentation and depression are independently associated with cognitive impairment. Hypoxia was measured as time spent with a blood oxygen concentration of <90% during sleep, and sleep fragmentation was measured using the Arousal Index. Depressive symptoms were determined by the depression subscale of the *Depression–Anxiety Stress Scale* (DASS-21). Cognitive function was evaluated using the 10-trial Austin maze (visuospatial ability), the 10-minute psychomotor vigilance test

Abstract

(sustained attention and reaction time [RT]) and the Autobiographical Memory Interview (semantic and episodic memories). IH was independently associated with impairments in sustained attention and RT (p < .05). Sleep fragmentation was independently related to impairments in visuospatial ability (p < .05). Depressive symptoms were independently associated with impairments in the domains of sustained attention, RT, visuospatial ability and semantic and episodic memories (p < .05).

The third aim was to investigate the contributions of SNS over-activity to cognitive impairment. It was hypothesised that SNS over-activity might be a significant contributor to cognitive impairment in OSA patients. SNS activity was measured using heart rate variability (HRV; high-to-low frequency ratio), pulse wave amplitude (PWA) drops and stress response biomarkers (first-morning sample of urinary and blood cortisol, and blood glucose). PWA, HRV and morning blood glucose (p < .005), but not morning urine and blood cortisol, were associated with OSA severity. Moreover, the PWA index, PWA time duration and HRV ratio were associated with impaired visuospatial ability (p < .005). However, impairments in sustained attention, RT and autobiographical memory were not significantly associated with any of the SNS indices.

The fourth aim was to investigate whether nocturnal peaks in BP are associated with cognitive dysfunction in patients with clinically verified OSA. It was hypothesised that as high BP is known to damage the cerebral cortex through micro-strokes, peaks of nocturnal BP might be associated with impaired cognitive function. Nocturnal peaks in BP were measured continuously (beat-to-beat) using the pulse transit time method. Results showed that nocturnal peaks in systolic blood pressure (SBP) were associated with OSA severity (p < .005), whereas diastolic BP peaks were not. Moreover, patients with the most severe OSA had the largest differences between resting and nocturnal SBP (p < .005). Additionally, peaks in nocturnal

SBP and the mean value of the differences between resting and nocturnal SBP were associated with impaired visuospatial ability (p < .005). Impairments in sustained attention and RT, and autobiographical memory were not significantly associated with nocturnal BP.

This study has shown that IH, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms independently contribute to cognitive impairment in OSA. Further, PWA, HRV and nocturnal peaks in SBP correlate with impairments in visuospatial function. The present study has extended understanding of the factors that contribute to cognitive impairment in OSA by revealing that two additional factors, depressive symptoms and SNS over-activation, appear to account for some of the cognitive impairment, independently of age, smoking, nocturnal hypoxia and arousals from sleep. These novel findings have implications for both the measurement of OSA in overnight sleep studies and for the treatment of cognitive impairment in patients with OSA.

Chapter 1: Literature Review

1.1 Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) is the most frequently diagnosed sleep-related breathing disorder (Epstein et al., 2009). OSA is defined by repeated episodes of cessation of breathing during sleep, with episodes lasting for 10 seconds or more (Memon & Manganaro, 2020). Breathing cessation alternates with regular breathing and can involve a partial or complete obstruction of the upper airway (hypopnoea or apnoea, respectively) (Bradley & Phillipson, 1985; Shochat & Pillar, 2003). Typical symptoms of OSA include loud snoring, gasping for air upon waking, dry mouth, headaches in the morning, insomnia (difficulty staying asleep), waking in the night while choking, excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS), unrefreshing sleep and fatigue (American Academy of Sleep Medicine [AASM], 2014; Kapur et al., 2017).

The three key predictive risk factors for OSA are being male, being overweight and being middle-aged. Estimates of the prevalence of OSA have increased over time (Franklin & Lindberg, 2015) in parallel with rising obesity rates (Peppard et al., 2013). In developed societies, up to 20% of middle-aged males and approximately 17% of middle-aged females may experience OSA (Gislason & Sunnergren, 2014). The rates of OSA are even higher in old age. A systematic review by Franklin and Lindberg (2015) suggested a mean worldwide OSA prevalence of 22% for males (range 9–37%) and 17% for females (range 4–50%). A narrative literature review by Benjafield et al. (2019) estimated that globally, 936 million people aged 30–69 years have mild-to-severe OSA while 425 million in this age range have moderate-to-severe OSA (Benjafield et al., 2019). While perhaps surprising that almost a billion people worldwide may suffer from OSA, the true number might be even higher due to the rapidly increasing rates of obesity in most countries. The wide variability and uncertainty in estimates of the prevalence of OSA result from variation among countries in how it is defined, different

Chapter 1

diagnostic standards, incomplete clinical records and variable levels of clinical awareness of OSA (Arnardottir, Bjornsdottir, Olafsdottir, Benediktsdottir, & Gislason et al., 2016; Greenber, Lakticova, & Scharf, 2017; Ravesloot, Maanen, Hilgevoord, Wagensveld, & Vries, 2012). These factors are discussed in more detail in subsequent sections.

The first reported observation of breathing failure in sleep was made by Silas Weir Mitchell in the 1850s (P. Lavie, 2008). However, it was not until 1918 that the Canadian physician, Sir William Osler, used the term 'Pickwickian syndrome' (after a character in a 1837 novel by Charles Dickens) to describe patients who presented with a combination of obesity and EDS (Bickelmann, Burwell, Robin, & Whaley, 1956; P. Lavie, 2008, p. 27). Early research into Pickwickian syndrome concentrated on obesity rather than disordered breathing during sleep (Hansford, 2011, p. 1). Pickwickian syndrome was eventually delineated from OSA because it is primarily characterised by 'obesity hypoventilation' and, was later termed 'obesity hypoventilation syndrome' (OHS) (Olson & Zwillich, 2005, p. 948). More recent research has concluded that OHS and OSA are very similar in clinical presentation as they share pathogenesis and pathophysiology, making it difficult to differentiate between the two (Liu, Chen, & Yu, 2017). However, patients with OHS demonstrate daytime hypercapnia (abnormally high concentrations of carbon dioxide in the blood) and nocturnal oxygen desaturation without airflow obstruction (Sateia, 2014).

In the mid-1960s, sleep apnoea was first identified through the use of an electroencephalogram (EEG) in a pioneering study that explored the neurophysiology of abnormal night-time sleep in patients with OHS (Jung & Kuhlo, 1965). As a result of this study, polysomnography (PSG) became the standard tool for diagnosing sleep apnoea (Medical Advisory Secretariat, 2006), and by the late 1970s, the first cases of OSA had been clinically diagnosed (Guilleminault, Tilkian, & Dement, 1976; P. Lavie, 2008). Today, an OSA diagnosis involves the use of

screening measures (e.g. the *STOP-Bang questionnaire* [SBQ]) followed by PSG (Kapur et al., 2017). The following section describes the consequences of OSA, the main tools used to diagnose and assess its severity, current treatments, risk factors, physiological and neurocognitive correlates, main complaints of sufferers and potential bases of the cognitive dysfunction seen in OSA.

1.2 Physiological Consequences of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

Upper airway obstruction during sleep results in intermittent breathing, triggering intermittent hypoxia (IH), which is a deficiency in blood oxygen levels (desaturation followed by resaturation) (Kyotani, Takasawa, & Yoshizumi, 2019). OSA is also accompanied by intermittent hypercapnia, which is an abnormal elevation of carbon dioxide levels in the blood (Sforza & Roche, 2016). In OSA, the muscles of the tongue and throat relax during sleep and intermittently block the airway, as illustrated in Figure 1.1 (Mayo Clinic, 2020). Obstructive events (apnoeas/hypopneas) can be detected with pulse oximetry that measures fluctuations in arterial oxygen saturation (Terrill, 2020). A respiratory event in an adult is classified as an apnoea when there has been \geq 90% reduction of airflow relative to baseline lasting \geq 10 seconds; a hypopnea corresponds to a 30–90% reduction in airflow relative to baseline for \geq 10 seconds (Berry, Budhiraja, et al., 2012).



Figure 1.1 Normal *v*. obstructed airway during sleep.In the normal airway, blue shading indicates the route of airflow to the lungs, whereas in the obstructed airway the blue shading shows how the airflow becomes blocked by the tongue during an apnoea (Mayo Clinic, 2020).

In terms of pathophysiology, anatomical and neuromuscular factors modulate upper airway obstruction, and affect diagnosis rates for OSA (Pham & Schwartz, 2015). As illustrated in Figure 1.2A, patients with OSA have restricted upper airways compared with those without OSA, even during wakefulness (Dempsey, Veasey, Morgan, & O'Donnell, 2010). OSA is associated with structural and anatomical alterations of the airway, including tonsillar hypertrophy, retrognathia and malformations in craniofacial structures (Cakirer et al., 2001; Lyberg, Krogstad, & Djupesland, 1989; Moser & Rajagopal, 1987; Watanabe, Isono, Tanaka, Tanzawa, & Nishino, 2002). OSA is more common in people with a large neck circumference (Ibrahim et al., 2007; Martinez-Rivera, Abad, Fiz, Rios, & Morera, 2008) and an upper airway that is constricted by nasal abnormalities or enlargements of the tonsils, tongue or uvula (Schellenberg, Maislin, & Schwab, 2000). One of the main anatomical changes during the rapid eye movement (REM) stage of sleep is the relaxation of skeletal muscles, including the genioglossus of the tongue (Dempsey et al., 2010). In OSA, the relaxed genioglossus slides backwards to occlude the pharynx (Figure 1.2B) (White, 2006). Therefore, episodes of nonbreathing in OSA are not caused by a lack of inspiratory effort; on the contrary, the patient struggles to breathe against their occluded pharynx until they can suck in air, but this effort can

arouse them from sleep and place stress on the cardiovascular system through stimulation of the sympathetic nervous system (Tietjens et al., 2019).



Figure 1.2 A: Magnetic resonance images showing the restriction of the airway by the tongue in an awake apnoeic person (right panel), compared with a person without OSA (left panel). B: 3-D reconstruction of the upper airway during wakefulness and sleep (Dempsey et al., 2010). RP: retropalatal; RG: retroglossal region.

1.2.1 Hypoxia and Oxidative Stress

Hypoxia can be caused by the interrupted breathing associated with OSA. According to (Samuel & Franklin, 2008), it is essential to differentiate between hypoxia, which refers to low oxygen in tissues, and hypoxemia, which is a consequence of low partial oxygen pressure in arterial blood. Hypoxemia may exist without hypoxia if patients compensate for low oxygen in tissues by increasing their cardiac output, which increases oxygen delivery to tissues. Ordinarily, hypoxemia involves IH and may be involved in OSA-related comorbidities, such as discontinuous blood gas abnormalities, and an increased risk of hypertension, cardiovascular complications and cerebrovascular diseases (Dewan, Nieto, & Somers, 2015).

Chapter 1

The effects of repeated IH at the molecular, cellular and physiological levels have been well documented (Nam, Haque, Shin, Park, & Rhee, 2020) and are suggested to result in a proinflammatory response, endothelial dysfunction, atherosclerosis, an increase in cardiovascular and cerebrovascular morbidity, cognitive decline and neurocognitive disease (Lévy et al., 2015; Ridgway & McFarland, 2006). In animal models, IH results in cell and tissue injury as a result of the activation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and pro-inflammatory pathways within the body (L. Lavie, 2019). Ultimately, the formation of ROS and induction of pro-inflammatory pathways induces inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, activation of the immune system (innate and adaptive) and transcriptional reprogramming, which contributes to a vast array of morbidities, especially cardiovascular events, and leads to increased mortality (Eltzschig & Eckle, 2011; L. Lavie, 2019).

IH creates oxidative stress by inducing mitochondrial dysfunction and increasing the activities of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase and xanthine oxidase while promoting the uncoupling of nitric oxide synthase (NOS). In an oxidative state, superoxide and nitric oxide (NO) accumulate if they are not rapidly cleared, and they react with neighbouring molecules to create ROS such as hydroxyl, hypochlorite and peroxynitrite. These ROS are highly reactive and can damage major organs such as the heart, brain, eyes and kidneys (Rogier van der Velde, Meijers, & de Boer, 2015; J. Zhang & Veasey, 2012).

Interaction between NO and ROS further perpetuates oxidative stress while limiting the bioavailability of NO for other processes in the body (Lévy et al., 2015). The low-grade inflammation caused by the oxidative stress leads to chronic activation of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS), thereby increasing angiotensin II and endothelin I levels, and contributing to the development of systemic hypertension (Oyarce & Iturriaga, 2018). ROS also upregulate the production of redox-sensitive transcription factors such as nuclear factor-

kB (NF-kB), hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF1 α) and nuclear factor erythroid 2-like 2 (NF2L2) (Lévy et al., 2015). Both HIFI α and NF2L2 are suggested to provide some protection against ROS damage, whereas NF-kB is suggested to increase the inflammatory response. ROS also play a key role in comorbidities such as obesity, hyperlipidaemia and diabetes mellitus. Therefore, these conditions are exacerbated by the oxidative stress characteristic of OSA (Lévy et al., 2015).



Figure 1.3. Schematic diagram summarising the major biochemical pathways that lead to the production of free radicals and oxidative stress following hypoxic episodes (Lavie, 2015). OSA: Obstructive sleep apnoea; NADPH: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; NOS: nitric oxide synthase; O2.: superoxide anion; SOD: superoxide dismutase; NO: nitric oxide; $ONOO^{-}$: peroxynitrite; H₂O₂: hydrogen peroxide; Nrf2: nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2-like 2); Cat.: catalase; GPx: glutathione peroxidase; DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid.

1.2.2 Sleep Fragmentation

Another consequence of OSA is sleep fragmentation, which can be broadly defined as the occurrence of numerous brief interruptive arousals during a sleep cycle following termination of an apnoea or hypopnea (Noda et al., 2019). It is important to understand that sleep has two distinct stages: REM sleep and non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep. REM sleep is

Chapter 1

characterised by quick simultaneous ('saccadic') eye movements, high levels of cortical activity, low muscle tone and a propensity for vivid, emotionally charged narrative dreams (Dempsey et al., 2010). NREM sleep is known for its dreamless sleep stages and jerky eye movements (Hong et al., 2018). Brain waves consist of different dominant EEG frequencies "(Delta: up to 4 Hz, Theta: 4-8 Hz, Alpha: 8 -15 Hz, Beta: 15-32 Hz, and Gamma: \geq 32 Hz), depending on the NREM sleep stages and REM sleep stage.

According to the sleep scoring rules established by the AASM (Berry, Brooks, et al., 2012) there are three stages of NREM sleep and one stage of REM sleep. It is important to note that earlier guidelines referred to four stages of NREM sleep (Hori et al., 2001), but the scoring system was changed in 2012. In NREM sleep 1, the dominant frequency is 4–7 Hz (theta waves), and this stage is characterised by drowsiness with slow rolling eye movements. NREM 2 sleep is deeper sleep and is characterised by the appearance of 'spindles' and 'K-complexes', which are spikes of 11–16 Hz; the eyes stop moving in this stage. In NREM sleep 3, the dominant frequency decreases to 0.5–3 Hz (delta waves). Stage 3 of NREM sleep is also known as slow-wave sleep (SWS) and is the stage when human growth hormone is released (boosting restorative biological processes), breathing and metabolic functions slow, and mentation (thinking) and muscular activity are limited. During REM sleep all skeletal muscles are paralysed (atonic), except for the eye muscles and the muscles involved in breathing. In this stage the EEG pattern resembles the frequency ranges seen during wakefulness. Atonia of the tongue and throat muscles in REM sleep increases the probability of apnoeic events occurring during this stage (Carley & Farabi, 2016).

In a given sleep period, the stages alternate cyclically, progressing through NREM sleep stages 1–3 and then into REM sleep (Dijk, 2009). A typical overnight sleep consists of several sleep cycles, where the initial sleep cycle has a duration of 70–100 minutes and later cycles last 90–

8

Chapter 1

120 minutes (Carskadon, Dement, Kryger, Roth, & Roehrs, 2005). Typical sleep architecture encompasses the following: 2–5% of the total sleep time is spent in NREM sleep stage 1, 45–55% in NREM sleep 2, 10–20% in NREM sleep 3, and 20–25% in REM sleep (Carskadon & Dement, 2005). However, in OSA, the duration of the sleep stages noticeably increases for NREM sleep 1 and 2 and decreases for NREM sleep 3 and REM sleep, as a result of sleep fragmentation (Basunia et al., 2016).

Patients whose sleep is regularly disrupted suffer numerous health consequences. Sleep fragmentation induces a stress response that is characterised by an increase in sympathetic nervous system (SNS) activity (Ekstedt, Akerstedt, & Söderström, 2004; Meerlo, Sgoifo, & Suchecki, 2008; Tiemeier, Pelzer, Jönck, Möller, & Rao, 2002), which causes transient hemodynamic, vasoconstrictive and prothrombotic processes (Irwin, Thompson, Miller, Gillin, & Ziegler, 1999). There is strong evidence for a link between the short sleep duration associated with sleep fragmentation, and cardiovascular disease (Nagai, Hoshide, & Kario, 2010). Moreover, stress hormones induced by sleep fragmentation may directly affect functionality during wakefulness, including impaired cognition and mood (Medic, Wille, & Hemels, 2017).

Sleep fragmentation can be measured by an Arousal Index that is calculated by dividing the total number of arousals by the total hours of sleep (Younes, 2017) and/or wake time after sleep onset (WASO). The WASO refers to the cumulative amount of time for which an individual stays awake after their first arousal from sleep—in other words, the amount of time the patient stays awake in the middle of the night after having initially fallen asleep and before being able to go back to sleep (Shrivastava, Jung, Saadat, Sirohi, & Crewson, 2014).

1.3 Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Diagnostic Tool—Polysomnography

PSG is the 'gold standard' for diagnosing OSA, but it is not feasible in all situations, such as in underdeveloped countries or smaller hospitals that lack the requisite equipment (Joosten, 2017). During sleep, PSG concurrently records multiple physiological signals, including heart rate, breathing and brain activity, all of which are used to diagnose OSA. PSG tests involve measurements of airflow, breathing patterns, blood oxygen levels and, in some cases, limb movements and snoring intensity (Bloch, 1997). The Apnoea–Hypopnoea Index (AHI) is the most common method used to determine OSA severity (Goyal & Johnson, 2017).

The AHI is based on the number of apnoea + hypopnea episodes per hour of sleep (Goyal & Johnson, 2017). As defined in Section 1.1, a hypopnoea partially obstructs the upper airway, while an apnoea is a complete obstruction (Shochat & Pillar, 2003). As illustrated in Table 1.1, minimal OSA is classified as less than five apnoeas or hypopneas per hour of sleep. Those diagnosed with mild OSA suffer five or more episodes but less than 15 per hour of sleep. Moderate OSA involves 15 or more episodes but less than 30 per hour of sleep, while those with severe OSA experience at least 30 episodes per hour of sleep (Mohamad & Ismail, 2011).

Classification	Events per hour (AHI)
Normal sleep	<5
Mild OSA	5–14
Moderate OSA	15–29
Severe OSA	\geq 30

Table 1.1 Classification of OSA severity based on the AHI.

OSA: obstructive sleep apnoea; AHI: apnoea-hypopnoea index.

Although the AHI is the most common way to diagnose OSA, other measures exist (Goyal & Johnson, 2017). One such measure is the Respiratory Disturbance Index (RDI) (Kapur et al., 2017), which assesses the number of apnoeas, hypopnoeas and respiratory effort-related

arousals (RERAs) that occur in the total sleep time (Goyal & Johnson, 2017). RERAs involve at least 10 seconds of increased respiratory effort that prompts arousals (arousals from a lower to a higher sleep stage), but they do not meet the criteria for an apnoea and hypopnoea. As illustrated in Table 1.2, normal sleep involves less than five of any of these events per hour of sleep. Minimal apnoea would be characterised by 5–14 episodes per hour. Mild apnoea would be characterised by 15–29 episodes, and moderate-to-severe apnoea would involve at least 30 episodes per hour of sleep (Gottlieb et al., 1999).

Table 1.2 Classification of OSA severity based on the RDI (Gottlieb et al., 1999).

Classification	Events per hour (RDI)
Normal sleep	<5
Minimal OSA	5–14
Mild OSA	15–29
Moderate-to-severe OSA	≥30

OSA: obstructive sleep apnoea; RDI: respiratory disturbance index.

A limitation of the AHI and RDI is that they focus on cessation of breathing or arousal from sleep rather than hypoxia, even though it is known that severe hypoxia in OSA is associated with elevated cardiovascular risk and increased mortality (Temirbekov, Güneş, Yazıcı, & Sayın, 2018, p. 1), metabolic disorders (Sforza & Roche, 2016) and cognitive dysfunction (Champod et al., 2013; Fowler, Taylor, & Porlier, 1987; Nair, Dayyat, et al., 2011; Nair, Ramesh, Li, Schally, & Gozal, 2013; Yaffe et al., 2011).

An index of OSA severity that takes hypoxia into consideration is the Oxygen Desaturation Index (ODI). While oximetry was previously ignored by empirical studies of OSA, recent research suggests that its diagnostic accuracy is similar to that of AHI (Fawzi, Basheer, Patel, & Sharma, 2017). Further, AHI does not provide information about the duration and depth of apnoeic episodes, whereas measures based on oximetry, such as the ODI, can provide detailed information about each episode (Temirbekov et al., 2018). ODI indicates 'the number of times per hour that oxygen desaturates by a certain percentage' (Rashid et al., 2020, p. 2). Therefore, the number does not account for the length of time an individual is desaturated; rather it shows the frequency of events that involve a particular level of desaturation. As illustrated in Table 1.3, ODI can be used to diagnose OSA severity (Rashid et al., 2020).

 Table 1.3 Classification of OSA severity based on an ODI of 4% blood oxygen

 desaturation.

Classification	Events per hour (4% ODI)
Normal sleep	<10
Potential OSA	≥10
OSA	≥15

OSA: obstructive sleep apnoea; ODI: oxygen desaturation index.

Researchers have not compared all three diagnostic measures (AHI, RDI and ODI). Instead, the literature largely focusses on comparing the sensitivity of one of these variables to PSG or comparing the relative effectiveness of two of the measures. A systematic literature review (Rashid et al., 2020) found eight studies comparing AHI with ODI findings. All eight used PSG as a reference test (Álvarez, Hornero, García, del Campo, & Zamarrón, 2007; Chiner et al., 1999; Golpe, Jiménez, Carpizo, & Cifrian, 1999; Gyulay et al., 1993; Hang et al., 2015; Lin, Yeh, Yen, Hsu, & Hang, 2009; Series, 1993; Takeda et al., 2006), rather than comparing AHI and ODI directly, because of variation in 'hypopnea scoring, different oxygen desaturation categories, and different criteria for grading OSA severity' (Rashid et al., 2020, p. 1). The review concluded that 4% ODI of \geq 15 events/hour can reliably diagnose adult OSA, whereas 4% ODI \geq 10 events/hour requires additional assessment. Additional studies are required to directly compare the three diagnostic measures of OSA to ascertain their relative benefits and advantages. However, since the AHI is considered the most accurate measure for OSA severity, it has been used in the following studies.

1.4 Screening Tools for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Severity

The increasing prevalence of OSA has created a need for rapid and effective methods of diagnosis. While PSG is the gold standard, it is very costly and time consuming because it must be conducted by trained personnel in sleep clinics (Joosten, 2017). Researchers have developed a number of questionnaires that can screen for probable OSA and facilitate diagnosis. OSA screening tools that are commonly used in sleep clinics include the Berlin questionnaire (BQ) (Netzer, Stoohs, Netzer, Clark, & Strohl, 1999), STOP questionnaire (SQ) (Chung et al., 2008), SBQ (Chung, Subramanyam, Liao, Sasaki, Shapiro, & Sun, 2012), Epworth sleepiness scale (ESS) (Johns, 1991), OSA50 (Chai-Coetzer et al., 2011) and Wisconsin sleep questionnaire (WSQ) (Young et al., 2002).

A review of 10 studies that examined OSA screening questionnaires indicated the SBQ was the most frequently used (Abrishami, Khajehdehi, & Chung, 2010). The SBQ predicts the likely severity of OSA, and its name is derived from the eight items in the questionnaire: snoring, tiredness, observed apnoea (pausing in breathing during sleep), blood pressure (BP), Body Mass Index (BMI), age, neck size and gender (Chung et al., 2008). Given that the SBQ is widely used in sleep clinics around the world, it has been translated into a number of other languages including Arabic (BaHammam et al., 2015).

A meta-analysis comparing the diagnostic accuracy of the BQ, the SBQ, the SQ and the ESS found significant variation in the four questionnaires' sensitivity and specificity (Chiu et al., 2017) (see Table 1.4). The SBQ and SQ are most sensitive for predicting mild and moderate OSA, while the SBQ, SQ and BQ have high sensitivity for severe OSA. The SBQ, SQ and BQ have high sensitivity for severe OSA. The SBQ, SQ and BQ have high sensitivity of only 60–65%. According to Chiu et al., 'sensitivity refers to the proportion of subjects with OSA who have a positive

questionnaire' and specificity 'refers to the proportion of subjects without OSA who have a negative questionnaire' (Chiu et al., 2017, p. 178).
OSA severity (events/hour)	Variables	BQ	SBQ	SQ	ESS
AHI≥5 (Mild)					
	Sensitivity (%)	76	88	87	54
	Specificity (%)	59	42	42	65
AHI ≥15 (Moderate)					
	Sensitivity (%)	77	90	89	47
	Specificity (%)	44	36	32	62
AHI ≥30 (Severe)					
	Sensitivity (%)	84	93	90	58
	Specificity (%)	38	35	28	60

Table 1.4 Sensitivity and specificity of the BQ, SBQ, SQ and ESS (table derived from Chiu et al., 2017).

OSA: obstructive sleep apnoea; AHI: Apnoea–hypopnoea index; BQ: Berlin questionnaire; SBQ: STOP-Bang questionnaire; SQ: STOP questionnaire; ESS: Epworth sleepiness scale.

Another study that compared the capacity of the BQ, SBQ and OSA50 to predict moderate-tosevere OSA found that the questionnaires' sensitivity levels were 82%, 94% and 94%, respectively, and their specificity levels were 39%, 32% and 31%, respectively (Hamilton & Chai-Coetzer, 2019). A study that examined the WSQ determined that its sensitivity and specificity were 95% and 64% respectively for OSA with an AHI of 5 or higher, and 93% and 43% for OSA with an AHI of 15 or higher (Abrishami et al., 2010). In summary, the literature suggests that all of the current OSA screening questionnaires (BQ, SBQ, STOP, ESS, OSA50, WSQ) have high sensitivity for OSA, but their specificity is relatively low. When referrals for an overnight PSG are based purely on the results of these screening questionnaires, 40–70% of individuals will be found not to have OSA, representing an inefficient use of scarce clinical resources.

1.5 Risk Factors for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

Factors associated with increased susceptibility to OSA include increased age, elevated BMI, male sex, ethnicity, smoking and comorbidities such as coronary artery disease, end-stage renal

disease, systemic hypertension and type 2 diabetes (T2D) (Pinto, Ribeiro, Cavallini, Duarte, & Freitas, 2016). In the following sections these risk factors are discussed in more detail.

1.5.1 Age

Several studies have suggested a positive relationship between age and OSA (Franklin & Lindberg, 2015). The prevalence of OSA among middle-aged males in Western societies has been estimated to be around 20%. The severity of OSA increases steadily with age, especially over the age of 60 years (Young et al., 2002). According to a systematic review of 24 studies by Senaratna et al. (2017), the severity of OSA increases with age for both males and females. Based on an AHI of 5 or higher, the prevalence of OSA has been estimated as 88% among males aged 65–69 years and 90% for males aged 60–85 years. For females in the same age groups, the prevalence of OSA has been estimated as 66% and 78%, respectively.

1.5.2 Body Mass Index

Obesity is generally measured by BMI, which is the ratio of weight in kilograms to height in metres squared. BMI reflects a person's degree of obesity: overweight individuals are defined as those with a BMI higher than 25 kg/m² and obesity is defined as a BMI over 30 kg/m² (Nuttall, 2015). BMI correlates strongly with the severity and prevalence of OSA within the general population. Approximately 45% of individuals who suffer from obesity have OSA (Romero-Corral, CaplesLopez-Jimenez, & Somers, 2010). Among adults with a BMI above 30 kg/m², the prevalence of severe OSA is 25% (Resta et al., 2001), while 40–90% of adults with morbid obesity (BMI >40 kg/m²) are likely to have severe OSA (Rajala et al., 1991; van Kralingen et al., 1999). Evidence indicates that a 10% increase in body weight is sufficient to increase the AHI by 30% (Peppard, Young, Palta, Dempsey, & Skatrud, 2000).

One study exploring the global obesity epidemic suggested that individuals in certain countries are much more likely to be overweight or obese than those in others (Chooi, Ding, & Magkos, 2019). Further, all regions in that study (the Americas, Europe, the Eastern Mediterranean, Africa, Southeast Asia, the Western Pacific) have seen an increase in the prevalence of both overweight and obese individuals within their populations. Based on the link between OSA and obesity, this also suggests a worldwide increase in the prevalence of OSA (Chooi et al., 2019).

Some studies have identified sex-based relationships between BMI and OSA severity (Huang et al., 2014). An Egyptian study of 60 males and 37 females found that, although the females had higher BMIs than their male counterparts, the males in the study had higher AHIs (Assal & Kamal, 2016). Zammit, Liddicoat, Moonsie and Makker (2010) pointed to sex differences in regional fat accumulation, which might explain the higher severity of OSA among males. This is discussed in greater detail in the following section.

1.5.3 Sex and Geography

Table 1.5 shows the prevalence of OSA by sex according to nine studies from across the world. Despite some variation in the findings, most studies found that OSA is more common in males than in females. The lowest rate reported for females was 0.9%, in Denmark (Jennum & SjØL, 1992), while the highest rate for females was 15%, in Spain (Durân, Esnaola, Rubio, & Iztueta, 2001). For males, the lowest reported rate was 1.3%, in Denmark (Jennum & SjØL, 1992) and the highest, 19%, in Spain (Durân et al., 2001).

Location	Prevalence	Age (years)	Authors
Hong Kong	4.1% males 2.1% females	30–60	Ip et al. (2004)
United States	7.2% males 2.2% females	20–100	Bixler et al. (2001)
Australia	8.5% males 4.7% female	40–65	Bearpark et al. (1993)
Denmark	1.3%–1.9% males 0.9% females	30–60	Jennum and SjØL (1992)
India	7.5% males 4.5% females	35–65	Udwadia, Doshi, Lonkar, & Singh (2004)
Saudi Arabia	4.0% males 1.8% females	30–60	Wali, Abalkhail, & Krayem (2017)
Spain	19% males 15% females	30–70	Durân et al. (2001)
South Korea	4.5% males 3.2% females	30–70	Kim et al. (2004)

Table 1.5 Estimated prevalence of obstructive sleep apnoea stratified by sex, age and country.

In a literature review on the prevalence of diagnosed OSA across multiple ethnicities (White, Indian, Chinese and Korean), Punjabi (2008) found an estimated prevalence of 3.1–4.5% in males aged 20–100, and 1.2–2.3% in females of the same age. Recent studies report similar results. For example, a study of Saudi school employees aged 30–60 years found that 4.0% of the males and 1.8% of the females had been diagnosed with OSA (Wali et al., 2017). The higher prevalence and severity of OSA in males than females (Wimms, Woehrle, Ketheeswaran, Ramanan, & Armitstead, 2016) can be partly attributed to sex differences in weight distribution. Although females are more likely to be overweight or obese than their male counterparts (James, 2004; Kapse, Patel, Mhaisekar, & Kulkarni, 2019), females tend to accumulate body fat around the waist and hips. In contrast, males tend to have greater deposits of adipose tissue around the stomach and neck region, making them more likely to experience airway obstruction and suffer from OSA (Whittle et al., 1999). Moreover, studies showed that post-menopausal females indicated higher OSA severity, and the prevalence of OSA in females

rises markedly after menopause from 47% to 67% (Jehan et al., 2015). OSA severity may increase in post-menopausal females due to weight gain after menopause (Jehan et al., 2016). However, previous findings indicated that although females are more symptomatic, they show lower apnoea–hypopnoea index scores in contrast to males. Furthermore, females show more prolonged partial upper airway obstruction and more frequently report severe insomnia as an OSA symptom (Bonsignore et al., 2019). Additionally, progesterone and oestrogen are known to enhance genioglossus contractility, counteracting the upper airway collapsibility during sleep (Hou et al., 2010; Popovic and White, 1998). However, after menopause, progesterone and oestrogen levels decrease, increasing the risk of OSA severity (Saaresranta et al., 2015).

In females, pregnancy increases the likelihood of OSA. There are two types of OSA severity in pregnancy. Women with pre-existing OSA can experience a worsening of the condition during pregnancy, while others develop OSA for the first time during their pregnancy. It was recently estimated that new-onset OSA in pregnancy affected 20% of 120 women tested, but most cases of new-onset OSA in the pregnant women were mild (Facco, Ouyang, Zee, & Grobman, 2014). Moreover, in a large general population cohort, OSA was notably linked with pregnancy hypertension, even after adjusting for pre-existing hypertension, age, obesity and smoking status (Bin, Cistulli, & Ford, 2016). Further studies confirm that CPAP treatment improves BP levels in pregnant females (Edwards, Blyton, Kirjavainen, Kesby, & Sullivan, 2000; Poyares et al., 2007). Louis et al. (2018) identified several factors that predict the likelihood of OSA during pregnancy, such as age, BMI and snoring. Additionally, Pien et al. (2014) conducted PSG studies of 105 pregnant females in their first and third trimesters. In the first trimester, 10.5% of participants had an AHI score above 5. By the third trimester, however, the percentage of participants with OSA had risen to 26.7%. This effect remained pronounced even after correcting for BMI: 8.4% of participants still had an AHI above 5 in the first trimester, and 19.7% had an AHI over 5 in the third trimester. Another potential cause of OSA

during pregnancy is the fluid accumulation in tissues as a result of hormones released from the adrenal glands, particularly if a woman develops pre-eclampsia (Chapman et al., 1998). When that fluid moves from the limbs to the neck, it can contribute to pharyngeal obstruction, which increases OSA severity (Redolfi et al., 2009).

1.5.4 Smoking

Smoking is reportedly more common among patients with OSA than in the general population (Kashyap, Hock, & Bowman, 2001). Smoking causes inflammatory oedema in the pharyngeal and bronchial walls, as well as increased mucus production, leading to a reduction in the diameter of the airways (Krishnan, Dixon-Williams, & Thornton, 2014). Research has yielded mixed findings on the association between smoking and OSA. Many Saudis smoke water pipes (shisha) or tobacco (Al Moamary et al., 2012); both are thought to be risk factors for OSA (Al Moamary et al., 2012). The overall prevalence of cigarette smoking in Saudi Arabia is 21.4%, but the rate is higher (32.5%) among males aged 25–45 years (Algabbani, Almubark, Althumiri, Alqahtani, & BinDhim, 2018). As a result of the increased burden of OSA in this population, treatment guidelines are being proposed in an attempt to mitigate the untoward effects of disease progression (Al-Hamdan, Saeed, Kutbi, Choudhry, & Nooh, 2010; Saeed et al., 2011).

Some scholars have suggested that smoking is associated with more severe OSA, and studies in Saudi Arabia have found a strong relationship between smoking and OSA severity (Alharthi, Masoodi, Alomairi, Almuntashiri, & Alfaifi, 2018; Bielicki, Trojnar, & Sobieraj, 2018). In addition, Wetter, Young, Bidwell, Badr and Palta (1994) found that patients who currently smoked were more likely to have OSA than non-smokers or former smokers. In contrast, after controlling for sex effects, a study of 3,509 OSA patients with OSA reported that, although heavy smokers had higher AHI scores than non-smokers, there was no significant relationship between cigarette smoking and OSA (Hoffstein 2002). Since males are more likely to have higher smoking rates (Gowing et al., 2015) and a greater OSA severity than females (Kim & Taranto-Montemurro, 2019), a possible explanation for these inconsistent findings is that the relationship between smoking and OSA severity is confounded by sex.

1.5.5 Comorbid Conditions that Affect the Prevalence and Severity of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

Certain genetic abnormalities, ethnic physiological characteristics and pre-existing conditions or diseases may increase the likelihood that an individual will develop OSA. For example, Down syndrome, a condition caused by the duplication of chromosome 21, is best known for causing intellectual disability, yet OSA is prevalent in approximately 40% of adults with Down syndrome (Hill, 2016). The high prevalence of OSA in this population may be attributed to physical features associated with the syndrome, such as reduced muscle tone, a flattened face and large tongue, all of which increase the risk of OSA. A similar explanation has been offered for ethnicity-related differences in the prevalence of OSA. For instance, several studies have indicated higher OSA severity among Asians than among Caucasians even after subjects were matched for BMI (Li, Kushida, Powell, Riley, & Guilleminault, 2000; Ong & Clerk, 1998), which may point to the role of craniofacial features. Lee et al. (2010) proposed that the flatter craniofacial profile of Chinese individuals increases their susceptibility to airway restriction. In another study, Lee, Chan, Grunstein and Cistulli (2009) found that even among Caucasian populations, independent of BMI, individuals with OSA are more likely to have a groupindicated shorter and retracted jaw, and a wider and flatter mid- and lower face compared with those without OSA.

Research suggests an increase in mortality rates for patients suffering from coronary artery disease (heart disease), end-stage renal disease, obesity, hypertension and/or T2D, particularly

when these conditions co-occur each other and with OSA (da Silva, Kasai, Coelho, Zatz, & Elias, 2018; Marrone, Lo Bue, Salvaggio, Dardanoni, & Insalaco, 2013). For instance, fluid retention in tissues, a common condition in patients with chronic kidney or heart disease, is also associated with the development of OSA. Patients with end-stage renal disease are more likely to suffer from OSA because renal failure increases fluid accumulation in all tissues, including those surrounding the pharynx (Abuyassin, Sharma, Ayas, & Laher, 2015). A study conducted in the 1980s found that 12 out of 29 men (41%) who underwent haemodialysis for kidney disease also reported symptoms of OSA. Eight patients on haemodialysis were randomly selected to undergo PSG; of those, six (75%) met the diagnostic criteria for OSA (Millman, Kimmel, Shore, & Wasserstein, 1985). Other studies support the link between cardiovascular disease and OSA via fluid retention (da Silva et al., 2018; Kasai, Floras, & Bradley, 2012). During the day, while the patient is standing or sitting, gravity causes excess fluid to accumulate in the legs. Once the patient is supine, this fluid redistributes throughout the body, including the upper airway, increasing the risk of OSA (White & Bradley, 2013).

Since males, daytime sleepiness and drowsiness are associated with hypertension, research points to a bidirectional relationship between OSA and hypertension that is modulated by sex, age and excessive sleep or drowsiness (Torres, Sánchez-de-la-Torre, & Barbé, 2015). As many as 35–80% of patients diagnosed with OSA may also suffer from systemic hypertension (Parati et al., 2013). However, among patients with resistant hypertension, 80% or more may also suffer from OSA (Logan et al., 2001). Recent research has confirmed a link between OSA and resistant hypertension (Walia et al., 2014). Hou et al. (2018) presented a systematic review and meta-analysis that confirmed the association between OSA and systemic and/or essential hypertension.

A major contributor to the increasing prevalence of OSA may be the increased prevalence of metabolic syndrome (Gaines, Vgontzas, Fernandez-Mendoza, & Bixler, 2018). Metabolic syndrome is characterised by obesity, insulin resistance, hypertension and dyslipidaemia (Tasali & Ip, 2008), all of which increase the risk of OSA (Gaines et al., 2018). The simultaneous occurrence of OSA and metabolic syndrome is called Syndrome Z (Hassan, 2018; Wilcox, McNamara, Collins, Grunstein, & Sullivan, 1998). In an investigation of the relationship between metabolic syndrome and OSA, McArdle, Hillman, Beilin and Watts (2007) reported that males with OSA displayed higher insulin resistance. Insulin resistance, or impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), is a precursor to type 2 diabetes (T2D). The transition from IGT to T2D may take several years, with 70% of pre-diabetic individuals eventually developing T2D (Nathan et al. 2007). Further, Brooks et al. (1994) found a 70% prevalence of OSA in a sample of overweight diabetic patients. A study exploring the empirical evidence for Syndrome Z (Nock, Li, Larkin, Patel, & Redline, 2009) suggested that the most important determining factor for the development of OSA was obesity, followed by sleep disturbance, insulin resistance, hypertension and dyslipidaemia.

1.6 Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Treatment: Continuous Positive Airway Pressure

The first-line treatment for OSA is continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP). It is usually recommended for patients who have been diagnosed with OSA, especially moderate or severe OSA (Epstein et al., 2009). The CPAP device was developed in the 1980 by Professor Colin Sullivan at the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital in Sydney. It uses an air pump connected by a hose to a face mask to pneumatically splint the airway during sleep. Pneumatic splinting prevents the throat from collapsing and the soft palate, uvula and tongue from shifting into the airway (Sullivan, Issa, Berthon-Jones, & Eves, 1981).

CPAP treatment has improved significantly since its introduction. By 1985 more than 100 patients in Sydney used CPAP at home, with machines that had been manufactured in the Hospital's workshop. The first mobile CPAP machine consisted of a bulky mask that required adhesives to be used (Sullivan et al., 1981). In 1985 Respironics (USA) began the commercial production of CPAP machines. Many patients complained of a sore throat and general dryness after CPAP use. Since then, one of the most significant advances has been the addition of a humidifier (Massie, Hart, Peralez, & Richards, 1999). Scientists have also developed an automated smart (autoset) CPAP machine that calibrates positive airway pressure based on the pressure required to overcome airway resistance (Teschler et al., 1996). Although current modern CPAP machines are digitally controlled, efficient and quiet, patients are often non-compliant for a number of reasons, including mask-related issues (60%), patient factors (25%) and/or machine-based issues (15%) (Singhal, Joshi, Singh, & Kulkarni, 2016). Many patients are not able to use the device for the recommended minimum of four hours per night (required to achieve normal levels of sleepiness and daily functionality) because of discomfort and/or because they simply forget to use the device (Singhal et al., 2016).

Patients are required to use CPAP as a long-term treatment to prevent OSA symptoms and to improve sleep quality, with effectiveness increasing with regular use. However, CPAP therapy only relieves the symptoms of OSA; it does not treat the underlying condition, and symptoms return if use is discontinued. Long-term CPAP use may reduce the sympathetic hyperactivity, hypertension, EDS, fatigue and motor vehicle accidents associated with OSA (Chotinaiwattarakul, O'Brien, Fan, & Chervin, 2009; George, 2001; Marshall et al., 2006; McArdle et al., 1999; Park & Kang, 2018).

24

1.7 Physiological and Neurocognitive Correlates of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

OSA involves low blood oxygen levels and sleep disturbances, with several consequences that occur nocturnally (e.g. increased SNS activity) and diurnally (e.g. EDS, depressive symptoms, and cognitive impairment). Section 1.8.1 describes the effects of OSA on nocturnal SNS activity, while EDS, depressive symptoms and cognitive impairments are described in Section 1.9.

1.7.1 Sympathetic Nervous System

Moderate-to-severe OSA involves frequent respiratory arrests and arousals from sleep. The body physically responds to this highly stressful situation by activating the SNS (part of the autonomic nervous system [ANS]) to prepare the body for fight or flight, as illustrated in Figure 1.4 (McCorry, 2007). This self-preservation reflex, facilitated by a surge of adrenaline, has physiological consequences such as increased heart rate, elevated BP, increased muscle tone and release of energy from glycogen stores. Simultaneously, less urgent physiological processes, such as digestion, are slowed down.

The SNS originates in the spinal cord and consists of two sets of neurons. First, the preganglionic neurons are situated between the first thoracic (T1) and the third lumbar (L3) spinal segments. Pre-ganglionic neurons project to another group of neurons called post-ganglionic neurons, which are located in a series of autonomic ganglia. These neurons connect to a respective target organ, muscles and/or glands. Pre-ganglionic neurons release a neurotransmitter called acetylcholine, which binds to specific receptors on post-ganglionic neurons that, when activated, release noradrenaline onto their local targets. Some pre-ganglionic neurons synapse directly with the adrenal medulla, which acts as a modified version

of post-ganglionic neurons (McCorry, 2007). The adrenal medulla can successfully mimic neural tissue since it shares the same embryonic origin. In response to stimulation by preganglionic neurons the adrenal medulla releases adrenaline, which is transported by the blood to target tissues and organs; adrenaline and noradrenaline bind to receptors on cells in their target organs, prompting physiological effects such as pupil dilation, increased heart rate, elevated BP and increased muscle tone (McCorry, 2007). Cortisol, also known as the stress hormone, is released by the adrenal glands upon stimulation by the SNS (D. Y. Lee, Kim, & Choi, 2015). It increases the concentration of glucose in the blood, which is an important source of energy for muscles and the brain (McCorry, 2007).



Figure 1.4 Schematic diagram of the autonomic nervous system showing how the parasympathetic and sympathetic nervous systems provide complementary innervation to the same organs (Petkar et al., 2010).

Increased SNS activity during apnoeic events is known to elevate BP (Dopp, Reichmuth, & Morgan, 2007; Lombardi, Pengo, & Parati, 2019). OSA has been documented to cause nocturnal peaks in BP as well as daytime hypertension (Wolf, Hering, & Narkiewicz, 2010). Based on the circadian rhythm, BP in normal healthy individuals is reduced by 10–20% at night compared with daytime, in a process known as 'dipping BP' (Kario, 2018). Studies have shown that OSA blunts the magnitude of this dip and increases the probability of BP not dipping (Cuspidi et al., 2019). In a study of 42 OSA patients, nocturnal BP was found to be elevated during apnoeic events (Sasaki et al., 2018), while a study of 58 patients with mild-to-severe OSA found that severe OSA is associated with increased variability in nocturnal BP (Martynowicz, Porębska, Poręba, Mazur, & Brzecka, 2016). Brief surges of SNS activity that occur during sleep in OSA are associated with nocturnal BP peaks (Crinion, Ryan, & McNicholas, 2017). IH and sleep fragmentation independently contribute to increased SNS activity and high BP (Chouchou et al., 2013; Weiss, Tamisier, & Liu, 2015).

Many methods can be used to measure SNS activity. A common method in research and clinical studies is heart rate variability (HRV). HRV represents the physiological phenomenon of heartbeat periodicity variation, as illustrated in Figure 1.5. The duration between successive heartbeats fluctuates when a person is relaxed, but as they become stressed their heartbeat becomes more regular (K. Li, Rüdiger, & Ziemssen, 2019). Spectral analysis of HRV is a non-invasive and easy-to-perform method for evaluating cardiac autonomic activity (Draghici & Taylor, 2016). The amount of variability in the duration between heartbeats can be used to estimate the relative activities of the SNS and parasympathetic nervous system (PNS), with this variability being measured on two time scales: 2.5–6.7 seconds (high frequency [HF] variability) and 6.7–25 seconds (low frequency [LF] variability). By convention, these time scales are referred to as HF power (0.15–0.40 Hz), reflecting modulation of vagal tone (part of the PNS), and low frequency (LF) power (0.04–0.15 Hz), reflecting sympathetic activity (Burr,

2007). However, LF HRV can also be influenced by PNS activity (Goldstein, Bentho, Park, & Sharabi, 2011; Sassi et al., 2015), and HF HRV can be influenced by individual differences such as patterns of breathing and sleeping posture (Akselrod, 1995; Hirsch & Bishop, 1981; Malpas, 2002; Taylor, Carr, Myers, & Eckberg, 1998). Pagani et al. (1984) suggested that the LF/HF ratio may provide a useful index of sympatho-vagal balance, and this ratio has been widely adopted since, despite some authors questioning its reliability (e.g. Shaffer & Ginsberg, 2017).



Figure 1.5 Heart rate variability: variation in the duration between heartbeats (Cornforth, Tarvainen, & Jelinek, 2014). RR interval: R wave to R wave interval; Sec: second.

HRV analysis has shown that patients with moderate-to-severe OSA have a heightened cardiac sympathetic modulation relative to those with mild OSA and control subjects, as indicated by an elevated LF/HF ratio during the day and during sleep (Sequeira, Bandeira, & Azevedo, 2019). Treatment of OSA with CPAP has been found to reduce the sympathetic modulation of the heartbeat (Bonsignore et al., 2006), while the use of CPAP over a longer period (e.g. >2 years of treatment) augments the coupling between parasympathetic modulation and N3 sleep (Jurysta et al., 2013).

The measurement of HRV during sleep in OSA patients is complicated by various factors that can add biological noise to the signals (Wang et al., 2008). For example, up to 63% of OSA patients have periodic leg movements that are likely to elevate the HRV (Budhiraja et al., 2020; Sasai, Matsuura, & Inoue, 2013). It is also evident that OSA influences the regular pattern of breathing, which in turn, can influence rhythmic oscillations in HRV. However, Malliani (2006) indicated that the HRV LF/HF ratio is the best measure of sympathy-vagal balance. This point will be discussed in detail in the relevant chapters below.

Pulse wave amplitude (PWA) is a signal waveform obtained from infrared finger plethysmography. PWA is a measure of blood flow through the finger at any given moment (Burch, 1954), and the signal consists of a series of spikes, each corresponding to a single heartbeat. The magnitude of the signal (i.e. from minimal to maximal flow at each heartbeat) is influenced by the moment-to-moment activity of the SNS. Increased sympathetic tone causes vasoconstriction in the small vessels of the finger (Catcheside et al., 2002) and this is observed as a reduction in the amplitude of the PWA signal (Figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6 Pulse wave amplitude (PWA) trace obtained from finger plethysmography illustrating three temporary reductions in blood flow due to activation of the SNS (Vat et al., 2015). Note: each spike corresponds to a heartbeat.

Variation in PWA appears to be directly linked to the sympathetic outflow to the vessels of the finger and can be enhanced by the administration of norepinephrine and prevented by the administration of sympathetic nerve blockers such as bupivacaine (Hirotsu et al., 2020). During

sleep, cortical arousals induced by apnoeas and hypopneas are accompanied by PWA drops, indicating that these events are associated with increased activation of the SNS (Adler et al., 2013). During sleep, there is a normal fluctuation in the amplitude of the PWA signal. It was originally proposed that a PWA drop of 20% represents SNS activation (Delessert et al., 2010), but it is now accepted that an average 30% reduction is a more reliable indicator (Bosi et al., 2018; Haba-Rubio et al., 2005; Hirotsu et al., 2020; Vat et al., 2015).

Since activation of the SNS leads to constriction of peripheral arteries, elevation in BP can indicate elevation in SNS activity. Nocturnal BP monitoring through the use of a 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitor (ABPM) has been used in some studies of OSA, but it is uncomfortable and disturbs the normal sleep pattern, artificially inflating BP levels (Agarwal & Light, 2010). Another problem is that ABPM measures BP intermittently at predefined intervals (approximately every 15–30 minutes) which can lead to BP overpass recording. Since BP peaks induced by OSA events can occur at any time and can be quite brief, limiting measurement of BP to once every 15–30 minutes will miss most events.

A few recent studies have used a non-invasive and cuff-less method, referred to as pulse transit time (PTT), which compares signals from finger photoplethysmography (PPG) and electrocardiography (ECG) to estimate BP without disturbing the patient's sleep (Gesche, Grosskurth, Küchler, & Patzak, 2012). PTT is the time elapsed between the EEG R-peak recorded above the heart and the corresponding peak recorded in the finger during a single cardiac cycle, the duration of which varies systematically as a function of BP (see Figure 1.7) (Ding, Yan, Karlen, Zhang, & Tsang, 2020). PTT, as a new method for measuring BP non-invasively, has been criticised on the basis of some study findings. For example, Krisai et al. (2019) reported a significant difference between 24-hour BP measured via cuff-based BP and PTT. Specifically, PTT indicated a higher average (+5.0 mmHg) systolic blood pressure (SBP)

and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) than cuff-based BP. Another study reported that while BP as measured by PTT (SOMNOtouch non-invasive BP) was an average of 4 mmHg higher than that measured by cuff-based BP, the measures were highly correlated throughout the 24-hour period (Zachwieja et al., 2020). Other studies have found good agreement between the two methods. For instance, measurements obtained through nocturnal BP recording via the PTT method were strongly correlated with BP measured directly via the cuff-based BP device (Gesche et al., 2012; Hennig et al., 2012; Wong, Poon, & Zhang, 2009), supporting the accuracy of PTT as a continuous measure of BP. Until now it has not been practicable to continuously measure BP during sleep (Almeneessier et al., 2020; Gehring, Gesche, Drewniok, Küchler, & Patzak, 2018). By making it possible to record continuous BP throughout a PSG study, the PTT method can improve our knowledge about fluctuations in nocturnal BP in OSA patients and demonstrate whether transient spikes in BP are associated with OSA severity.



Figure 1.7 Pulse transit time (PTT) is the time elapsed between the EEG R-peak recorded above the heart and the corresponding peak recorded in the finger during a single cardiac cycle (Ding et al., 2020). PPG: photoplethysmography; ECG: electrocardiogram.

1.8 Daytime Dysfunction in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

OSA patients frequently display EDS, mood disturbance (depressive symptoms) and cognitive impairment. The following sections discuss these symptoms.

1.8.1 Excessive Daytime Sleepiness in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

EDS is characterized by a difficulty in staying awake and a lack of energy during waking hours, even after prolonged sleep. EDS in OSA patients leads to decreased alertness and vigilance and is a common cause of traffic and workplace accidents (Garbarino et al., 2018; Y. Li et al., 2017). However, not all people with OSA have EDS, even among those with severe OSA (Durân et al., 2001). A study of more than 6,000 participants (≥5 AHI) recruited from 17 European countries and Israel (Saaresranta et al., 2016) compared OSA patients with comorbid EDS and/or insomnia (defined as difficulty initiating or maintaining sleep). The study found that 44.4% of the cohort suffered from EDS and these individuals were more likely to have severe OSA, yet those with comorbid insomnia were more likely to have psychiatric comorbidities. According to a recent review conducted by Garbarino et al. (2018), there is no consensus regarding whether people with EDS represent a distinct sub-group. In contrast to this conclusion, a Chinese study (Shao et al., 2019) reported that OSA patients with EDS show increased levels of AHI, Arousal Index, oxygen desaturation <90%, obesity and comorbidity. Similarly, Bixler et al. (2005) claimed that several factors are independently linked to EDS in OSA: BMI, age, typical sleep duration, diabetes, smoking history, depression and AHI. Mediano et al. (2007) found that OSA patients with EDS have a shorter sleep latency, increased sleep deficiency and lower nocturnal oxygenation than those without EDS.

EDS has become a primary criterion in the initial diagnosis of OSA (Ramos et al., 2017) and is also used as an indicator of patient compliance with CPAP. According to the meta-analysis of Patel, White, Malhotra, Stanchina and Ayas (2003), CPAP treatment significantly decreases the mean of ESS scores, with the largest differences being observed in patients with moderate and severe OSA compared with those with mild OSA. Additionally, Saaresranta et al. (2016) concluded that after adjusting for age, sex, BMI and sleep apnoea severity, EDS improved with

longer CPAP adherence. A substantial enhancement of ESS scores was found after one month of CPAP use by patients with moderate and severe OSA (Goel, Talwar, & Jain, 2015). Tomfohr, Ancoli-Israel, Loredo and Dimsdale (2011) pointed out that CPAP use did not generally improve ESS scores in patients who did not have EDS to begin with, whereas patients with EDS showed great improvement in ESS scores after CPAP use. However, Antic et al. (2011) stated that because of the coexistence of other factors in OSA, such as depression and sedating medication, even optimum CPAP adherence may not improve EDS. Another important finding is that OSA patients with EDS appear to benefit from CPAP use via decreases in their risk of cardiovascular disease, insulin resistance, hypertension and endothelial dysfunction, whereas such benefits are not as evident for OSA patients without EDS (Garbarino et al., 2018). When viewed together, the preceding observations indicate that EDS has important implications for patient health and clinical assessment.

1.8.2 Depressive Symptoms

Depressive symptoms are common in breathing-related disorders. An estimated 46% of breathing-related sleep-disordered patients show comorbidity for depressive symptoms (Rezaeitalab, Moharrari, Saberi, Asadpour, & Rezaeetalab, 2014). It is notable that while OSA patients are usually screened for depressive symptoms, patients with depressive symptoms are rarely screened for OSA. Given this high comorbidity rate, it has been recommended that when a person is diagnosed with either OSA or a clinical mood disturbance, the other condition should be investigated, since there may be an underlying pathological relationship uniting the two conditions (Ejaz, Khawaja, Bhatia, & Hurwitz, 2011).

Studies have indicated an association between depressive symptoms and OSA severity (Aloia et al., 2005; Edwards et al., 2015). OSA patients with serious depressive symptoms may have more severe OSA (Harris, Glozier, Ratnavadivel, & Grunstein, 2009). Patients with severe

OSA experience a decrease in their quality of life, which is significantly correlated with symptoms of depression (Akashiba et al., 2002). Research also showed links between depressive symptoms and EDS in OSA patients (Ishman, Cavey, Mettel, & Gourin, 2010). Therefore, depressive symptoms should be investigated more systematically in patients with OSA because they are likely to have far-reaching consequences in terms of treatment compliance, and emotional and cognitive functioning.

The overlap of symptoms between depression and OSA have been well studied. Research has shown that insomnia, fatigue, sleep disturbance and psychomotor retardation are shared by depression and OSA (Bucks et al., 2018; Jehan et al., 2017). Both of these conditions can disguise each other due to the significant symptom similarity (Harris et al., 2009). Nevertheless, Nanthakumar et al. (2016) suggested that to reduce the likelihood of overestimating the prevalence of depression in OSA, depression questionnaires should have a low level of symptom overlap between OSA and depression and a higher proportion of anhedonia symptoms.

CPAP treatment can mitigate some of the mood disturbances that arise secondarily to OSA (B. -H Yu, Ancoli-Israel, & Dimsdale, 1999). Sleep disturbance in OSA promotes dysfunctional mood states that can be reversed once sleep quality is improved (Derderian, Bridenbaugh, & Rajagopal, 1988). Anger and vigour, as measured by the Profile of Mood States (Biehl & Landauer, 1975), have been found to be related to sleep variables in sleep apnoea patients (Bardwell, Berry, Ancoli-Israel, & Dimsdale, 1999). A meta-analysis of 20 randomised trials, including 4,255 participants, confirmed a limited benefit of CPAP in reducing depression symptoms in OSA patients with cardiovascular disease, independently of improvements in sleepiness (Zheng et al., 2019). Depressive symptoms frequently persist after CPAP treatment (Harris et al., 2009). Studies have indicated that Modafinil (a common wake-promoting

pharmaceutical agent) is effective in ameliorating residual sleepiness in CPAP-treated OSA (Bittencourt et al., 2008; Chapman et al., 2014), and simultaneously improves the depressive symptoms (Konuk, Atasoy, Atik, & Akay, 2006). Bucks et al. (2018) compared the effects of CPAP treatment on overlapping depressive symptoms (such as insomnia, lethargy, impaired concentration and psychomotor retardation) and non-overlapping depressive symptoms (such as negative affect, anhedonia and depressive cognition). The study concluded that even though both overlapping and non-overlapping depressive symptoms improved with CPAP treatment, greater and faster reduction was observed in overlapping depressive symptoms. Thus, non-overlapping depressive symptoms might be behind the persistence of depression after CPAP treatment, as some studies have observed.

1.8.3 Cognitive Dysfunction in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

OSA has been linked to deficits in a variety of cognitive domains. Since the present study examined three cognitive domains (sustained attention and reaction time [RT]; visuospatial ability; and autobiographical memory), the following sections are limited to a discussion of these domains.

1.8.3.1 Visuospatial Function

'Visuospatial function' refers to the capacity to 'generate, retain, retrieve, and transform or manipulate mental models of a visual and spatial nature' (Lohman, 1979, p. 126). Visuospatial ability influences several cognitive functions, including spatial ability, spatial cognition, spatial perception, visual object processing and visual acuity (Chapman, Hagen, & Gallagher, 2016). Using these functions, people can estimate the distance between two objects, which is essential for daily functions such as driving or parking a car. Additionally, visuospatial skills are vital for imagining a place described by someone else. Researchers have also indicated that visuospatial functions play an important role in mathematics skills (Sella, Sader, Lolliot, &

Cohen Kadosh, 2016). Hence, these functions might be negatively affected by OSA through visuospatial dysfunction. Although few studies have examined the visuospatial function of OSA patients, the limited evidence indicates that visuospatial function is compromised. For example, a meta-analysis found strong evidence for a significant role of OSA in visuospatial memory deficits (Wallace & Bucks, 2013). Moreover, after adjusting for age, sex and education, OSA patients revealed impaired visuospatial ability compared with non-OSA patients (D'Rozario et al., 2018). Studies have reported notable improvements in visuospatial performance among OSA patients after CPAP treatment. For instance, one study found that OSA patients had poor visuospatial learning, but after CPAP treatment for 15 days, their performance had improved to normal levels (Ferini-Strambi et al., 2003). Similarly, after 3 months of CPAP compliance, OSA patients in one study showed a significant improvement in visuospatial memory (Aloia et al., 2003). A recent meta-analysis concluded that similar visuospatial deficits are not found in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or insomnia, and the reason for the unique impairment of visuospatial ability in OSA is unknown (Olaithe, Bucks, Hillman, & Eastwood, 2018).

The present study measured visuospatial function using the Austin maze (AM) (Milner, 1965). Early studies reported the AM to measure frontal lobe function and working memory (Darby & Walsh, 2005; Milner, 1965), but more recent studies have shown it to be insensitive to deficits in executive function and working memory. Instead, the AM is now considered to be a test of visuospatial function, which is affected by damage to the right medial temporal lobe (Hocking et al., 2013), a site known to be involved in visuospatial function (Milner, Johnsrude, & Crane, 1997). Early studies suggested that the first few trials on the AM are reliant on spatial ability in respect of orientation to the task, whereas last trials are based on visuospatial learning to consolidate memory for path details (Crowe et al., 1999). These authors tested a large cohort of healthy controls using a battery of neuropsychological tests to assess which cognitive

abilities were being measured by the AM. They reported a strong relationship between AM performance, visuospatial ability and visuospatial memory but did not find an association between AM performance and executive function or working memory tests, leading them to question the utility of the task for identifying frontal lobe dysfunction Crowe et al. (1999). Later, Stolwyk, Lee, McKay and Ponsford (2013) used a battery of cognitive tests to demonstrate that the AM is mainly linked to visuospatial ability and visuospatial memory and that no executive measures such as planning, working memory or error utilisation, contribute prominently to performance on the AM. Thus, the AM is now regarded as a test of visuospatial function.

1.8.3.2 Sustained Attention/Reaction Time

Deficits in attention and vigilance are a feature of OSA (Beebe, Groesz, Wells, Nichols, & McGee, 2003; Bucks, Olaithe, & Eastwood, 2013; Canessa et al., 2011; D'Rozario et al., 2018; Gagnon et al., 2014; Luz et al., 2016; Simões, Padilla, Bezerra, & Schmidt, 2018; Tanno et al., 2017). Research has indicated that individuals suffering from OSA have greater difficulty in sustaining attention than do their healthy counterparts (Luz et al., 2016), as evidenced by their slower RT (Ayalon, Ancolie-Israel & Drummond, et al., 2009; Luz et al., 2016) and rate of inaccuracy in cognitive testing (Mazza et al., 2005; Sforza, 2012). Additionally, the effects of OSA on attention have been reported to differ, depending on the type of attentional subdomain and performance (e.g. accuracy *v*. speed) being measured (Luz et al., 2016; Mazza et al., 2005; Sforza, 2012).

The present study used the psychomotor vigilance test (PVT), which examines sustained attention and RT (Basner & Dinges, 2011; Basner, Mollicone, & Dinges, 2011). Patients with moderate-to-severe OSA have been found to make more errors and have longer RTs on the PVT than healthy controls (Basner et al., 2011; Kim, Dinges, & Young, 2007). This is

consistent with reports that poor PVT performance is most evident in severe OSA (AHI \geq 30) (Arnardottir et al., 2016; Ye, Pien, Ratcliffe, & Weaver, 2009). Slow RTs have been linked to sleep deprivation and short sleep duration (Pack et al., 2006), while other studies have reported that nocturnal hypoxaemia is associated with poor PVT performance (Bedard, Montplaisir, Richer, & Malo, 1991; Tanno et al., 2017). A recent study of 743 OSA patients by Kainulainen et al. (2020) concluded that hypoxaemia, but not OSA severity (AHI) or sleep fragmentation, is significantly linked to an increased risk of impaired PVT performance. In terms of CPAP treatment, several studies have observed notable improvements in the vigilance measured by the PVT following 3 months of CPAP use (Bakker, Campbell, & Neill, 2010; Ye et al., 2009).

1.8.3.3 Autobiographical Memory (Episodic and Semantic Memories)

Autobiographical memory is described as memory for specific events in a person's life (Gregory, 2011) and is generally divided into two categories: personal semantic information and personal episodic information. Personal semantic information can be described as a sense of knowing or familiarity with one's self, including facts about birth, family or one's past. Personal episodic information includes specific events a person has experienced throughout their past and includes greater detail and specific experiences (Holland & Kensinger, 2010). Both categories of autobiographical memory significantly affect a person's sense of identity (Wilson & Ross, 2003). Typically, individuals with poor autobiographical memory describe their recollections in very general terms without providing specific details (e.g. dates, names, places). This is referred to as 'over-general' memory.

The literature on the association between OSA and autobiographical memory is relatively limited. However, several studies have found that OSA involves deficits in autobiographical memory. In one of the first studies, Mackinger and Svaldi (2004) proposed that autobiographical memory is sensitive to the cognitive dimensions of depression in OSA. In support of Mackinger and Svaldi's findings, V. V. Lee et al. (2016) compared 21 patients with OSA and comorbid depression with 17 OSA patients without depression and 20 healthy controls. The study concluded that the patients with OSA had higher level of over-general recall compared with the control group, but depressive symptoms were not found to affect autobiographical memory. In a later study by the same group (Delhikar et al., 2019), 44 OSA patients were compared with 44 age-matched controls in terms of semantic and episodic memories; 44 OSA patients were also compared with 37 controls in terms of over-general memory recall. The study reported that OSA patients showed weak semantic recall of early adult life and more over-general autobiographical memories. In contrast to their earlier study, poor semantic recall was found to be strongly associated with depressive symptoms.

The neurological bases for these deficits in autobiographical memory are unclear. However, it seems relevant that the volume of the hippocampus is reduced in moderate-to-severe OSA compared with in healthy controls (Bucks et al., 2013; Lal, Strange, & Bachman, 2012; Owen, BenediktsdÓttir, Gislason, & Robinson, 2019). Since this region of the brain is involved in the consolidation and retrieval of memories, the reduced hippocampal volume in OSA might contribute to the impairments observed in autobiographical memory.

1.9 Potential Mechanisms of Cognitive Dysfunction in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

Many studies have shown that OSA is associated with significant cognitive impairment and have speculated on the possible mechanisms contributing to the dysfunction. The two main factors that are believed to play a role are IH and sleep fragmentation; however other factors, such as depression and nocturnal SNS over-activation may also play a role. The following sections discuss the evidence implicating these factors.

1.9.1 Intermittent Hypoxia

It has been known for many decades that IH is an important contributor to the cognitive impairments observed in OSA (for a review, see Caporale et al., 2020). For example, Findley et al. (1986) reported that sleep apnoea with chronic hypoxia might involve more severe cognitive impairment than sleep apnoea without hypoxia. Naëgelé et al. (1995) found that IH is associated with deficits in psychomotor performance in OSA, while Bedard, Montplaisir, Malo, Richer and Rouleau (1993) showed that planning abilities and manual dexterity (psychomotor performance) are strongly associated with the severity of nocturnal hypoxia. In support of these findings, Hoth, Zimmerman, Meschede, Arnedt and Aloia (2013) highlighted that memory recall was poorer in a high hypoxia group than in a low hypoxia group. Moreover, a functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study Macey et al. (2008) indicated that IH in OSA causes brain structural changes that are linked to the limbic system, pons, frontal, temporal and parietal cortices. These structural changes are presumed to underpin cognitive impairment. However, Olaithe et al. (2015) found no relationship between IH using mean and lowest SpO2 and attention, long- and short-term memory or executive functions. These contrasting findings might be explained by the studies' different IH measures. Chapter 3 will extensively discuss and confirm the role of IH in cognitive dysfunction.

Some studies have independently examined the effects of continuous hypoxia on cognitive function among people who live at high altitude. For instance, de Aquino Lemos et al. (2012) confirmed that hypoxia was associated with deficits in attention, the visual component of working memory and processing speed among highlander people. However, since people who live at high altitude are more likely to experience sleep fragmentation and increased AHI (Latshang et al., 2013), the findings of de Aquino Lemos et al. (2012) may be confounded by sleep fragmentation, which can also induce cognitive impairment.

1.9.2 Sleep Fragmentation

Sleep fragmentation is thought to cause cognitive impairment in OSA patients through disruption of the sleep/wake cycle (Martin, Engleman, Deary, & Douglas, 1996; Otero, Figueredo, Riveros-Rivera, & Hidalgo, 2019). Experimental studies in healthy individuals have found that sleep fragmentation results in cognitive impairment. For instance, a group that was exposed to a high amount of sleep fragmentation showed poorer cognitive function compared with a group that did not experience sleep fragmentation (Ferri et al., 2010). In addition, in research using an animal model, M. Lee et al. (2016) noted memory deficits and attributed these to an impaired ability to cycle through all phases of sleep required for the memory consolidation process. In their review, Rauchs, Desgranges, Foret and Eustache (2005) confirmed that episodic and semantic memories are strengthened by deep sleep stages; OSA patients can reduce the duration of deep sleep, leading to deficits in autobiographical memory. One night of sleep fragmentation in healthy participants can impair sustained attention during the daytime (Martin et al., 1996). An fMRI study (Ayalon, Ancole-Israel, Aka, et al. 2009) found that OSA patients performing the go/no-go task had decreased brain activation relative to control participants, particularly in the prefrontal and parietal regions involved in attention. The study showed that a loss in attentive function in OSA patients was caused by sleepiness resulting from sleep fragmentation. These results indicate an independent role for sleep fragmentation in cognitive impairment in OSA, even when total sleep time is not reduced.

There is a solid body of evidence indicating that hypoxia and sleep fragmentation can induce cognitive impairment in OSA patients (Bucks et al., 2013; Canessa et al., 2011; Tamilarasan et al., 2019; Verstraeten, 2007). However, hypoxia and sleep fragmentation do not fully account for the cognitive impairment observed in OSA patients, suggesting that additional

factors may contribute to this impairment. Limited evidence, reviewed in the following sections, suggests that two other factors may also contribute to cognitive impairment in OSA.

1.9.3 Depressive Symptoms

As discussed in Section 1.9.2, depressive symptoms are very common in people with OSA. While it is likely that the nightly interruption to sleep and IH contribute to this depression, the severity of depressive symptoms is not closely linked to the severity of OSA (Bjorvatn, Rajakulendren, Lehmann, & Pallesen, 2018), and such symptoms only improve marginally following CPAP treatment (Zheng et al., 2019). Thus, it is possible that a component of the depressive symptoms is attributable to other factors.

Diminished concentration, increased indecisiveness and visuospatial dysfunction are prevalent among depressive patients without OSA (McIntyre et al., 2013). There is also a connection between memory and depression, with a lower specificity of autobiographical memory being associated with depression (Kleim & Ehlers, 2008). Although there have been few studies on OSA in regard to depressive symptoms and cognitive dysfunction, the literature suggests an association between autobiographical memory and depression (Mackinger & Svaldi, 2004). As noted above, Delhikar et al. (2019) found that autobiographical memory impairment in OSA patients is related to depressive symptoms. R. L. Cross et al. (2008) pointed out that OSA patients with depressive symptoms showed more neural injuries in several brain regions including, frontal cortices, temporal cortex, amygdala, and hippocampus than OSA patients without depressive symptoms. These observations suggest that depression may intensify the brain damage induced by OSA, as well as causing injury in different regions known to be associated with depression. The findings reviewed above indicate a need for further investigations into the possibility that depressive symptoms contribute to cognitive dysfunction in OSA, independently of hypoxia and sleep fragmentation.

1.9.4 Nocturnal Sympathetic Nervous System Over-activity

Another factor that may contribute to cognitive dysfunction in OSA is over-activation of the SNS, which may also be related to hypoxia resulting from apnoea events (Sforza & Roche, 2016). SNS over-activity leads to increased BP, elevated stress hormone levels (cortisol) and elevated blood glucose levels. These factors can directly lead to brain injury and cognitive impairment. SNS over-activity has detrimental impacts on attention, memory and visuospatial processes, and is sometimes used as an indicator of probable cognitive impairment (Knight, Giuliano, Shank, Clarke, & Almeida, 2020). SNS over-activity, as measured by HRV, has been associated with white matter lesions in patients with cognitive impairment (Galluzzi et al., 2009). Poor visuospatial performance has been linked to HRV, after adjustment of demographic, clinical and behavioural confounding variables (Frewen et al., 2013). Acute hyperglycaemia (increased blood sugar level) is another outcome of SNS over-activity that has been associated with mild cognitive dysfunction (Cox et al., 2005), while clinical studies have found that elevated blood cortisol is associated with poorer overall cognitive functioning, as well as poorer episodic memory, spatial memory and processing speed (Ouanes & Popp, 2019). Only one study has investigated the association between nocturnal SNS overactivity and cognitive performance in OSA (Idiaquez et al., 2014). The study was conducted on 58 males, and SNS activity was measured by LF/HF ratio. The study did not find any associations between SNS activity and cognitive performance. These negative findings may be attributed to several weaknesses, such as including only male participants, which may lead to biased results. Additionally, as co-founders, depression, age and smoking status are well known to have direct effects on cognitive performance, which was not controlled for in this study.

High BP is associated with disruption to the structure and functioning of the cerebral blood vessels (Pires, Dams Ramos, Matin, & Dorrance, 2013); the associated microbleeds can damage the brain's white matter, which plays a crucial role in cognitive functioning (Iadecola et al., 2016). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies have concluded that higher BP predicts more severe ischemic white matter lesions and lower brain tissue volume (Korf, White, Scheltens, & Launer, 2004; Strassburger et al., 1997; Wiseman, Saxby, Burton, Ford, & O'Brien, 2004), with similar effects on brain structure in both humans and animals. In free hypertensive rats, brain tissue volume and cortical thickness were found to be 11–25% lower than in control rats (Tajima et al., 1993). High BP can also lead to brain atrophy and brain structure change through stopping cerebral blood flow and compromising the integrity of blood-cerebrospinal fluid and the blood-brain barrier. These damages may curtail nutrient delivery to brain tissue, resulting in the death of cells (Al-Sarraf & Philip, 2003; Gesztelyi et al., 1993). A higher resting BP is associated with a higher risk of cognitive decline in people without dementia or stroke (Forte et al., 2019).

All of the indices of SNS over-activity have been shown to be associated with cognitive impairment in people without OSA, yet very few studies have investigated the association between nocturnal over-activity of the SNS and cognitive dysfunction in OSA. One study examined the role of nocturnal over-activity of the SNS in cognitive impairment in OSA and found no relationship between the two factors (Idiaquez, Santos, Santin, Del Rio, & Iturriaga, 2014). However, that study included only males and did not control for confounding variables.

SNS over-activity also involves elevated BP. Cognitive impairment associated with OSA may result from overnight spikes in BP and prolonged daytime hypertension. A review Mansukhani,

Kolla and Somers (2019) concluded that systemic hypertension is strongly associated with cognitive dysfunction in OSA patients. Supporting the idea that elevated BP in OSA patients may cause brain pathology, Borges et al. (2013) reported that OSA patients without hypertension show no cognitive decline. However, as there is no direct evidence that abnormal nocturnal BP plays a role in cognitive impairment in OSA, further research on this issue is needed.

1.10 Obstructive Sleep Apnoea in Saudi Arabia

The present study examines a cohort of patients recruited through a sleep laboratory at a hospital in Saudi Arabia. Saudis have an elevated risk of OSA due to high obesity rates. Saudi Arabia has been classified as the world's 'fifteenth most obese country, with an overall obesity rate of 33.7%' (Alqarni, 2016, p. 3). This trend in Saudi Arabia may be the result of economic growth and the adoption of a more Westernised lifestyle (Vats, Mahboub, Al Hariri, Al Zaabi, & Vats, 2016). Increased adoption of Western dietary and lifestyle habits, coupled with weather conditions that encourage a sedentary lifestyle, and increased urbanisation, may facilitate the increasing prevalence of obesity, along with the resulting increase in metabolic syndrome and OSA (Vats et al., 2016).

A cross-sectional study by Alshehri et al. (2019) explored the association between obesity and OSA prevalence in patients referred to a sleep centre in Saudi Arabia. The participants were 803 patients who underwent PSG testing between 2012 and 2017. More were male (56.5%), they had a mean age of 45.9 years and 70.0% were obese. The study found that 74.8% of the participants had OSA; males had significantly higher AHIs and a higher prevalence of OSA than their female counterparts. These findings suggest that obesity exacerbates OSA severity among Saudis.

Wali et al. (2017) conducted a study of 2682 school employees in Saudi Arabia, among 346 individuals selected for PSG studies the study found a significantly higher prevalence of OSA in male (4.0%) than female (1.8%) participants. Further, males aged 50 years and older had a higher prevalence of OSA than their female counterparts. Finally, a BMI \geq 30 kg/m² (obese) and a history of hypertension were identified as significant risk factors for OSA.

A survey of Saudi medical students' knowledge of OSA revealed that they had little knowledge of this condition, implying that it receives little attention in medical school curricula (Almohaya et al., 2013). Another study found that the general population in Saudi Arabia lacked knowledge of OSA. Participants were surveyed on OSA symptoms, risk factors, associated complications and methods of treatment; 80.7% had a low level of knowledge about OSA (Almutairi, 2019). In terms of OSA characteristics in the Saudi regions, no prominent differences between the studies' findings exist (Wali et al.; Alshehri et al., 2019; Alruwaili et al., 2015; Almutairi, 201). Nonetheless, conducting a systematic review is required to confirm OSA characteristics in the Saudi regions.

1.10.1 Pre-screening Tools for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea in Saudi Arabia

As discussed in Section 1.4, several questionnaires can be used to pre-screen patients for possible OSA (Prasad et al., 2017), including the BQ, SBQ, ESS and WSQ (Chiu et al., 2017; Hamilton & Chai-Coetzer, 2019; Prasad et al., 2017). Systematic reviews and meta-analysis studies have concluded that the SBQ has the highest methodological quality among these prescreening questionnaires (Amra, Rahmati, Soltaninejad, & Feizi, 2018; Chiu et al., 2017; Nagappa et al., 2015).

As stated earlier, the SBQ is sensitive for detecting mild, moderate and severe OSA (Amra et al., 2018), and is easy to administer (Nagappa et al., 2015). The SBQ has been translated into Arabic; this version was reported to have high sensitivity but low specificity (BaHammam et

al., 2015), consistent with previous studies of other versions of the SBQ. The Arabic SBQ has been used in only one other study (Alharthi et al., 2018), which did not comment on the utility of SBQ for predicting OSA severity (Table 1.6). As further studies use the Arabic SBQ, we may learn more about the utility of this version as a screening tool for OSA.

 Table 1.6 Studies that have used OSA screening tools that had been translated into

 Arabic.

Author and year	Screening questionnaire(s) used		
(A. N. Ahmad, McLeod, Al Zahrani, & Al Zahrani, 2019)	BQ and ESS		
(Alharthi et al., 2018)	BQ, SBQ and ESS		
(Wali et al., 2017)	WSQ		
(BaHammam et al., 2015)	SBQ		
(Bahammam, Al-Rajeh, Al-Ibrahim, Arafah, & Sharif, 2009)	BQ		
(Alotair & Bahammam, 2008)	WSQ and ESS		

BQ: Berlin questionnaire; ESS: Epworth sleepiness scale; SBQ: STOP-Bang questionnaire; WSQ: Wisconsin Sleep questionnaire.

1.11 Summary

OSA is typically diagnosed by using a combination of screening tools and confirmed by diagnostic procedures such as PSG. The main risk factors for OSA are age, sex, BMI, smoking and comorbidities (e.g. T2D). OSA is characterised by IH and sleep fragmentation during sleep, and diurnally by EDS, depressive symptoms and cognitive dysfunction. It has been documented that OSA affects autobiographical memory, attention/vigilance and visuospatial ability. Research has focussed on hypoxia and sleep fragmentation as the causes of these cognitive impairments, but it is evident that these two factors cannot fully account for the extent of impairment observed.

Only a very small number of studies have examined the associations between depressive symptoms and cognitive impairment (only autobiographical memory) in OSA patients, and it is not yet known whether depressive symptoms have independent effects on other aspects of cognitive function. Further, SNS over-activation is another feature of OSA that in healthy people has been linked to cognitive dysfunction, but it is not yet known whether nocturnal SNS over-activation contributes to the cognitive impairment in OSA. There is a need to understand the extent to which hypoxia, sleep fragmentation, depressive symptoms and nocturnal SNS over-activation contribute to cognitive impairment in OSA, either as independent factors or in combination with each other.

1.12 Thesis Aims and Hypotheses

1.12.1 Aims

Noting the above research gaps, this thesis has the following aims:

- to characterise the study sample and explore the usefulness of the Arabic version of the SBQ as a screening tool for OSA (Chapter 2);
- to examine the independent effects of hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depression on cognitive dysfunction in OSA (Chapter 3);
- 3. to determine whether HRV, PWA and stress response biomarkers are associated with cognitive dysfunction in OSA (Chapter 4);
- 4. to determine whether nocturnal fluctuations in BP are associated with cognitive dysfunction in OSA (Chapter 5).

Aim 1 was proposed in order to establish the similarity and differences of the study sample to other published samples, so that the findings of the study could be generalised to other populations. Aims (2-4) were proposed in order to investigate the role that these factors play in the cognitive impairments seen in OSA.

These aims, and the research questions investigated in this thesis, are summarised in Figure 1.8.

48



Figure 1.8 Schematic illustration of the research aims of the thesis. Each of the four data chapters (Chapters 2–5) is associated with a different aim (a–d). SBQ: *STOP-Bang questionnaire*.

1.12.2 Thesis Hypotheses

It was hypothesised that patients referred to a sleep laboratory in Saudi Arabia would have the same OSA characteristics and demographic features as reported in previous studies, and that an Arabic version of the SBQ would display similar utility to that reported previously. Further, it hypothesised that depressive symptoms and SNS over-activity would influence cognitive function in OSA independently of IH and sleep fragmentation.

It was anticipated that this research would provide new insights into the factors that lead to cognitive impairment in OSA and would indicate which cognitive functions are likely to be vulnerable to IH, sleep fragmentation, depressive symptoms and SNS over-activity. It is hoped that the findings of the thesis will assist clinicians and researchers in developing more effective interventions for improving cognitive outcomes in patients with OSA.

1.12.3 The Sample Recruitments Summary

A sample size calculation was conducted using G*Power 3 software (Faul et al., 2007). A total of 56 subjects were required to test the null hypothesis for medium effect size (r = 0.30) and 0.80 power (Cohen, 1992). This minimum sample size was increased to provide extra power for multiple comparisons. A total of 112 participants were recruited. However, 22 participants did not meet the inclusion criteria. Thus, the total number of the participants included in the study were 90 particpants. Seventy-six participants were diagnosed with OSA and 14 participants with non-OSA (the main complaint was insomnia). Chapters 2 and 3 included the complete number of the participants (n=90), but Chapter 4 (n= 78) and Chapter 5 (n= 75) included fewer number of the total participants due to incomplete data of the SNS and BP indices (Figure 1.9).



Figure 1.5 Recruitment flow chart for the study sample. OSA: Obstructive Sleep Apnoea; AHI: Apnoea–Hypopnea Index.
Chapter 2: Risk Factors and Characteristics of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Patients Referred for an Overnight Sleep Study in Saudi Arabia: Utility of the *STOP-Bang Questionnaire* as a Screening Tool

Abstract

OSA is characterised by recurrent episodes of partial or complete cessation of breathing during sleep and increased breathing effort. This study examined a cohort of 90 patients (age18-65 years) who underwent overnight PSG studies at a major sleep laboratory in Saudi Arabia. The study aimed to identify the main characteristics of OSA in this cohort and to assess the utility of the SBQ as a predictor of the severity of this condition. PSG indicated that 14 patients did not have OSA, 30 had mild OSA, 23 had moderate OSA and 23 had severe OSA. Demographic factors associated with increasing severity of OSA were older age (mean age = 42.0 years) and higher BMI (mean BMI = 33.4 kg/m^2). Being a current smoker was not correlated with the severity of OSA. Among patients with OSA, depressive symptoms were present in 74%, EDS was present in 50%, and impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) or T2D in 60%. Multiple linear regressions revealed that EDS and IGT were significantly linked to OSA severity. SBQ scores were strongly associated with the AHI ($R^2 = 0.44$) and predicted the presence of OSA with high sensitivity (90%) and low specificity (54%). Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis revealed that the item of loud snoring provided superior detection of mild OSA (AHI >5) while the item of observed approved the best specificity for moderate and severe OSA (AHI >15). In conclusion, the risk factors for OSA in this Saudi population are similar to those reported for other populations, and the Arabic version of the SBQ has similar response properties to the English version.

2.1 Introduction

OSA is characterised by recurrent episodes of partial or complete cessation and/or attenuation of breathing during sleep, despite efforts to breathe normally (Epstein et al., 2009). Cessation of breathing usually lasts for at least 10 seconds, is interspersed with regular breathing and involves either partial (hypopnoea) or complete (apnoea) airway obstruction. The AHI classifies the severity of OSA as the average number of apnoea/hypopnoea episodes per hour of sleep. Mild OSA is defined as more than 5 but fewer than 15 episodes per hour of sleep, moderate OSA as more than 15 but fewer than 30 episodes per hour, and severe OSA as 30 or more episodes per hour (McNicholas, 2018). Symptoms of OSA include loud snoring, waking at night with choking, waking in the morning with a dry throat and/or headache, and EDS (Spicuzza, Caruso, & Di Maria, 2015). Risk factors for OSA include sex, age, weight and specific morphological craniofacial features (Punjabi, 2008). OSA is associated with serious health complications, including cerebrovascular and cardiovascular issues, as well as an increased risk of motor vehicle and work-related accidents (Garbarino, Guglielmi, Sanna, Mancardi, & Magnavita, 2016; Mozafari et al., 2014). CPAP therapy is considered the gold standard for the management of OSA (Ballester et al., 1999). This treatment significantly reduces the risk of accidents and injuries related to sleepiness, utilisation of health care services and the negative economic impact of OSA (Knauert, Naik, Gillespie, & Kryger, 2015).

OSA is a common disorder both in the general population and in specific sub-groups with chronic diseases (Franklin & Lindberg, 2015). The reported global prevalence of OSA in middle-aged individuals ranges from 9% to 38% (Senaratna et al., 2017). Obesity, as indicated by a high BMI, is a risk factor for OSA (Schwartz et al., 2008) and OSA is prevalent in developed countries due to rising obesity levels, and in populations where genetic factors

render people more susceptible to significant weight gain (Casale et al., 2009; Woods, Usher, & Maguire, 2015).

Most research on OSA has been conducted in Western countries, particularly the United States (US). There has been very little cross-cultural research. In affluent Middle Eastern countries, there is a high risk of OSA because of increasing obesity rates. For example, 35% of Saudi Arabians are estimated to be obese; thus, the expected risk of OSA is greatly increased in this population (Al-Nozha et al., 2005). However, 80% of Saudis with OSA are not aware of this condition or its effects on their health (Almutairi, 2019). Relatively few studies have been conducted on OSA in Middle Eastern countries, but the limited evidence indicates that risk factors in Middle Eastern countries are similar to those in Western countries. For example, a recent study using PSG identified BMI, age, male sex and hypertension as risk factors for OSA in the Saudi population, with the prevalence of OSA being similar to that observed in Western countries (Wali et al., 2017). Additionally, depression, high blood sugar and EDS are prevalent among OSA patients in Saudi Arabia (Jamal, Eskandrani and Alyahya, 2018). However, a need exists for more studies that confirm the characteristics and risk factors of OSA among Saudi Arabian OSA patients. On the other hand, studies confirmed that although SBQ shows high sensitivity, it has low specificity (Vana, Silva and Goldberg, 2013; Chung et al., 2016; BaHammam et al., 2015), suggesting that some SBQ items might influence the specificity levels.

The present study aimed to extend the literature by further investigating risk factors and the characteristics of patients referred to a sleep laboratory with suspected OSA in Saudi Arabia. The study also makes a methodological contribution by re-examining the sensitivity of and specificity of the Arabic version of the SBQ as a screen for OSA (BaHammam et al., 2015).

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Study Participants

The study participants were patients aged 18–65 years who had been referred for nocturnal diagnostic PSG studies at the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre, King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. The following exclusion criteria were applied: 1) current use of CPAP therapy; 2) a neurodegenerative disease (e.g. Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease); and/or 3) regularly sleeping less than 2 hours per night (the AASM recommends minimum sleep duration of 2 hours) (Epstein et al., 2009).

The study was approved by the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology University Human Research Ethics Committee (ethics reference number: HREC 21459) and the King Abdulaziz University Hospital Human Research Ethics Committee (ethics reference number: 395-18). Informed consent was obtained from all participants after they had received an explanation of the nature of the study at the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre.

2.2.2 Procedure and Measurements

A nurse measured the height, weight and resting BP (systolic and diastolic) of each participant following admission to the sleep laboratory. Participants then completed a series of questionnaires designed to collect demographic information: likely OSA severity (SBQ), information about daytime sleepiness (ESS) and depressive symptoms (Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale-21 [DASS-21]). Participants then underwent a nocturnal PSG study and provided first morning urine cortisol and blood serum cortisol samples.

2.2.3 Questionnaires

2.2.3.1 STOP-Bang Questionnaire (Arabic version) (BaHammam et al., 2015; Chung et al., 2008)

The SBQ is an eight-item, self-administered questionnaire that requires a 'yes' (1 score) or 'no' (0 score) response to each item. The items are snoring, tiredness, observation of breathing cessation during sleep, diagnosis of high BP, BMI >35 kg/m², neck circumference >40 cm, age >50 years and sex. The SBQ is scored by summing the numbers for each item, the minimum score is 0 and maximum is 8. with total scores of 5–8 indicating a high risk of OSA, 3–4 points indicating intermediate risk and 0–2 indicating low risk (Chung, Abdullah, & Liao, 2016).

2.2.3.2 The Epworth Sleepiness Scale (Arabic version) (Ahmed et al., 2014; Johns, 1991)

This scale assesses daytime sleepiness and is frequently used with OSA patients. The scale consists of eight items, each rated from 0 to 3, with higher numbers indicating a higher chance of dozing. Scores on these eight items are summed to give an overall score. The minimum score is 0 and maximum is 24, higher scores indicate greater levels of sleepiness; scores of less than 11 indicate little or no daytime sleepiness; scores of 11–14 indicate mild daytime sleepiness; scores of 15–17 moderate daytime sleepiness; and scores greater than 17 indicate severe daytime sleepiness.

2.2.3.3 Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale-21 (Arabic version) (Ali et al., 2017; Henry & Crawford, 2005)

This 21-item questionnaire is designed to measure the magnitude of three negative emotional states, one of which is depression. The DASS depression subscale captures reported low mood, motivation and self-esteem. Scores of 0–9 indicate the presence of normal, mild depressive symptoms is ranged between 10-13, 14–20 indicates moderate depression, more than 21-27

indicates severe depression and scores of 28 or more correspond to extremely serious depression. Research has identified significant correlations between the DASS subscales and Beck depression and anxiety inventories, providing evidence for convergent validity (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995).

2.2.3.4 Polysomnography Measures

The study utilised overnight PSG (SOMNO Medics Plus) to assess sleep duration, sleep quality, breathing and other sleep-related characteristics. In this study, most of the PSG studies were conducted in the sleep laboratory. However, 15 home PSG studies were also performed, using the same devices and procedures as in the laboratory to ensure consistency across settings. Home studies were usually done because of patient-related issues in attending the laboratory (e.g. distance, transport and mobility issues). A sleep technician applied the PSG sensors 30 minutes before sleep time. PSG consisted of continuous recordings from surface leads for EEG to record sleep stages (NREM sleep 1, NREM sleep 2, NREM sleep 3 and REM sleep) and arousal index, electrooculography (EOG), electromyography (EMG) (from muscles in the submental space and the tibialis anterior muscles bilaterally) and ECG. A thermocouple device measured nasal pressure and oral airflow; chest and abdominal impedance belts measured respiratory muscle effort; a pulse oximeter assessed blood oxygen saturation (SaO₂) and pulse rate; a tracheal microphone measured snoring; and body position sensors measured sleep position.

For technical reasons, there was a loss of some PSG data, and 15 study participants repeated the procedure. There was no difference between this group and the other participants who did not repeat the procedures.

2.2.4 Hypertension

The presence of systemic hypertension was estimated from the resting BP using the standard method (digital sphygmomanometer, OMRON, Kyoto, Japan). Hypertension was defined as SBP >140 mmHg and/or DBP >90 mmHg (Gabb et al., 2016).

2.2.4.1 Impaired Glucose Tolerance and Type 2 Diabetes

IGT and T2D were measured from the first-morning blood glucose sample, taken from a median cubital vein in all patients between 5:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. The samples were stored for no longer than 2 hours at 2–8°C prior to assay. IGT was defined as 5.5–6.9 mmol/dL, and T2D was diagnosed at \geq 7.0 mmol/dL (Güemes, Rahman, & Hussain, 2016).

2.2.5 Analysis

2.2.5.1 Body Mass Index Calculations

BMI calculations were based on the international standard of dividing weight in kilograms by height in metres squared (Nuttall, 2015).

2.2.5.2 Polysomnography Recordings

PSG recordings were scored manually using a validated protocol, and identification of abnormal breathing events during sleep was based on the recommendations of the AASM (Berry, Brooks, et al., 2012; Berry, Budhiraja, et al., 2012). Breathing abnormalities included a decrease in airflow \geq 90% from baseline for \geq 10 seconds (apnoea); a reduction in airflow \geq 30% of the pre-event baseline using nasal pressure; and a decrease in oxygen saturation \geq 3%, followed by either oxygen desaturation or electroencephalographic arousal (hypopnoea) despite the persistent effort of the chest and abdominal muscles to overcome the obstruction. The severity of OSA was estimated from the AHI where non-OSA = 0–4 AHI, mild = 5–14

Chapter 2

AHI, moderate = 14–29 AHI, and severe \geq 30 AHI. The degree of oxygen desaturation was measured by the ODI, while the degree of sleep fragmentation was based on the number of apnoeic events that resulted in an arousal from sleep (Arousal Index). The measurement of sleep stages included the duration of NREM sleep stages N1, N2 and N3 and the length of the REM sleep stage. Three PSG technicians verified all PSG scores to ensure the consistency of scoring, and randomly selected and scored cases to confirm inter-observer reliability and accuracy.

2.2.5.3 Specimen Analysis

The serum glucose content was analysed using the Dimension Vista® 500 system, and the sample volume was $1.2 \,\mu$ L. The μ g/dL units were converted to mmol/L to enhance readability. To increase the reliability of the data, the same biochemist analysed glucose levels in a single laboratory. The biochemist was blind to the OSA severity of the participants.

2.2.5.4 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted with the IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, version 26). Data are shown as mean and standard deviation (*SD*) for continuous variables and as frequencies and percentages for categorical variables. Student's t-test analysis determined significant differences between sex groups based on demographic variables and PSG variables. Between-group comparisons of categorical data were made using Pearson's chi-square and Mann–Whitney tests. Linear simple regressions were performed to determine associations between SBQ score and AHI, ODI and Arousal Index. ROC curves were used to assess the predictive power of the SBQ to detect cases of mild, moderate and severe OSA (based on AHI). The area under the curve (AUC) was calculated for each of the three cut-off points and was used to assess the predictive power of the model, with an area of 1.0 indicating perfect agreement and an area of 0.5 indicating no agreement. The calculation of the sensitivity,

specificity, positive predictive values (PPVs), negative predictive values (NPVs), and positive and negative likelihood ratios (LRs) were conducted for the same cut-off values of the AHI. Generally, the absence of disease can be detected when the likelihood ratio is <1, the presence of disease can be demonstrated in a likelihood ratio >1. LRs <0.1 and >10 provides strong evidence to rule out or rule in diagnoses, respectively. A multiple regression analysis was conducted to: 1) identify associations between AHI and the demographic variables; and 2) a binary logistic regressions analysis was used to determine which AHI and demographic variables are associated with depressive symptoms, EDS, IGT and T2D, after controlling for age, BMI and smoking status. The statistical significance is reported for models that had p <.05after the false discovery rate (FDR) (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995) had been applied to adjust for family-wise error rate (Type 1 error) arising from multiple comparisons. In addition, the only models reported are those that showed no multicollinearity, as assumed with a variance inflation factor (VIF) of <2.0.

2.3 Results

Among 100 patients who presented consecutively to the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre, 90 met the study inclusion criteria. The mean participant age was 42.0 years (SD = 12.0 years), mean BMI was 33.4 kg/m² (SD = 9.4 kg/m²) and 69% of participants were male. PSG showed that 14 of the 90 participants did not have OSA, 30 had mild OSA, 23 had moderate OSA and 23 had severe OSA. Since 8 of the 90 participants did not answer the SBQ completely, the SBQ data were based on 82 participants (68% male).

Table 2.1 summarises the demographic variables and smoking history, stratified by sex. There was no significant difference in their mean age. Females had a significantly higher BMI and were significantly less likely to smoke than males. OSA (as measured by the AHI) was significantly more severe in males than in females. Correspondingly, the ODI and Arousal

Index were significantly higher in males than in females. There were no significant sex differences in the time durations percentage of sleep stages.

Table 2.2 summarises the prevalence of depressive symptoms, EDS, resting hypertension, T2D and IGT in patients with OSA. DASS-21 data showed that 20 (26%) of the 76 OSA patients did not have depressive symptoms, 8 had mild symptoms (11%), 13 had moderate symptoms (17%) and 35 had severe depressive symptoms (46%). Fifty % reported EDS and 60% had IGT or T2D, yet no participants met the criteria for resting hypertension.

 Table 2.1 Comparison of demographic, and sleep-related variables and smoking status

 between the sexes.

	All participants		Males		Females			
Variable	M (SD)	n	M (SD)	n	M (SD)	n	t	p-value
Age, years	42.1 (12.7)	90	40.8 (12.8)	62	44.7 (12.4)	28	-1.35	.10
Body Mass Index	33.3 (9.4)	90	31.6 (8.0)	62	37.0 (11.3)	28	-2.59	.01
Apnoea–Hypopnoea Index	21.6 (20.4)	90	25.1 (1.1)	62	13.8 (2.4)	28	2.48	.01
ODI/h	20.2 (22.3)	90	23.1 (24.1)	62	12.8 (13.2)	28	-2.183	.03
Arousal Index	11.2 (12.8)	90	13.1 (14.4)	62	7.2 (7.1)	28	-2.06	.04
N1 sleep time duration (%)	13.7(9.6)	90	14.7 (10.6)	62	11.6 (6.7)	28	-1.37	.17
N2 sleep time duration (%)	51.4 (13.3)	90	51.2 (12.1)	62	20.4 (14.4)	28	-0.26	.79
N3 sleep time duration (%)	20.9 (12.8)	90	21.2 (14.4)	62	20.3 (8.3)	28	-0.28	.76
REM sleep time duration (%)	12.4 (7.7)	90	12.2 (7.3)	62	12.9 (8.6)	28	0.25	.69
Current smoker (%) ^a	22 (24%)	90	21 (34%)	62	1 (6%)	28	-	.002

a: Pearson's chi-square test analysis; *SD*: standard deviation; ODI/h: oxygen desaturation index per hour; N1: sleep stage 1; N2: sleep stage 2; N3: sleep stage 3; REM: rapid eye movement sleep stage.

Variable	N	Diagnostic cut-off point	Number (%)
Depressive symptoms	76	>4 scores ^a	57 (74)
Excessive daytime sleepiness	76	>10 scores ^b	38 (50)
Resting hypertension	72	Systolic >140 and diastolic >90 mmHg ^c	0 (0)
Impaired glucose tolerance	76	5.5–6.9 mmol/L ^d	33 (43)
Type 2 diabetes	76	\geq 7.0 mmol/L ^d	13 (17)

Table 2.2 The prevalence rate of depressive symptoms, daytime sleepiness, hypertension, type 2 diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance among OSA patients (≥ 5 AHI).

AHI; Apnoea-Hypopnea Index; ^a: (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995); ^b: (Johns, 1991); c: (Gabb et al., 2016); d: (Pagana et al., 2003).

Table 2.3 shows the results from the multiple linear regression analysis. Accordingly, the results revealed that EDS and IGT were significantly linked to OSA severity.

Table 2.3 Results of the binary logistic regressions analysis for associations between OSA severity (AHI) and depressive symptoms, excessive daytime sleepiness, impaired glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes after controlling for age, Body Mass Index and smoking status, and applying the FDR multiple comparison adjustment.

Dependent variable	Predictor	В	SE	p-value
Depressive symptoms				
	AHI	0.05	0.06	.42
	Age (years)	0.09	0.09	.33
	Body Mass Index	0.02	0.13	.87
	Current smoker	3.73	2.48	.14
Excessive daytime sleepiness				
	AHI	0.11	0.03	<.01
	Age (years)	0.09	0.05	.07
	Body Mass Index	0.01	0.07	.87
	Current smoker	1.69	1.46	.25
Impaired glucose tolerance				
	AHI	0.00	0.00	.01
	Age (years)	0.00	0.00	.10
	Body Mass Index	0.01	0.00	.02
	Current smoker	0.09	0.11	.37
Type 2 diabetes				
	AHI	0.00	0.00	.07
	Age (years)	0.00	0.00	.98
	Body Mass Index	0.00	0.00	.25
	Current smoker	0.12	0.09	.18

AHI: apnoea–hypopnoea index; B = unstandardised regression coefficient; SE = standard error.

Table 2.4 summarises the results from multiple linear regression analyses that examined associations between demographic variables, smoking history and OSA severity (based on AHI). The results indicated that a significant amount of variation in AHI scores was accounted for by the predictor variables (F(3,90) = 6.26, p = .001). Age and BMI were significantly associated with OSA severity, whereas current smoking was not.

Variables	\mathbb{R}^2	pmodel	SE	β	sr	p-value
	0.27	<.01				
Age (years)			0.17	0.33	0.30	<.01
Body Mass Index			0.22	0.27	9.26	<.01
Current smoker			4.81	0.09	0.07	.20

 Table 2.4 Results of the multiple regression analysis for associations between OSA

 severity (AHI) and age, Body Mass Index and smoking status.

 R^2 = models' multiple correlations; SE = standard error; β = standardised regression coefficient; sr = semi-partial correlation.

The second aim of this study was to determine the extent to which responses to the Arabic version of the SBQ predicted the severity of OSA. Based on the AHI, only 14 (15.6%) of the participants were classified as having no OSA. The remaining 33.3%, 25.6% and 25.6% had mild, moderate and severe apnoea, respectively. Table 2.5 shows that, based on the SBQ score, 14 (17.1%) patients were classified as having a low risk of OSA while the remaining 45.1% and 37.8% were at intermediate and high risk of OSA, respectively.

 Table 2.5 Descriptive statistics for the categorical results obtained from the Apnoea–

 Hypopnoea Index and STOP-Bang questionnaire.

Category	N (%)
AHI category:	90
No OSA	14 (15.6%)
Mild OSA	30 (33.3%)
Moderate OSA	23 (25.6%)
Severe OSA	23 (25.6%)
SBQ category:	82
Low	14 (17.1%)
Intermediate	37 (45.1%)
High	31 (37.8%)

AHI: apnoea-hypopnoea index; OSA: obstructive sleep apnoea; SBQ: STOP-Bang questionnaire.

A SBQ score of 0–2 predicts a low risk of OSA, a score of 3–4 predicts a moderate risk, and a score of \geq 5 predicts a high risk (Chung et al., 2016). Each participant's score on the SBQ was

compared with their PSG results (AHI, ODI and Arousal Index) to assess the predictive value of the SBQ (Figure 2.1). Linear regression analysis showed that SBQ scores were correlated with AHI scores ($R^2 = 0.44$; Figure 2.1a), ODI scores ($R^2 = 0.42$; Figure 2.1b) and Arousal Index ($R^2 = 0.37$; Figure 2.1c).

ROC curve analysis using an AHI cut-off value of 5 indicated that the SBQ has excellent sensitivity (90%), and PPVs and NPVs of 91% and 50%, respectively. The cut-off value of 15 for AHI revealed outstanding sensitivity (98%), and PPVs and NPVs of 59% and 93%, respectively. Validation against a cut-off value of 30 revealed outstanding sensitivity of 100% and PPVs and NPVs of 31% and 100%, respectively (Table 2.6, Figure 2.2). Despite the high sensitivity of the SBQ, the specificity was very low, and the resultant AUC ranged from 61.5% (equating to poor discrimination) and 71.9% (equating to acceptable discrimination) (Mandrekar, 2010) (Table 2.6, Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.1 The relationship between SBQ scores and OSA severity (AHI) (a), Oxygen Desaturation Index (b), and Arousal Index (c). SBQ: STOP-Bang questionnaire; AHI: apnoea–hypopnoea index.

Table 2.6 Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value,
positive likelihood ratio, and negative likelihood ratio for the STOP-Bang questionnaire
score $(< 3 v. \ge 3)$.

AHI	AUC	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	PLR	NLR
≥5	71.9%	90%	54%	91%	50%	1.95	0.19
≥15	64.6%	98%	32%	59%	93%	1.43	0.08
≥30	61.5%	100%	23%	31%	100%	1.30	0.00

AHI: apnoea-hypopnoea index; AUC: area under the curve; PPV: positive predictive value; NPV: negative predictive value; PLR: positive likelihood ratio; NLR: negative likelihood ratio.



Figure 2.2 Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves based on cut-off values for AHI of 5 (a), 15 (b) and 30 (c) for SBQ scores of \geq 3, showing the corresponding area under the curve.

ROC curve analysis was also conducted to determine which SBQ items are the best predictors of OSA severity (Table 2.7). The results revealed that loud snoring provided excellent sensitivity and specificity for mild OSA (AHI \geq 5 and <15) while observed apnoeic events provided acceptable–excellent sensitivity and specificity for moderate and severe OSA (AHI \geq 15). For both items the AUC was superior (>75%) to that obtained for the entire SBQ.

Table 2.7 Diagnostic accuracy	for the individual SBQ) items for different	t cut-off values of
AHI.			

	AHI≥5		AH	l ≥15	AHI ≥30	
SBQ Item	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity
Loud snoring	0.86	0. 79	0.80	0.45	0.95	0.42
Tiredness, fatigue and sleepiness	0.84	0.31	0.90	0.27	0.95	0.23
Observed apnoeic events	0.49	0.77	0.87	0.76	0.81	0.78
High blood pressure	0.28	0.85	0.32	0.80	0.43	0.80
Body Mass Index >35 kg/m ²	0.56	0.55	0.56	0.47	0.64	0.49
Age >50 years	0.43	0.85	0.52	0.76	0.45	0.64
Large neck circumference	0.31	0.70	0.34	0.74	0.37	0.72
Male sex	0.72	0.50	0.78	0.41	0.86	0.37

Note: AHI cut-offs (AHI \geq 5; AHI \geq 15 and AHI \geq 30); SBQ cut-off used SBQ \geq 3. AHI: apnoea–hypopnoea index; SBQ: STOP-Bang questionnaire.

Participants were divided into four groups based on their AHI scores, to determine which of the eight questions in the SBQ are the best predictors of OSA severity (Table 2.8). The proportion of participants in each OSA severity group who answered 'yes' to each question was expressed as a percentage of the total number of participants in that group. An analysis of variance (ANOVA) determined if there was a significant between-group difference for each item in the SBQ. The items showed a significant upward trend as the severity of OSA increased, with loud snoring and observed apnoea events being the most significant predictors.

SBQ item	All groups	No OSA n = 13	Mild OSA	Moderate OSA	Severe OSA n – 21	
	II - 02	II – 13	II - 20	n = 20	II – 21	
Answered 'yes'	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	p-value
Loud snoring	54 (66)	4 (31) ^{2,4}	18 (64) ¹	12 (60) ⁴	20 (95) ^{1,3}	<.01
Tiredness, fatigue and sleepiness	68 (83)	9 (69) ⁴	21 (75)	17 (85)	21 (100) ¹	.02
Observed apnoeic events	36 (44)	3 (23) ⁴	7 (25) ⁴	9 (45) ⁴	17 (81) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
High blood pressure	21 (26)	2 (15)	6 (21)	4 (20)	9 (43)	.07
Body Mass Index >35 kg/m ²	43 (52)	5 (38)	15 (54)	9 (45)	14 (67)	.22
Aged >50 years	32 (48)	2 (15) ³	8 (29) ³	12 (60) ^{1,2}	10 (48)	.02
Large neck circumference	19 (23)	1 (8)	6 (21)	5 (25)	7 (33)	.08
Male sex	56 (68)	7 (50) ⁴	19 (68) ⁴	16 (80)	20 (95) ^{1,2}	.01

Table 2.8 Frequency of 'yes' responses to the eight SBQ items stratified by OSA severity.

Note: OSA severity cut-off values are non-OSA (AHI 0–4); mild OSA (AHI 5–14); moderate OSA (AHI 14–29); severe OSA (AHI \geq 30); significant differences between groups were defined by ¹, p < .05 v. non-OSA; ², p < .05 v. mild OSA; ³, p < .05 v. moderate OSA; and ⁴, p < .05 v. severe OSA; OSA: obstructive sleep apnoea; SBQ: *STOP-Bang questionnaire*.

2.4 Discussion

This study examined a group of 90 patients who had presented consecutively for a PSG assessment at a Saudi sleep laboratory. The study found that participants those who were older and with higher BMI had more severe OSA. Current smoking rate and the presence of hypertension were not predictors of OSA severity, suggesting that being overweight is a more influential cause of OSA than other negative lifestyle behaviours. The prevalence of depressive symptoms, EDS and IGT/T2D among the OSA patients was estimated as 74%, 50% and 60%, respectively. The total score on the Arabic version of the SBQ (based on eight items) was found to have high sensitivity but low specificity for the presence of OSA. Two items (loud snoring and observed apnoea events) provided a superior prediction of OSA severity.

The severity of OSA is known to increase with age, and thus the findings of this study are consistent with those of earlier studies. For instance, a study of 878 Saudi patients who were

referred to a sleep laboratory found that age was a strong predictor of OSA severity (Alshehri et al., 2019). A study of 2,095 Saudi patients found that advancing age was positively correlated with an increased likelihood of OSA, with only 19.4% of patients younger than 29 years showing symptoms of OSA and 41% of those older than 60 years showing symptoms (Alruwaili et al., 2015).

The present study found that high BMI is a risk factor for OSA severity. This supports the findings of previous studies. A study in Italy of 161 obese patients examined the prevalence of sleep breathing disorders and found that more than 50% of the patients with a mean BMI higher than 40.0 kg/m² had OSA (Resta et al., 2001). An Australian study that analysed data collected as part of a national, cross-sectional survey of general practice found that patients with a BMI >30 kg/m² had a significantly higher rate of OSA and snoring than those with a BMI <25 kg/m² (S. F. Cross et al., 2016). A study in Chile comparing OSA patients to those without OSA showed that a BMI \geq 30 was associated with OSA severity (Wosu et al., 2014). A study of 346 Saudi patients (Wali et al., 2017) found a strong association between BMI and OSA severity. Similarly, a study by Jamal, Eskandrani and Alyahya (2018) of 1,925 Saudi participants reported that obesity was the most common comorbidity associated with OSA.

The present study found no relationship between smoking and OSA severity. Research has yielded mixed findings on the association between smoking and OSA. Hoflstein (2002) studied 3,509 patients with OSA and found that although AHI scores were higher in heavy smokers than in non-smokers, there was no significant relationship between smoking and the presence of OSA. Similarly, A. N. Ahmad et al. (2019) reported that smoking was not a risk factor for OSA in the Saudi population. The findings of these two studies are consistent with those of the present study, which found that current smokers were not more likely to have severe OSA. In contrast, some studies have reported that smoking is related to the severity of OSA. For

Chapter 2

example, Wetter et al. (1994) found that current smokers are more likely to have OSA than non-smokers or former smokers. Another study indicated a strong relationship between smoking and severe OSA in Saudi Arabia (Alharthi et al., 2018). The inconsistent findings between studies may relate to how smoking status is classified, given that a binary classification of smoking does not account for differences in the frequency of smoking or differences between lifetime smokers and recent smokers. It is possible that smoking is an indicator of other generally unhealthy behaviours such as overeating and low levels of exercise, which might lead to OSA.

Depressive symptoms were prevalent among OSA patients (74%) in the present study. This supports earlier research that links depression and OSA. For example, Baaisharah et al. (2017) found that 50% of Saudi Arabian patients (N = 75, mean age = 47.5 years) with OSA exhibited depressive symptoms. This percentage was higher among individuals with severe OSA. Dai et al. (2016) found that 47.4% of 1,327 Chinese OSA patients aged between 18 and 82 (median age of 47 years) had depressive symptoms. These proportions are higher than observed in general populations. In their systematic review, J. Wang et al. (2017) stated that up to 27% of the general population had depression or depressive symptoms. However, there are minor inconsistencies in research data regarding the prevalence of depression among OSA patients. This variation could be caused by several factors, including cultural differences. The cultural differences among minority groups can affect the reliability and validity of measurements utilised in mainstream cultures (Mushquash & Bova, 2007). In addition, Silva et al. (2016) considered that certain age groups had difficulty understanding the DASS and differentiating between some symptoms assessed. Thus, age differences can lead to instability for the scales.

In agreement with most previous studies, the present study found that depressive symptoms were not related to the severity of OSA as estimated from the AHI. For instance, Macey, Woo,

70

Kumar, Cross and Harper (2010) examined 49 untreated OSA patients without comorbidities and found that depressive symptoms (measured using the Beck Depression Inventory) were not associated with OSA severity. Ejaz et al. (2011), in their review, stated that the absence of a correlation between depressive symptoms and OSA severity does not necessarily indicate a lack of association, as the prevalence of depressive symptoms is high in patients with OSA relative to those without OSA. Thus, this relationship could be due to EDS, fragmentation of sleep or repeated episodes of hypoxia. The mechanism behind depressive symptoms is extensively investigated in Chapter 3.

Research has found that up to 29% of the general population experience EDS (Hayley et al., 2014; Ohayon, Dauvilliers, & Reynolds, 2012; Tsuno et al., 2007), but within clinical populations, OSA patients have a higher prevalence of EDS. In the present study, 50% of OSA patients reported EDS. Consistent with the current study, a Norwegian study found that approximately 59% of middle-aged OSA patients reported EDS (Bjorvatn et al., 2015). In addition, in a large US community-based cohort, 70% of middle-aged and older subjects with moderate-to-severe sleep-disordered breathing (AHI \geq 15) reported EDS (Kapur, Baldwin, Resnick, Gottlieb, & Nieto, 2005). However, self-reported EDS may underestimate the prevalence of EDS. For example, Fong, Ho and Wing, (2005) proposed that the multiple sleep latency test (MSLT) is more effective in assessing EDS associated with OSA severity. Accordingly, Seneviratne and Puvanendran (2004) used MSLT to assess EDS in 195 OSA patients (mean age = 45.5 years) and found a high prevalence rate (87%). However, in the present study, EDS was associated with OSA severity. Similarly, Oksenberg et al. (2010) compared the severity of OSA between patients with and without EDS and concluded that patients with EDS had more severe OSA than those without EDS.

The present study also examined the prevalence of T2D and IGT among OSA patients. In Saudi Arabia, the prevalence of T2D and IGT among the general population is 9.2% and 27.6%, respectively (Aldossari et al., 2018). The current study found much higher incidences of T2D (17%) and IGT (43%) in OSA patients. This finding is consistent with previous research. For instance, Reichmuth, Austin, Skatrud and Young (2005) confirmed that 15% of patients with moderate-to-severe OSA had T2D. Additionally, Mahmood et al. (2009) found that 30% of sleep laboratory patients (N = 1,008) with an AHI \geq 5 had T2D. In the present study OSA severity was independently linked to IGT whereas T2D was not. Kim et al. (2013), also found that OSA severity in non-obese patients is associated with IGT. Additionally, as IGT is directly affected by OSA severity, the transition from IGT to T2D may take several years, as stated by Nathan et al. (2007) who found that 70% of pre-diabetic individuals eventually developed T2D.

The present study examined the utility of the Arabic version of the SBQ to screen patients for the presence of OSA. An unexpected finding was that 19 OSA patients reported hypertension, yet none had resting hypertension when tested (Table 2.2). The reason for this discrepancy is unclear. It is possible that their hypertension was being successfully treated, or perhaps the relevant question in the Arabic version of the SBQ was misunderstood by some of the patients. With \geq 5 AHI and SBQ \geq 3 the SBQ has indicated a high sensitivity (90–100%) but a low specificity (23–54%), which aligns with a validation study of the Arabic version of the SBQ that reported a sensitivity of 98% and a specificity of 24% (BaHammam et al., 2015). Reviews of other populations have consistently reported similar patterns. For instance, Chung et al. (2016) reported that the sensitivity and specificity of the English version of the SBQ is 74% and 53% respectively, while Vana, Silva and Goldberg (2013) reported a sensitivity of 93% and specificity of 33%. Although the high sensitivity of the SBQ ensures that most cases of OSA are detected, its low specificity means that around half of all patients will undergo PSG tests unnecessarily, wasting scarce resources and inconveniencing patients. The present study found that loud snoring and observed apnoeic events provide superior sensitivity and specificity for OSA compared with the full SBQ. While this finding needs to be confirmed in a larger study, it opens the way for clinicians to use these two items of the SBQ to improve the efficiency of screening patients for probable OSA.

One of the limitations of this study is the fact that all participants had been referred to undertake a sleep study as they were known to suffer from sleep problems. It would be technically challenging to conduct a PSG study on randomly selected members of the broader community. Nonetheless, it should be borne in mind that the present results are representative of the subgroup of patients referred to sleep clinics, not the broader population. A second limitation is that the small number of participants with T2D (and mostly mild cases) may have precluded identification of an association between OSA severity and T2D.

2.5 Conclusions

The findings of this study increase understanding of the risk factors and characteristics of OSA patients referred to sleep clinics in Saudi Arabia. The risk factors included age and BMI, consistent with findings from previous studies of other target populations. Further, current smoking status did not affect the severity of OSA. The prevalence of depressive symptoms, EDS, IGT and T2D were much higher in patients with OSA than in the general population; EDS and IGT were significantly linked to OSA severity, whereas depressive symptoms and T2D were not. Further, the results from this study confirm the Arabic version of the SBQ to be a sensitive screening tool for OSA and show that loud snoring and observed apnoeic events have the best utility for predicting the severity of OSA. Overall, the current study supports previous global research on OSA patients in terms of risk factors, demographics and responses to ESS, DASS and the SBQ.

Chapter 3: Differential Associations of Hypoxia, Sleep Fragmentation and Depressive Symptoms with Cognitive Performance in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

Abstract

OSA is characterised by recurrent episodes of partial or complete cessation of breathing during sleep and an increased effort to breathe. This study examined patients who underwent overnight PSG studies in a major sleep laboratory in Saudi Arabia. The study aimed to determine the extent to which IH, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms are independently associated with cognitive impairments in OSA. In the sample of 90 participants, 14 had no OSA, 30 mild OSA, 23 moderate OSA and 23 severe OSA. The findings revealed that hypoxia and sleep fragmentation were independently associated with impairments in sustained attention and RT (p < .05). Sleep fragmentation, but not hypoxia, was independently associated with impairments in visuospatial performance (p < .05). Depressive symptoms were independently associated attention, RT, visuospatial ability and semantic and episodic autobiographical memory (p < .05). Since depressive symptoms are independent of hypoxia and sleep fragmentation, effective reversal of cognitive impairment in OSA may require treatment interventions that target each of these factors.

3.1 Introduction

OSA is a sleep disorder characterised by repetitive episodes of airway obstruction that lead to transient hypoxia and sleep fragmentation (Young et al., 1993). According to recent estimates, the global prevalence of OSA ranges from 9% to 38% in middle-aged individuals (Senaratna et al., 2017). Clinical interventions, particularly CPAP, can reduce OSA severity (Schwarz, Stradling, & Kohler, 2018). People with untreated OSA frequently exhibit impairment on tests

of memory, attention, and visuospatial ability (Ayalon, Ancoli-Israel, Aka, et al., 2009; M. Olaithe et al., 2018; Anna Wallace & Romola S. Bucks, 2013), and are 7.5–20 times more likely to have difficulty with concentration, executing monotonous tasks and learning new tasks (Beebe & Gozal, 2002; Ulfberg, Carter, Talbäck, & Edling, 1996). Due to decreased concentration and sleepiness, individuals with OSA have an increased risk of occupational and motor vehicle accidents (Garbarino et al., 2016; Kales & Czeisler, 2016), which in turn may lead to injury, death and an increased economic burden on society (Howard et al., 2004; Ward et al., 2013). Despite widespread agreement that OSA is associated with an increased risk of cognitive impairment, there is no consensus regarding the probable causes of this impairment.

The three most likely causes are hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depression. For instance, neuroimaging studies have shown that individuals with OSA have structural changes in the brain that are associated with cognitive impairment, and the extent of these changes increases with higher levels of nocturnal hypoxia, as measured during PSG (Lal et al., 2012). Hypoxia in OSA patients has been linked to impairments in global cognitive function (Yaffe et al. (2011), and long-term memory and attention (Findley et al., 1986). Some OSA studies have found that hypoxemia is associated with grey matter hypertrophy, presumably caused by oedema (Baril et al., 2017).

The arousals associated with apnoea events interrupt sleep (Kimoff, 1996). The restorative processes that occur in the brain during sleep are impaired by sleep fragmentation and this is thought to contribute to biochemical and cellular stress that leads to poorer cognitive performance (Beebe & Gozal, 2002). Ayalon, Ancoli-Israel and Drummond (2009) found that sleep fragmentation, but not hypoxia, in OSA patients is associated with significantly slower RTs during a sustained attention task. Moreover, Thomas et al. (2005) suggested that cognitive dysfunction may not necessarily be caused by hypoxia, but rather by sleep fragmentation. In a

Chapter 3

review of the literature, Bucks et al. (2013) pointed out that sleep fragmentation has a more profound effect than hypoxia on attention and memory, and they concluded that sleep fragmentation may contribute to a slowing of cognitive processing. An experimental study that examined the effects of sleep disturbances on cognition confirmed that sleep fragmentation can impair cognitive functioning, even in young healthy subjects (Ferri et al., 2010). Animal studies have also demonstrated that sleep fragmentation can cause hippocampal memory impairments (Nair, Zhang, et al., 2011).

It is well established that individuals with depressive symptoms, but without any other comorbid conditions, exhibit cognitive deficits that can include memory loss, visuospatial deficits and an inability to pay attention during routine activities (Faust, Nelson, Sarapas, & Pliskin, 2017; Kaser, Zaman, & Sahakian, 2017). Depression is frequently observed in patients with moderate-to-severe OSA (Shoib, Malik, & Masoodi, 2017) and some studies have suggested that it may play a role in cognitive dysfunction (Delhikar et al., 2019). A neuroimaging study by R. L. Cross et al. (2008) compared OSA patients with depressive symptoms to OSA patients without depressive symptoms and found that OSA patients with depressive areas of brain injury. Research also indicates a connection between autobiographical memory and depressive symptoms (Mackinger & Svaldi, 2004). However, it is not known whether the depressive symptoms observed in OSA are caused by hypoxia or sleep fragmentation, or whether they have a separate aetiology. Thus, it is possible that depressive symptoms are not an independent contributor to cognitive impairment in OSA.

The primary aim of the present study was to determine the extent to which IH, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms are each independently associated with cognitive impairment in OSA.

3.2 Method and Materials

3.2.1 Study Participants

The study participants were patients who had been referred for overnight diagnostic PSG studies at the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre, King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. The following exclusion criteria were applied: 1) aged <18 years or >65 years; 2) current use of CPAP therapy; 3) a neurodegenerative disease (e.g. Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease); and/or 4) regularly sleeping less than 2 hours per night based on the AASM criteria, which recommend the minimum duration for PSG as 2 hours (Epstein et al., 2009). Ninety out of a sample of 100 patients who presented sequentially to the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre met the study inclusion criteria.

The study was approved by the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology University Human Research Ethics Committee (ethics reference number: HREC 21459) and the King Abdulaziz University Hospital Human Research Ethics Committee (ethics reference number: 395-18). Informed consent was obtained from all participants after they had received an explanation of the nature of the study at the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre.

3.2.2 Procedure and Measurements

After consenting to participating in the study and being admitted to the sleep laboratory, the participants' height and weight were measured by a nurse. Participants then completed a series of questionnaires designed to collect demographic data as well as information on daytime sleepiness and mood levels. Cognitive tests were conducted at 5:00 pm. The time to completion

all of the tests ranged from 40 to 45 minutes for all participants. The cognitive tests were administered in the following order: the PVT, Austin Maze and the autobiographical memory interview. Subjects were prepared for the polysomnography at 10:00 pm. This followed by a standard overnight PSG study. The same procedures and time of all tests and evaluations in the sleep laboratory were applied to the home studies.

3.2.3 Questionnaires

3.2.3.1 The Epworth Sleepiness Scale Arabic version (Ahmed et al., 2014; Johns, 1991)

This sleepiness scale assesses the general level of daytime sleepiness and is frequently used to assess the impact of sleep disorders. The scale consists of eight items, each rated from 0 to 3, with higher numbers indicating a higher chance of dozing. The scores from the eight items are summed to obtain an overall score. The minimum score is 0 and maximum is 24, higher scores reflect greater levels of sleepiness. Scores of less than 11 represent little or no daytime sleepiness; scores between 11 and 14 indicate mild daytime sleepiness; scores between 15 and 17 reflect moderate daytime sleepiness; and scores over 17 indicate severe daytime sleepiness.

3.2.3.2 Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale-21 (Arabic version) (Ali et al., 2017; Henry & Crawford, 2005)

This 21-item questionnaire is designed to measure the magnitude of three negative emotional states, including depression. The DASS depression subscale focusses on reports of low mood, motivation and self-esteem. Scores of 0–9 indicate the absence of depressive symptoms, 10-13 indicates mild depressive symptoms, 14–20 indicates moderate depression, more than 21-27 indicates severe depression and scores of 28 or more correspond to extremely serious depression. There is convergent validity between the DASS and the Beck depression and anxiety inventories (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995).

3.2.3.3 Polysomnography Evaluation

Overnight PSG (SOMNO Medics Plus, SOMNOmedics, Randersacker, Germany) was used to assess OSA. While most of the PSG studies were conducted at the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre, 15 studies were performed in patients' homes for reasons mainly related to patient convenience. The same PSG devices and procedures were used in these home studies as in the sleep centre. For all PSG studies, a sleep technician wired up PSG sensors half an hour before the sleep time. PSG employed a 10-channel recording montage (Fp1, Fp2, F3, F4, C3, C4, P3, P4, O1, O2) to measure EEG activity. Left and right EOG, ECG and submental EMG, oronasal airflow (using a thermal sensor and nasal pressure transducer), body position, thoracic and abdominal excursion (inductance plethysmograph), oxygen arterial blood saturation (SaO₂) measured with finger pulse oximetry, left and right leg movement (EMG channel) and a sound recorder were used.

3.2.4 Neurobehavioral Evaluation

3.2.4.1 10-Minute Psychomotor Vigilance Test (Dinges & Powell, 1985)

This computerised visual test evaluates the ability to sustain attention and respond with a button press in a timely manner to cues presented on a screen. The reliability and validity of the 10minute version of the test has been confirmed in previous studies (Dinges & Powell, 1985). The test is sensitive to sleep fragmentation and serves to indicate a sustained attention deficit (Jung, Ronda, Czeisler, Wright, 2011). Three PVT outcome measures were used in the present study: 1) mean RT; 2) mean of the slowest 10% RT; and 3) number of lapses with a RT >500 ms. If RT is >100 ms, it is measured as valid. If RT is \leq 100 ms or a response occurs without a stimulus being presented, this is recorded as a false start.

3.2.4.2 10-Trial Austin Maze (Milner, 1965)

This computerised maze measures visuospatial ability and visuospatial memory (Crowe et al., 1999; Stolwyk et al., 2013). Participants plot a course through a chequerboard maze by pushing buttons and identifying the correct order through trial and error. Each time the correct button is pushed, a green light is displayed; when an incorrect button is pushed, a red light is displayed; and a buzzer is sounded. The Austin Maze-errors were defined by the total number of missed blocks, and the Austin Maze-time corresponds to the total time spent in each trail. The current study allowed for a maximum of 10 trials because the literature shows a strong correlation between errors that occur up to the tenth trial of an experiment and errors to criterion (Bowden et al., 1992).

3.2.4.3 The Autobiographical Memory Interview (Kopelman et al., 1989)

This method measures both episodic and semantic memory. Memories were assessed for three stages in a participant's lifespan: childhood (before high school); early adulthood (usually including career, relationships, marriage and children); and recent life (acknowledging present and previous hospital or institution stays over the previous 5 years as well as the most recent holidays or journeys). Scoring was based on the autobiographical memory interview (AMI) guidelines (Kopelman, Wilson, & Baddeley, 1989). Regarding episodic memory, participants scored 3 for full recall that included specifics of time and place; 2 for recall that was personal but general; 1 for an unclear personal memory; and 0 for no answer or a semantic memory. There was a maximum of 9 points for each time period (total score maximum = 27). For semantic memory (e.g. names), responses were weighted according to the level of detail retained (e.g. house number, street name and district) with a maximum of 21 points for each time period (total maximum = 63). The AMI has a high level of accuracy, reliability and validity. The candidate has translated the English language version of the AMI results into

Arabic. Two other Arabic-speaking researchers reviewed the translation and suggested refinements in expression, phrasing and concepts. The AMI interviews were then translated into English by an independent bilingual translator with no knowledge of the topic. After the original and translated interviews were compared, no significant differences in the content were evident.

3.2.5 Analysis

Participant BMI calculations were based on the international standard of dividing weight in kilograms by height in metres squared (Nuttall, 2015). PSG recordings were scored using an algorithm, then checked by manually scoring all records according to the 2012 AASM scoring protocol (Berry, Brooks, et al., 2012). The description of abnormal breathing events during sleep was based on AASM recommendations (Berry, Budhiraja, et al., 2012). Breathing abnormalities were defined as follows: a decrease in airflow of 90% or higher from the baseline for at least 10 seconds (apnoea) and a discernible reduction in airflow of at least 30% of the pre-event baseline using nasal pressure, associated with a reduction in oxygen saturation of at least 3% and followed by either oxygen desaturation or an electroencephalographic arousal (hypopnoea), despite persistent effort of the chest and abdominal muscles to overcome the obstruction. The severity of OSA was estimated from the AHI. The degree of hypoxia was identified by SaO_2 time duration (in seconds) <90%. The degree of sleep fragmentation was assessed by the Arousal Index, calculated by dividing the total number of arousals by the duration of sleep (arousals/h). In addition, the duration of NREM sleep stages N1, N2 and N3, and the duration of the REM sleep stage, were analysed. Three PSG technicians verified all PSG scores to ensure the consistency of the scoring process. The technicians also randomly selected and scored cases to confirm inter-observer reliability and accuracy.

Test data for the PVT and AM were calculated using software algorithms developed for each task. The AMI scores were based on the AMI guidelines and were consecutively scored and revised by the same researcher, who followed the same calculation procedures for all participants. The degree of sleep fragmentation was assessed by the Arousal Index that ended apnoeic events.

Statistical analyses were performed with IBM SPSS version 26 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, US). Data for continuous variables were reviewed to determine whether any had extremely skewed distributions. Consequently, log transformation was performed to normalise the distribution of the following variables: PVT mean, PVT slowest 10% RT, AM time, AM errors, AMI childhood semantic memory, AMI adult early life memory and AMI recent life memory. The data were expressed as mean and SD for continuous variables, and as frequencies and percentages for categorical variables. ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc analysis was applied to identify significant differences between OSA severity groups (independent variables) and demographic variables (age, BMI and smoking), depressive symptoms, daytime sleepiness and PSG parameters (dependent variables). Between-group comparisons of categorical data were made using Pearson's chi-square tests. Simple linear regression was used to identify associations between SaO_2 time <90%, Arousal Index and depressive symptoms. A multiple linear regression was conducted to examine associations between depressive symptoms (dependent variables) and demographic data (independent variables). Pearson bivariate correlations were examined to demonstrate relationships between potential confounders and cognitive tests. Education and intelligence quotient were not included as confounders because they are collinear with age. Multiple linear regressions examined the associations between cognitive dysfunction and the variables of hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms after adjusting for confounders. All regression models were adjusted for multiple

comparisons using the FDR (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995), and multicollinearity was demonstrated using a VIF of <2.0. Only significant models are shown in Section 3.3.

3.3 Results

The PSG results showed that 14 of the 90 participants did not have OSA, 30 had mild OSA, 23 had moderate OSA and 23 had severe OSA. The mean patient age was 42.0 years (SD = 12.7), and the mean BMI was 33.4 (SD = 9.4).

Table 3.1 shows comparisons of the dependent variables, based on participants grouped according to their AHI score (14 no OSA, 30 mild OSA, 23 moderate OSA, 23 severe OSA). Participants in the severe OSA group were older than those in the non-OSA group. However, ESS score and depression did not increase significantly with OSA severity. BMI was not significantly different among the four groups. Significant differences were found between OSA severity groups for sleep parameters including SaO₂, time spent <90% and the Arousal Index. The percentage of the time durations of N1 sleep was significantly higher and REM sleep was significantly lower in severe group compared to the other OSA severity groups, whereas the duration of N2 sleep and N3 sleep did not differ between the groups.

	No OSA (n = 14)	Mild OSA (n = 30)	Moderate OSA (n = 23)	Severe OSA (n = 23)	
Variable	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	p-value
Age (years)	33.6 (14.2) ^{4,3}	38.7 (11.8)	46.8 (11.8) ¹	46.7 (10.3) ¹	.02
Body Mass Index	32.3 (12.4)	32.8 (8.3)	31.2 (8.4)	36.7 (9.5)	.22
Current smoker (%) ⁺	1 (7)	7 (23)	5 (22)	9 (39)	.16
DASS-21 depression subscale	8.0 (8.1)	13.5 (9.3)	11.6 (11.7)	11.3 (8.9)	.39
ESS	9.5 (5.2)	9.5 (4.3)	11.1 (7.1)	13.0 (7.1)	.13
SaO ₂ time <90% (mins)	0 (1) ⁴	2 (6) ⁴	9 (24) ⁴	30 (46) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
Arousal Index	1.3 (1.1) ^{3,4}	5.5 (4.6) ⁴	10.3 (4.9) ^{1,4}	26.0 (16.8) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
N1 sleep time duration (%)	$08(04)^4$	12 (8) ⁴	12 (7) ⁴	21 (13) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
N2 sleep time duration (%)	49 (10)	45 (12)	51 (15)	44 (14)	.25
N3 sleep time duration (%)	22 (09)	26 (13)	21 (16)	119 (20)	.53
REM sleep time duration (%)	14 (08) ⁴	09 (07)	07 (06)	06 (07) ¹	.04

Table 3.1 Comparison of demographic variables, depressive symptoms, daytimesleepiness and polysomnography parameters stratified by OSA severity group.

Note: Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) severity cut-off values: <5 AHI (normal); 5–14 AHI (mild); 15–29 AHI (moderate); \geq 30 AHI (severe); significant differences between groups were defined by ¹, p < .05 v. non-OSA; ², p < .05 v. mild OSA; ³, p < .05 v. moderate OSA; ⁴, p < .05 v. severe OSA; ⁺: Pearson chi-square. DASS-21: depression, anxiety and stress scale-21; ESS: Epworth sleepiness scale; SaO₂: oxygen arterial blood saturation; N1, sleep stage 1; N2, sleep stage 2; N3, sleep stage 3; REM: rapid eye movement sleep stage.

Simple linear regression analysis revealed a moderate significant relationship between SaO₂ time <90% and Arousal Index ($R^2 = 0.31$). Additionally, depressive symptoms were not correlated with any of the PSG factors (p > .05). However, multiple linear regression analysis (Table 3.2) showed that the amount of variation in depressive symptoms was accounted for by predictors (F (3,87) = 5.37, p = .002; Table 3.2). Age and BMI were not associated with depressive symptoms, which were only linked to daytime sleepiness.

Variable	R^2	p model	Predictor	SE	ß	sr	p-value
Depressive symptoms	0.16	<.01					
			Daytime sleepiness	0.16	0.38	0.38	<.01
			Age (years)	0.08	0.84	0.10	.40
			Body Mass Index	0.10	0.15	0.08	.15

 Table 3.2 Multiple linear regression analysis for the association between depressive symptoms and demographic variables, and daytime sleepiness.

 R^2 = models' multiple correlations; SE = standard error; β = standardised regression coefficient; sr = semi-partial correlation.

To identify potential confounding variables, Pearson bivariate correlation tests were conducted. The results revealed that age was positively associated with performance on all PVT and AM indices, as well as most of the stages of AMI episodic memories (total episodic memory, episodic early adult life memory and episodic recent life memory) but age was not associated with any stage of semantic memory. Smoking was positively associated with AM time and AMI episodic recent life memory. Daytime sleepiness was not associated with performance on any of the cognitive tests.

Multiple linear regression analyses were performed to determine whether hypoxia, depressive symptoms and sleep fragmentation independently influenced performance on the PVT, AM and AMI. The confounding variables (age and smoking status) associated with individual cognitive tests were included in the regression models in addition to the other independent factors.

After FDR adjustment, all models that included the variables of PVT, AM and AMI (total semantic memory, recent life semantic memory, total episodic memory and episodic recent life memory) remained significant (p < .05). Additionally, no model showed multilinearity according to VIF <2.0.

Accordingly, the results indicated that performance on all three PVT indices was associated with hypoxia and depressive symptoms, while sleep fragmentation was associated with mean PVT and PVT RT lapses >500 ms but not with PVT slowest 10% RT. Performance on AM time and AM errors was associated with depressive symptoms and sleep fragmentation but not with hypoxia (Table 3.3).

Table 3.3 Multiple linear regression analyses for the key measures on the Psychomotor Vigilance Task and Austin Maze test, showing the strength of association between scores on these tests and measures of hypoxia (SaO₂ time <90%), sleep fragmentation (Arousal Index) and depressive symptoms, after adjusting for confounders.

Cognitive test	R ²	p model	Predictor	SE	β	sr	p-value
PVT RT-mean	0.26	<.01*					
			Hypoxia	0.00	0.35	0.28	<.01
			Sleep fragmentation	0.54	0.26	0.21	.02
			Depressive symptoms	0.60	0.32	0.30	<.01
			Age (years)	0.47	0.24	0.22	.02
PVT RT slowest 10%	0.17	<.01*					
			Hypoxia	0.01	0.37	0.31	<.01
			Sleep fragmentation	1.93	0.16	0.13	.18
			Depressive symptoms	2.04	0.24	0.23	.02
PVT RT-lapses >500 ms	0.29	<.01*					
			Hypoxia	0.00	0.42	0.34	<.01
			Sleep fragmentation	0.06	0.24	0.18	.03
			Depressive symptoms	0.07	0.30	0.29	<.01
			Age (years)	0.06	0.20	0.19	.04
AM-time	0.40	<.01*					
			Hypoxia	0.00	0.14	0.12	.19
			Sleep fragmentation	0.14	0.22	0.18	.04
			Depressive symptoms	0.18	0.26	0.25	<.01
			Age (years)	0.13	0.59	0.56	<.01
AM-errors	0.24	<.01*					
			Hypoxia	0.08	0.07	0.07	.48
			Sleep fragmentation	0.28	0.22	0.22	.03
			Depressive symptoms	0.27	0.26	0.26	.01
			Age (years)	0.07	0.33	0.30	<.01
Cognitive test	R ²	p model	Predictor	SE	ß	sr	p-value
----------------	-----------------------	----------------	-----------	------	------	------	---------
			Smoking	1.81	0.21	0.02	.03

Note: *significant model (p < .05) after FDR adjustment; PVT: psychomotor vigilance test; RT: reaction time; ms: milliseconds; AM: Austin maze; R^2 = models' multiple correlations; SE = standard error; β = standardised regression coefficient; sr = semi-partial correlation.

The AMI, which measures episodic and semantic memory within life stages, did not show any relationships with either hypoxia or sleep fragmentation. However, depressive symptoms were positively associated with deficits in most of semantic and episodic total memory life stages. (Table 3.4).

Table 3.4. Multiple linear regression analysis of measures on the Autobiographical Memory Interview, showing the strength of association between scores on this test with measures of hypoxia (SaO₂ time <90%), sleep fragmentation (Arousal Index) and depressive symptoms, after adjusting for confounders.

Cognitive test	R^2	p model	Predictor	SE	β	sr	p-value
Total semantic memory	0.15	<.01*					
			Нурохіа	0.00	-0.02	-0.02	.84
			Sleep fragmentation	0.04	-0.18	-0.15	.15
			Depressive symptoms	0.05	-0.37	-0.37	<.01
Childhood semantic memory	0.30	.09					
			Hypoxia	0.00	.13	0.11	.31
			Sleep fragmentation	0.03	0.03	0.2	.84
			Depressive symptoms	0.03	-0.29	-0.29	<.01
Early adult life semantic memory	0.09	.04*					
			Hypoxia	0.00	-0.21	-0.18	.09
			Sleep fragmentation	0.22	0.22	0.18	.08
			Depressive symptoms	0.23	21	-0.20	.04
Recent life semantic memory	0.12	.02*					
			Hypoxia	0.00	-0.04	-0.01	.67
			Sleep fragmentation	0.02	-0.11	-0.13	.38
			Depressive symptoms	0.02	-0.27	-0.22	.01
			Smoking	0.49	-0.25	-0.24	.02

Cognitive test	R^2	p model	Predictor	SE	β	sr	p-value
Total episodic memory	0.14	.01 *					
			Hypoxia	0.00	-0.02	-0.02	.87
			Sleep fragmentation	0.06	-0.04	-0.03	.77
			Depressive symptoms	0.06	-0.24	-0.24	.02
			Age (years)	0.06	-0.30	-0.29	<.01
Episodic childhood memory	0.04	.35					
			Нурохіа	0.00	0.06	0.05	.67
			Sleep fragmentation	0.03	-0.2	-0.17	.87
			Depressive symptoms	0.38	-0.19	-0.19	.07
Episodic early adult life memory	0.10	.06					
			Hypoxia	0.00	-0.10	-0.8	.43
			Sleep fragmentation	0.02	0.07	0.06	.57
			Depressive symptoms	0.03	-0.18	-0.17	.12
			Age (years)	0.02	-0.25	-0.23	.02
Episodic recent life memory	0.12	.03*					
			Нурохіа	0.00	-0.06	-0.46	.65
			Sleep fragmentation	0.02	-0.02	-0.02	.87
			Depressive symptoms	0.03	-0.15	-0.17	.16
			Age (years)	0.20	-0.31	-0.29	<.01

Note: * significant model (p < .05) after FDR adjustment; R^2 = models' multiple correlations; SE = standard error; β = standardised regression coefficient; sr = semi-partial correlation.

3.4 Discussion

Ninety participants who had been sequentially admitted to a sleep clinic for an overnight diagnostic PSG were investigated to determine whether IH, sleep fragmentation and/or depressive symptoms are independently associated with cognitive impairments in OSA. The findings revealed that hypoxia and sleep fragmentation are independently associated with impairments in sustained attention and RT. Moreover, sleep fragmentation is independently associated with impairments in visuospatial ability. Depressive symptoms are independently

associated with impairments in the domains of sustained attention, RT, visuospatial ability and semantic and episodic memories.

3.4.1 Intermittent Hypoxia

IH is one of the prominent features of OSA and it has been extensively studied, since it has been linked to brain injury. After controlling for demographic variables, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms, the present study revealed that hypoxia is an independent contributor to impairments on the PVT. These findings are consistent with those of a larger study of 912 participants, which found that, after adjusting for demographic variables, the severity of IH was significantly associated with impaired performance on the PVT (Kainulainen et al., 2020). Similarly, a Japanese study reported that sleep related IH, as measured by the ODI, was significantly associated with deterioration in mean RT and number of lapses on the PVT (Tanno et al., 2017). It has also been shown that when healthy individuals are exposed to experimental hypoxia, they display slower RTs on the PVT task (Fowler et al., 1987). Collectively, these results support the conclusion that the severity of IH in OSA contributes to a slowing of response times and an impairment of sustained attention. It is noteworthy that neonatal hypoxia in rats leads to a reduction in the size of neurons in the amygdala, which in turn contributes to a loss of axons that contain corticotrophin-releasing factor and subserve attentional processes (Carty et al., 2010). Although it is not yet known whether similar neuronal changes occur in OSA, brain imaging studies have reported reductions in the volume of the amygdala in patients with severe OSA (H. Yu et al., 2019). The amygdala has been shown to play an important role in attentional processes (Baxter & Murray, 2002).

3.4.2 Sleep Fragmentation

The present study revealed that sleep fragmentation is independently associated with impairments in sustained attention and RT and visuospatial ability. These findings are in line with earlier studies. For instance, Bonnet and Arand (2003) found that sleep fragmentation is as effective as sleep deprivation at impairing psychomotor vigilance. Similarly, Ayalon, Ancoli-Israel and Drummond (2009) compared 14 patients with OSA with 14 healthy control individuals and reported that a higher Arousal Index is associated with slower mean RT and decreased brain activation. Further, although few studies have considered the mechanism behind the visuospatial deficits in OSA, a recent meta-analysis undertaken by Olaithe et al. (2018) concluded that visuospatial deficits are unique to OSA relative to other sleep disorders such as insomnia, and breathing disorders such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, suggesting that the mechanism of the visuospatial deficits in OSA might not be caused by hypoxia, hypocapnia or sleep deprivation. However, the present study found for the first time that sleep fragmentation is independently associated with visuospatial deficits. Thus, the current findings support Olaithe and colleagues' statement that 'insomnia may be a poor exemplar of chronic sleep fragmentation experienced in OSA' (p. 47).

3.4.3 Depressive Symptoms

The present study revealed that depressive symptoms are independently associated with slower response times and impairments in sustained attention, as indicated by poorer performance on the PVT and slower times and errors on the Austin maze. Although previous studies have not examined the influence of depression on sustained attention and RT in OSA patients, the present results are consistent with findings from studies of depressed patients. For example, a recent study of 1,569 depressive patients found that impaired performance on the PVT was associated with depressive symptomatology (Plante, Hagen, Ravelo, & Peppard, 2020).

Similarly, a study of young depressive patients who had not received antidepressant medication revealed that depression is associated with a slower speed of information processing (Tsourtos, Thompson, & Stough, 2002).

The current study also found that depressive symptoms are independently associated with impairments in visuospatial ability, as indicated by the number of errors and time taken on the Austin maze. This finding supports those of several studies of depressed patients. For example, Schock, Schwenzer, Sturm and Mathiak (2011) demonstrated that significantly depressed patients have impaired visuospatial ability. Among depressed patients, there was a strong positive relationship between depressive symptoms and visuospatial deficits (Nelson & Shankman, 2016).

The present study found that depressive symptoms are associated with impairments in semantic memory and to a lesser extent episodic memory, as indicated by poorer performance on the AMI. Interestingly, hypoxia and sleep fragmentation were not independently associated with impairments in autobiographical memory. Previous studies have shown that consolidation of semantic autobiographical memory is dependent on non-REM and REM sleep processes, both of which are attenuated in OSA patients as a result of fragmented sleep architecture (Horton & Malinowski, 2015). The present findings are consistent with those of Delhikar et al. (2019) who reported that depression is strongly associated with impairments in autobiographical memory in OSA patients. In contrast, V. V. Lee et al. (2016) found that impairments in autobiographical memory are not related to depressive symptoms in OSA. However, that study may have been limited by its small sample size and the fact that only older female patients were included.

The present findings support previous research showing that deficits in autobiographical memory recall are a psychological marker for depression (Kuyken & Dalgleish, 1995), and individuals who are non-depressed, but vulnerable to depression, retrieve less specific

Chapter 3

autobiographical information than never-depressed individuals (Williams & Dritschel, 1988). Although Lemogne et al. (2006) used a smaller sample size (n = 21) than the current study, they found that impairments in episodic memory were linked to depression, which is consistent with the present findings. The hippocampus is involved in episodic memory (Bird & Burgess, 2008), whereas semantic memory is supported by a distributed network of regions, including the anterior temporal lobes (Rice, Caswell, Moore, Hoffman, & Lambon Ralph, 2018). Therefore, these two forms of autobiographical memory appear to be associated with different brain regions.

The present study has shown that three factors (IH, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms) independently account for the cognitive impairments observed in OSA. In particular, since the depressive symptoms were associated with all cognitive tests included in this study the results indicate a major role for depressive symptoms, a factor that has been largely overlooked until now. The fact that depressive symptoms are an independent and primary contributor to impaired performance in a variety of cognitive domains in OSA raises questions about the cause of these depressive symptoms. In the present study, 16% of the variance in depressive symptoms could be accounted for by daytime sleepiness. This finding agrees with those of Ishman et al. (2010), who conducted a case–control study that controlled for race, sex, age and RDI, and found that higher daytime sleepiness was correlated with higher scores on the *Beck Depression Inventory*. Additionally, Macias et al. (2013) included 345 adult patients with OSA diagnosed by PSG in a cross-sectional study. They found that severity of depressive symptoms correlated directly with the severity of daytime sleepiness.

The present study showed that 85% of the variance in depressive symptoms could not be accounted for by EDS, and therefore must have other causes. Vitamin D deficiency is a possible candidate, since it is strongly linked to depression, and supplementation with vitamin D is

Chapter 3

associated with a reduction in depressive symptoms and cognitive impairment (Berk et al., 2007; Soni et al., 2012). Further, several studies have shown that vitamin D deficiency is common in obese individuals (Walsh, Bowles, & Evans, 2017) and in OSA (Bouloukaki et al., 2020). People with OSA often lack energy and are less likely to spend time outdoors involved in physical activity (Hong & Dimsdale, 2003). Given that Saudi Arabia has a high incidence of vitamin D deficiency (Bokhari & Albaik, 2019) because of the indoor lifestyle, it may be fruitful to explore this possibility in a future study.

Although the present study is novel, it has several limitations. First, the sample size of the non-OSA group was smaller than that of the OSA group. Thus, it is possible that the smaller number of participants without OSA decreased the statistical power. Second, even though performance on the three chosen cognitive tests was correlated with OSA severity, these tests do not span all cognitive domains, Thus, the other cognition domains that were not tested in the current study might also be affected by OSA severity. Finally, since the present study did not image the brains of the participants, it was unable to correlate the observed cognitive deficits with structural changes. It would be interesting to conduct further studies to address these limitations.

3.5 Conclusion

This study investigated the independent roles of hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms in cognitive dysfunction in OSA. The analysis revealed that depressive symptoms are associated with impairments in sustained attention, RT, visuospatial ability, and autobiographical memory. Hypoxia and sleep fragmentation are associated with deficits in sustained attention and RT, while sleep fragmentation but not hypoxia is associated with visuospatial deficits. The current findings suggest that cognitive impairment in OSA has

multiple causes, and the reversal of this cognitive impairment may require interventions that simultaneously address all factors.

Chapter 4: Association Between Nocturnal Activity of the Sympathetic Nervous System and Cognitive Performance in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

Abstract

OSA is a disorder associated with repetitive obstructions of breathing during sleep. These episodes of hypoxia and associated arousals from sleep induce physiological stress and lead to over-activation of the SNS. Cognitive impairment is common among OSA patients and affects their capacity to perform tasks effectively and efficiently. Previous investigations of cognitive impairment in OSA have focussed on the contributions of IH and disrupted sleep but have not addressed nocturnal over-activation of the SNS. The present study investigated whether nocturnal over-activity of the SNS is associated with cognitive impairments in OSA. The extent of nocturnal SNS activation was estimated from HRV, PWA and stress response biomarkers (urine and blood cortisol, and blood glucose). PSG analysis of 78 participants revealed that 12 did not have OSA, 27 had mild OSA, 17 had moderate OSA and 22 had severe OSA. The findings demonstrated that OSA severity (AHI) is significantly associated with PWA indices (p < .001) and HRV (p = .03), and both are linked to the Arousal Index. Morning blood glucose levels were significantly (p = .01) associated with the amount of time with SaO₂ <90%. PWA and HRV were significantly associated with the time taken to perform a task involving visuospatial function (p < .05), but not with impairments in sustained attention, RT or autobiographical memory. Morning blood glucose level was not associated (p > .05) with any cognitive impairment. The results suggest that some of the visuospatial dysfunction observed in people with OSA may be due to increased nocturnal SNS activity. Thus, interventions that reduce the nocturnal activation of the SNS may improve visuospatial function in patients with OSA.

4.1 Introduction

OSA is sleep-related breathing disorder that involves repetitive obstruction of breathing during sleep, caused by narrowing and/or complete collapse of the upper airway. These episodes of IH followed by arousal from sleep provoke a stress response, as indicated by increased activation of the SNS. One of the consequences of OSA is impairment in a wide range of cognitive abilities, including memory, attention, psychomotor speed and visuospatial skills (Bilyukov et al., 2018). Studies of OSA patients, including the present thesis (Chapter 3), have shown that hypoxia and sleep fragmentation contribute to this impairment (Bucks et al., 2013; Canessa et al., 2011; Tamilarasan et al., 2019; Verstraeten, 2007). Studies of healthy middle-aged subjects have demonstrated that SNS over-activity can be associated with cognitive impairment (Shah et al., 2011), but it is not known whether nocturnal over-activation of the SNS contributes to cognitive impairment in OSA.

When healthy individuals fall asleep, the level of activation of the SNS decreases, and heart rate and BP reduce accordingly (Somers, Dyken, Mark, & Abboud, 1993). In OSA patients, the activation of the nocturnal SNS is increased as a function of the duration and severity of apnoeic events rather than just by the stages of sleep (Narkiewicz & Somers, 2003). HRV is a measure of small differences in the time interval between individual heartbeats and indicates the relative activity of the sympathetic and parasympathetic systems (Catai et al., 2020). Sequeira et al. (2019) measured HRV in adult OSA patients and confirmed that people with OSA exhibit reduced vagal tone and higher sympathetic sensitivity. Decreases in PWA are another indicator of increased activation of the SNS (Delessert et al., 2010). The PWA signal is measured via plethysmography, which is linked to blood flow in the fingers (Burch, 1954). PWA drops are used to detect vasoconstriction, which reflects autonomic activation (Catcheside et al., 2002; Haba-Rubio et al., 2005). Randerath et al. (2016) found that untreated

96

OSA patients displayed more drops in PWA during sleep than OSA patients who received treatment with CPAP. Blood and urine levels of cortisol and glucose increase as a result of the stress response during sleep in OSA (Buckley & Schatzberg, 2005; Lee et al., 2015). Adherence to CPAP treatment has been shown to decrease the titres of these stress biomarkers in OSA patients (Hedner, Darpo, Ejnell, Carlson, & Caidahl, 1995).

The present study examined whether nocturnal over-activation of the SNS (measured by HRV, PWA, morning glucose and cortisol levels) is associated with impairments in the domains of sustained attention, RT, autobiographical memory and visuospatial skills, and whether SNS over-activation is correlated with OSA severity.

4.2 Method and Materials

4.2.1 Study Participants

All 78 participants had been referred to the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre, King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia for overnight PSG studies. Potential participants were excluded if they: 1) used CPAP therapy; 2) had been diagnosed with a neurodegenerative disease, such as Alzheimer's disease or/and Parkinson's disease; 3) usually slept less than 2 hours per night (AASM recommends a minimum sleep duration for a valid PSG is 2 hours per night) (Epstein et al., 2009).

Ethics approval to conduct this study was obtained from the Human Research Ethics Committee of the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology University (ethics reference number: HREC 21459), and from the King Abdulaziz University Hospital Human Research Ethics Committee (ethics reference number: 395-18). All participants provided written consent to participate in the study after indicating that they understood the nature of the study.

4.2.2 Procedure and Measurements

After participants were admitted to the sleep laboratory, height and weight were measured, and they completed a series of questionnaires designed to collect demographic information, and to assess daytime sleepiness and mood levels. Subsequently, cognitive tests were conducted at 5:00 pm. The time to completion all of the tests ranged from 40 to 45 minutes for all participants. The cognitive tests were administered in the following order: the PVT, Austin Maze and the autobiographical memory interview. Subjects were prepared for the polysomnography at 10:00 pm. After subjects awoke at 6:00 am, blood and urine samples were taken to measure first morning sample urinary and blood cortisol levels and fasting blood glucose levels. The same procedures and time of all tests and evaluations in the sleep laboratory were applied to the home studies.

4.2.3 Questionnaires

4.2.3.1 The Epworth Sleepiness Scale Arabic version (Ahmed et al., 2014; Johns, 1991)

This sleepiness scale assesses general level of daytime sleepiness and is frequently used with OSA patients. The questionnaire contains eight items, each scored from 0 to 3; with higher numbers representing higher levels of sleepiness and the eight items summed to give an overall score. The minimum score is 0 and maximum is 24, scores of 0–10 indicate no sleepiness; scores of 11–14 indicate mild sleepiness; 15–17 indicates moderate sleepiness; and scores above 17 indicate severe daytime sleepiness.

4.2.3.2 Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale-21 (Arabic version) (Ali et al., 2017; Henry & Crawford, 2005)

The DASS-21 assesses the level of three emotional states: depression, anxiety and stress. The DASS depression subscale is sensitive to levels of mood, motivation and self-esteem. There is

convergent validity between the DASS depression and anxiety subscales and the Beck depression and anxiety inventories (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995). Scores of 0–9 indicate an absence of depressive symptoms, 10-13 corresponds to mild depressive symptoms, 14–20 indicates moderate depression, more than 21-27 indicates severe depression and scores of 28 or more correspond to extremely serious depression.

4.2.3.3 Polysomnography Evaluation

Overnight PSG (SOMNO Medics Plus, SOMNOmedics, Randersacker, Germany) was used to evaluate sleep duration and quality, breathing and other sleep-related parameters. Most participants underwent PSG studies in the sleep laboratory, but five participants underwent home sleep studies. Home sleep studies employed the same PSG devices and procedures as used in the sleep laboratory and were performed for reasons related to patient convenience and mobility. For all PSG studies, a sleep technician applied the PSG sensors 30 minutes before sleep time. PSG consisted of continuous recordings from surface leads for EEG, EOG, EMG (from muscles in the submental space and the tibialis anterior muscles bilaterally) and ECG. A thermocouple device was used to measure nasal pressure and oral airflow, chest and abdominal impedance belts were used to measure respiratory muscle effort, a pulse oximeter was used to assess SaO₂ and pulse wave, a tracheal microphone was used to measure snoring, and body position sensors measured the sleep position. PSG studies were repeated for three participants (using the procedures outlined above) because of technical issues and loss of data during the initial studies.

4.2.4 Autonomic Nervous System Measurements

4.2.4.1 Heart Rate Variability

HRV is derived from analysis of the intervals between regular heartbeats (NN intervals) (McCraty & Shaffer, 2015) to measure ANS activity (Sztajzel, 2004). The spectrum of RR intervals was analysed within three frequency bands: very LF: deceleration capacity–0.04 Hz; LF: 0.04–0.15 Hz; and HF: 0.15–0.4 Hz. Earlier studies indicated that HRV HF power mainly indicates the activity of the PNS, while HRV LF power predominately indicates activity of the SNS (Camm et al., 1996; Thayer, Yamamoto, & Brosschot, 2010). However, more recent studies have indicated that HRV LF can be influenced, to some extent, by parasympathetic activity (Goldstein et al., 2011; Sassi et al., 2015). In addition, HRV HF may show unstable results as a measure of PNS activity that may be attributed to individual differences, the nature of breathing and sleeping posture (Akselrod, 1995; Hirsch & Bishop, 1981; Malpas, 2002; Taylor et al., 1998). Malliani (2006) suggested that the HRV LF/HF ratio be considered an index of sympatho-vagal balance.

4.2.4.2 Pulse Wave Amplitude

PWA is a signal obtained from finger plethysmography that is directly and positively associated with blood flow (Burch, 1954). Decreases in PWA can indicate increased sympathetic activation (Grote, Zou, Kraiczi, & Hedner, 2003; Jaryal, Selvaraj, Santhosh, Anand, & Deepak, 2009). A \geq 30% drop in the PWA has been recommended as the cut-off for identifying arousals and respiratory events in OSA (Haba-Rubio et al., 2005; Zacharia et al., 2008).

4.2.4.3 Biochemical Markers

The stress response during sleep was assessed from the first-morning sample of urine (urinary cortisol) and serum cortisol and glucose. The urine sample was collected using a sanitised kit and the venous blood sample was taken from a median cubital vein between 5:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. The blood sampling was done by a nurse, and urine and blood samples were stored for no longer than 2 hours at 2–8°C prior to assay.

4.2.5 Neurobehavioral Evaluation

4.2.5.1 10-Minute Psychomotor Vigilance Test (Dinges & Powell, 1985)

This computerised visual test evaluates the ability to sustain attention and respond rapidly with a button press to cues presented on a digital screen. The reliability and validity of the 10-minute version of the test has been confirmed in previous studies (Dinges & Powell, 1985). The test is sensitive to sleep fragmentation and identifies lapses of sustained attention (Jung et al., 2011). Three outcome measures were used: 1) mean RT; 2) mean of the slowest 10% RT; and 3) number of lapses with RT >500 ms. An RT >100 ms is considered valid; a false start is recorded when RT is <100 ms or when a response occurs without stimulus presentation.

4.2.5.2 10-Trial Austin Maze (Milner, 1965)

This computerised maze measures visuospatial ability and visuospatial memory (Crowe et al., 1999; Stolwyk et al., 2013). Participants plot a course through a chequerboard maze by pushing buttons and identifying the correct order through trial and error. Each time the correct button is pushed, a green light is displayed; when an incorrect button is pushed, a red light is displayed and a buzzer sound. The Austin Maze-errors were defined by the total number of missed blocks, and the Austin Maze-time was defined as the total time spent in every trail. The current study allowed for a maximum of 10 trials because the literature shows a strong correlation between

errors that occur up to the tenth trial of an experiment and errors to criterion (Bowden et al., 1992).

4.2.5.3 The Autobiographical Memory Interview (Kopelman et al., 1989)

This method assesses both episodic and semantic memory. For present purposes, memories of three time points in each participant's lifespan were assessed: childhood (before high school); early adulthood (including career, relationships, marriage and children); and recent life (including present and previous hospital or institution stays over the previous 5 years as well as recent holidays or journeys). Scoring was based on published guidelines (Kopelman et al., 1989). In the case of episodic memory, participants received a score of 3 for full recall that included specifics of time and place; 2 for recall that was personal but general; 1 for an unclear personal memory; and 0 for no answer or a semantic memory. The maximum possible score for each time period was 9, and the maximum total score was 27. In the case of semantic memory (e.g. names), responses were weighted for the level of detail retained (e.g. house number, street name and district). The maximum possible score for each time period was 21 points, and the maximum total was 63. The AMI is known to achieve high levels of accuracy, reliability and validity (Kopelman et al., 1989). AMI has been translated from English language version into Arabic; two Arabic-speaking researchers reviewed the translation and suggested refinements in terms of expression, phrasing and concepts. The interviews were then translated into English by an independent bilingual translator with no knowledge of the topic. Comparison of the original and translated interviews revealed no significant differences in content or meaning.

4.2.6 Analysis

BMI was estimated according to the international standard (Nuttall, 2015). The PSG studies were scored manually according to the AASM 2012 scoring protocol (Berry, Brooks, et al.,

2012). The classification of abnormal breathing events was based on AASM recommendations (Berry, Budhiraja, et al., 2012). Apnoeas were defined as greater than 90% reduction in airflow from the baseline for at least 10 seconds, while hypopnoeas were defined as a discernible reduction in airflow of at least 30% of the pre-event baseline using nasal pressure, and an associated reduction in oxygen saturation of at least 3%, followed by either oxygen desaturation or an electroencephalographic arousal, despite the persistent effort of the chest and abdominal muscles to overcome the obstruction. The severity of OSA was estimated from the AHI. The degree of hypoxia was based on the cumulative time (in seconds) spent with SaO₂ below 90%, while the degree of sleep fragmentation was assessed by the Arousal Index calculated by dividing the total number of arousals by the number of hours of sleep. In addition, the duration of NREM sleep stages N1, N2, and N3; and the duration of the REM sleep stage were analysed. Three PSG technicians verified all PSG scores to ensure the quality of the scoring process. The technicians also randomly selected and scored cases to confirm inter-observer reliability and accuracy.

HRV was analysed using Lab Chart-Pro analysis software (AD Instruments, Sydney, Australia). During PSG, the ECG was continuously acquired at 1 kHz. The ECG record for the entire night's sleep was divided into 5-minute segments for analysis. Noise (e.g. from body movement) was manually removed. The remaining normal-to-normal RR intervals were analysed using the Fast Fourier Transform algorithm.

The plethysmography data were extracted at 128 Hz during PSG and artefacts were removed using Lab Chart-Pro analysis software (AD Instruments, Sydney, Australia). Analysis was limited to PWA drops of \geq 30% for more than 3 seconds and less than 60 seconds (Hirotsu et al., 2020). Nocturnal SNS activity was estimated via two measures: 1) PWA drop index during sleep, calculated by dividing the number of PWA drops into the number of sleep hours; and 2)

PWA drop time duration index, calculated by dividing the cumulative time spent within PWA drops into the number of sleep hours.

Biochemical markers including urine cortisol, and serum cortisol and glucose were analysed in a single laboratory by the same biochemist. The biochemist was blind to participants' OSA severity. Cortisol samples were analysed using an Atellica IM Cortisol analyser using a sample volume of 20 μ L. Serum glucose was analysed using the Dimension Vista® 500 system; the sample volume was 1.2 μ L. The μ g/dL units were converted to mmol/L for easy readability.

Statistical analysis was conducted using SPSS version 26 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, US). Continuous data were checked for normality. Variables found to be non-normally distributed were log-transformed prior to statistical analysis: HRV LF/HF ratio, PVT slowest 10%, AM time, AM errors, AMI childhood semantic memory, AMI adult early life memory and AMI recent life memory. The data were expressed as mean and SD for continuous variables and as frequencies and percentages for categorical variables. ANOVA using Bonferroni post-hoc analysis was used to determine significant differences between groups based on OSA levels and demographic variables, depressive symptoms, daytime sleepiness, nocturnal SNS indices and PSG parameters. Between-group comparisons of categorical data were made using Pearson's chi-square tests. As a pre analysis, simple linear regressions were performed to determine the strength of associations between nocturnal SNS indices and OSA severity. Correlation analysis was conducted to identify associations between possible confounders and performance on cognitive tests. Simple linear regression was applied to assess the relationship between OSA severity and SNS indices. Multiple linear regression examined associations between nocturnal SNS indices and cognitive performance. All models were corrected for multiple comparisons with the FDR (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995), and multicollinearity was demonstrated using a VIF of <2.0. Accordingly, the statistical significance was reported for

models that had p < .05 after having been adjusted for multiple comparisons with the FDR and/or models that showed no multicollinearity, as assumed with a VIF of <2.0.

4.3 Results

Seventy-eight participants met the inclusion criteria (51 males and 27 females) (age M = 41.33, SD = 13.0 years; mean BMI, M = 33.2, SD = 9.2 kg/m²). The PSG results revealed that 12 of the 78 participants did not have OSA, 27 had mild OSA, 17 had moderate OSA and 22 had severe OSA.

Table 4.1 compares demographic, daytime sleepiness, nocturnal SNS indices and PSG data between the four OSA severity groups. The severe and moderate OSA groups were significantly older than were those in the non-OSA group. BMI, depression and ESS scores varied little among OSA severity groups. In terms of PSG, both SaO₂ time spent below 90%, and the Arousal Index increased significantly with OSA severity (AHI). The percentage of the time duration for sleep stages, in N1 sleep was higher and REM sleep was lower in OSA severe group compared to the other OSA severity groups. For N2 sleep and N3 sleep time duration percentage, there were no significant variances between the groups found. In terms of nocturnal SNS indices, both the PWA drop index and PWA drop duration index increased significantly as OSA severity increased. In addition, the HRV HF/LF ratio was significantly higher in the severe OSA group than in the non-OSA group. Moreover, blood glucose levels were not markedly high among the OSA severity groups.

	Non-OSA (n = 12)	Mild OSA $(n = 27)$	Moderate OSA (n = 17)	Severe OSA (n = 22)	
Variable	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	p-value
Age (years)	33.1 (14.8) ^{3,4}	38.6 (11.1)	44.7 (12.3) ¹	46.4 (10.4) ¹	.01
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	30.2 (9.7)	32.2 (8.1)	32.5 (8.8)	37.1 (9.7)	.11
Current smoker (%) ⁺	1 (8)	6 (23)	4 (16)	9 (47)	.15
DASS-21 depression subscale	8.3 (8.3)	13.3 (9.7)	10.9 (10.7)	11.6 (9.0)	.49
ESS	9.2 (5.3)	9.6 (4.4)	10.5 (6.9)	13.3 (6.4)	.10
Oxygen Desaturation Index	2.6 (1.8) ⁴	9.4 (6.7) ⁴	16.3 (13.6) ⁴	47.6 (25.4) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
SaO ₂ durations <90% (sec)	0 (1) ⁴	2 (6) ⁴	11 (28) ⁴	32 (46) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
Arousal number (index)	1.4 (1.1) ^{3,4}	5.5 (4.8) ⁴	12.2 (4.9) ^{1,4}	26.3 (16.8) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
N1 sleep time duration (%)	08 (04) ⁴	12 (8) ⁴	12 (7) ⁴	21 (13) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
N2 sleep time duration (%)	49 (10)	45 (12)	51 (15)	44 (14)	.25
N3 sleep time duration (%)	22 (09)	26 (13)	21 (16)	119 (20)	.53
REM sleep time duration (%)	14 (08) ^{3,4}	09 (07)	07 (06) ^{1,4}	06 (07) ⁴	.01
PWA drop number (index)	2.9 (3.3) ⁴	3.4 (3.5) ⁴	5.9 (5.5) ⁴	11.3 (9.0) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
PWA drop time duration (index)	2.1 (2.6) ⁴	2.8 (2.8) ⁴	4.7 (4.7) ⁴	9.3 (7.0) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
HRV LF/HF ratio (log)	0.1 (0.6) ⁴	0.04 (0.8)	0.04 (0.7)	$0.7 (0.8)^1$.03
Morning urine cortisol (mmol/L)	75.1 (67.5)	91.9 (142.2)	107.9 (174.3)	155.8 (173.2)	.40
Morning blood cortisol (mmol/L)	232.3 (115.1)	247.8 (132.3)	289.9 (137.5)	296.9 (133.1)	.17
Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)	5.2 (0.9)	6.0 (2.3)	5.4 (1.0)	6.2 (2.6)	.41

Table 4.1 Comparison of demographic variables, depression, daytime sleepiness, PSGparameters and nocturnal SNS indices by OSA severity group.

Note: OSA severity cut-offs were: 5–14 AHI (mild); 15–29 AHI (moderate); \geq 30 AHI (severe); significant differences between groups were defined by ¹, *p* < .05 v. non-OSA; ², *p* < .05 v. mild OSA; ³, *p* < .05 v. moderate OSA; ⁴, *p* < .05 v. severe OSA; log: logarithmic transformation; ⁺: Pearson's chi-square; DASS-21: depression, anxiety and stress scale–21; ESS: Epworth sleepiness scale; SaO₂: arterial blood oxygen saturation; PWA: pulse wave amplitude; HRV: heart rate variability; LF: low frequency; HF: high frequency; N1: sleep stage 1; N2: sleep stage 2; N3: sleep stage 3; REM: rapid eye movement sleep stage.

Morning urine cortisol, morning blood cortisol and blood glucose did not display a significant increase in association with OSA severity.

PWA indices were analysed by linear regression, the results showed that those with more frequent drops in PWA and who spend more time with very low PWA also have the most severe OSA ($R^2 = 0.36$) (Figure 4.1a), and with PWA drop time duration index ($R^2 = 0.39$)

(Figure 41b). Additionally, there was a weak association between AHI and the HRV LF/HF ratio ($R^2 = 0.09$) (Figure 4.1c).

Simple linear regressions were performed to examine the associations between the nocturnal SNS indices. The results revealed that the HRV LF/HF ratio was associated weakly with both the PWA index ($R^2 = 0.12$) and PWA time duration index ($R^2 = 0.10$).

Multiple linear regression analyses were performed to examine the relationships between nocturnal SNS indices (PWA, HRV and blood glucose) and BMI, age and PSG parameters (SaO₂ time <90% and Arousal Index) (Table 4.2). All regression models were significant (p < .05), even after FDR adjustments, and they showed no multicollinearity (VIF < 2.0), with the exception of urine and blood cortisol models. The results showed that nocturnal PWA was significantly associated with the Arousal Index. In addition, the HRV LF/HF ratio was associated with age and the Arousal Index. However, morning blood glucose was only significantly related to SaO₂ time <90%.



Figure 4.1 The relationship between OSA severity (AHI) and PWA index (a); PWA drop time duration (b); HRV ratio (log) (c). OSA: Obstructive Sleep Apnoea; AHI: Apnoea–Hypopnoea Index; PWA: Pulse Wave Amplitude; HRV: Heart Rate Variability; LF: Low Frequency; HF: High Frequency; log: logarithm transformation.

Table 4.2 Multiple regression analysis including age, SaO₂ time <90%, Arousal Index and Body Mass Index in the model to predict the nocturnal pulse wave amplitude, heart rate variability, and first-morning samples of cortisol and glucose levels, and after applying FDR corrections for multiple comparisons.

Variable	R^2	p model	Predictor	SE	ß	sr	p-value
PWA drop index	0.40	<.01*					
			Body Mass Index	0.08	0.13	0.12	.22
			Age (years)	0.06	0.09	0.09	.35
			Arousal number (index)	0.06	0.56	0.46	<.01
			SaO ₂ time <90%	0.00	0.10	0.81	.38
PWA drop time index	0.37	<.01*					
			Body Mass Index	0.06	0.09	0.09	.37
			Age (years)	0.04	0.07	0.06	.50
			Arousal number (index)	0.05	0.57	0.38	<.01
			SaO ₂ time <90%	0.00	0.05	0.43	.65
HRV LF/HF ratio (log)	0.25	<.01*					
			Body Mass Index	0.00	0.08	0.08	.53
			Age (years)	0.00	0.37	0.35	<.01
			Arousal number (index)	0.00	0.37	0.32	<.01
			SaO ₂ time <90%	0.00	0.20	0.16	.14
Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)	0.26	<.01*					
			Body Mass Index	0.02	0.08	0.08	.46
			Age (years)	0.02	0.08	0.08	.54
			Arousal number (index)	0.02	0.15	0.13	.22
			SaO ₂ time <90%	0.00	0.33	0.32	.01

Note: *significant model (p < .05) after FDR adjustment; log: logarithmic transformation; R^2 = models' multiple correlations; β = standardised regression coefficient; PWA: pulse wave amplitude; HRV: heart rate variability; LF: low frequency; HF: high frequency; SaO₂: arterial blood oxygen saturation.

Factors that were not related to OSA severity or OSA parameters were excluded from further analysis. To identify confounders that were correlated with cognitive test results, Pearson's correlation tests were applied to reveal variables that were confounders with the cognitive test variables. The results indicated that age was linked to most of the PVT indices and all the AM indices. However, AMI age was only linked to semantic memory stage (total episodic memory,

episodic early adult life memory and episodic recent life memory). Smoking was positively correlated with AM errors and semantic recent life memory, but ESS scores were not correlated with performance in any cognitive tests.

Multiple linear regression analyses were used to determine the effects of the nocturnal SNS indices (PWA indices, HRV LF/HF ratio and morning blood glucose) on the PVT, AM and AMI indices after controlling for hypoxia, sleep fragmentation, depression and the demographic confounding variables (age and smoking status) (Tables 4.3 and 4.4). None of the regression models displayed multicollinearity (VIF < 2.0). After FDR adjustment for multiple comparisons, models that included the PVT, AM and some of the AMI indices (total semantic memory and recent life episodic memory) remained significant (p < .05). However, performance on the PVT, AMI and AMI errors were not associated with any of the nocturnal SNS indices, whereas performance on the AMI time was associated with the PWA index, PWA drop time duration index and HRV LF/HF.

Table 4.3 Multiple linear regression analyses showing the association between the psychomotor vigilance test and Austin Maze and the sympathetic nervous system activity indices.

Cognitive test	R ²	Predictors	SE	β	sr	p-value
PVT RT-mean						
	0.29	PWA drops (index)*	4.08	0.14	0.11	.32
	0.29	PWA drops time durations (index)*	1.36	0.06	0.04	.68
	0.32	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)*	8.52	0.08	0.07	.54
	0.29	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)*	3.37	0.04	0.04	.72
PVT slowest 10%						
	0.22	PWA drops (index)*	1.09	0.04	0.03	.77
	0.21	PWA drops time durations (index)*	5.05	0.04	0.04	.77
	0.26	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)*	28.68	0.11	0.09	.37
	0.22	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)*	12.50	0.14	0.12	.25
PVT RT-10-lapses >500ms						
	0.37	PWA drops (index)*	0.11	0.09	0.07	.42
	0.36	PWA drops time durations (index)*	0.11	0.01	0.01	.90
	0.39	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)*	0.90	0.02	0.07	.87
	0.36	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)*	0.35	0.04	0.04	.70
AM-time						
	0.43	PWA drops (index)*	0.29	0.29	0.22	.01
	0.41	PWA drops time durations (index)*	0.37	0.24	0.19	.04
	0.45	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)*	2.76	0.29	0.24	.01
	0.39	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)*	0.92	0.09	0.08	.40
AM-errors						
	0.29	PWA drops (index)*	0.15	0.12	0.09	.35
	0.27	PWA drops time durations (index)*	0.19	0.08	0.01	.88
	0.30	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)*	1.40	0.07	0.06	.60
	0.29	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)*	0.49	0.14	0.12	.29

Note:*significant model (p <0.05) after false discovery rate adjustment; The model was adjusted for demographic cofounders, hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms; R^2 =the models' multiple correlations; SE=standard error; β =standardized regression coefficient; sr=semi-partial correlation; log=logarithmic transformation; PVT, psychomotor vigilance test; RT, reaction time; AM, Austin Maze; ms, milliseconds; PWA, pulse wave amplitude; HRV, heart rate variability; LF, low frequency; HF, high frequency; mins, minutes.

Table 4.4 Multiple linear regression analyses of the association between autobiographical memory interview indices and sympathetic nervous system activity indices.

Cognitive test	R ²	Predictors	SE	β	sr	p-value
Total semantic memory						
	0.12	PWA drops (index)	0.09	0.04	0.03	.76
	0.12	PWA drops time durations (index)	0.06	0.02	0.02	.89
	0.16	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)	0.73	0.01	0.01	.92
	0.14	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)	0.27	0.01	0.01	.93
Childhood semantic memory						
	0.12	PWA drops (index)	0.05	0.01	0.01	.99
	0.12	PWA drops time durations (index)	0.06	0.02	0.02	.88
	0.20	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)	0.39	0.16	0.15	.19
	0.12	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)	0.15	0.01	0.01	.91
Early adult life semantic memory						
	0.08	PWA drops (index)	0.05	0.06	0.05	.70
	0.08	PWA drops time durations (index)	0.06	0.03	0.02	.83
	0.13	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)	0.39	0.17	0.16	.18
	0.08	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)	0.15	0.09	0.08	.47
Recent life semantic memory						
Recent file semantic memory	0.13	PWA drops (index)	0.04	0.05	0.04	71
	0.13	PWA drops time durations (index)	0.04	0.00	0.00	.71
	0.15	HRV L E/HE ratio (log)	0.05	0.00	0.03	.95
	0.13	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)	0.14	0.05	0.05	66
Total episodic memory	0.115	moning brood gracose (minor 2)	0.11	0.00	0.05	.00
	0.17	PWA drops (index)	0.12	0.06	0.05	.66
	0.14	PWA drops time durations (index)	0.15	0.05	0.04	.71
	0.16	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)	1.01	0.22	0.19	.10
	0.14	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)	0.36	0.09	0.08	.48
Episodic childhood memory						
	0.01	PWA drops (index)	0.05	0.02	0.02	.88
	0.02	PWA drops time durations (index)	0.06	0.00	0.00	.99
	0.03	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)	0.43	0.12	0.11	.35
	0.02	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)	0.00	0.05	0.05	.67
Episodic early adult life memory						
	0.17	PWA drops (index)	0.05	0.13	0.10	.36
	0.10	PWA drops time durations (index)	0.06	0.09	0.08	.50

Cognitive test	R^2	Predictors	SE	ß	sr	p-value
	0.09	HRV LF/HF ratio (log)	0.43	0.16	0.14	.27
	0.09	Morning blood glucose (mmol/L)	0.15	0.03	0.02	.84
Episodic recent life memory						
	0.20	PWA drops (index)*	0.05	0.07	0.06	.59
	0.18	PWA drops time durations (index)*	0.06	0.07	0.05	.62
	0.10	HRV LF/HF ratio $(\log)^*$	0.40	0.15	0.13	.26
	0.10	Morning blood glucose $(mmol/L)^*$	0.14	0.12	0.09	.36

Note: *significant model (p <0.05) after false discovery rate adjustment; The model was adjusted for demographic cofounders, hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms; R^2 =the models' multiple correlations; SE=standard error; β =standardized regression coefficient; sr=semi-partial correlation; log=logarithmic transformation.

4.4 Discussion

The present study estimated nocturnal over-activity of the SNS through a variety of measures that included PWA, HRV and stress response biomarkers (first-morning urinary and blood cortisol, and blood glucose samples). The results showed that PWA and HRV are linked to OSA severity, and both are associated with the Arousal Index. In contrast, morning blood glucose levels are associated only with the time spent with an SaO₂ <90%. In terms of cognitive impairment, nocturnal over-activity of the SNS, as measured by PWA and HRV, is linked to visuospatial dysfunction, but not to sustained attention, RT or autobiographical memory. Morning blood glucose is not associated with any cognitive impairment.

The present study confirmed previous reports that nocturnal over-activity of the SNS is associated with OSA severity. A systematic review of Sequeira et al. (2019) confirmed that adults with OSA could have nocturnal reduced vagal tone and higher sympathetic activity. Moreover, Wang, Chen, Cao, Guo and Dong (2006) found that arousal from sleep influences cardiovascular regulation, as measured by HRV. Although the LF/HF ratio is regarded by some as an unreliable marker of SNS activity (Billman, 2013), the current study found a strong association between the LF/HF ratio and the arousals induced by OSA events, indicating that the LF/HF ratio is sensitive to the increased stress caused by apnoeic events. The present study

showed that the LF/HF ratio increases with age, and this finding might help to explain the variable reports on the reliability of the LF/HF ratio in OSA, as age is rarely treated as a confounding factor. Interestingly, a study of awake healthy subjects reported that the LF/HF ratio is unaffected by age in either sex (Agelink, Baumann, Akila, & Ziegler, 2001), which raises the possibility that the effect of age is only evident during sleep.

In contrast to the equivocal views on the utility of HRV, drops in PWA are widely considered a reliable indicator of nocturnal SNS over-activation (Haba-Rubio et al., 2005). Similar to the present results, which showed that PWA indices were predicted by OSA severity and particularly by arousals associated with respiratory events, Delessert et al. (2010) found that the drops in PWA observed in OSA are strongly linked to increased arousals from sleep. In addition, Adler et al. (2013) stated that PWA drops are sensitive indicators of EEG micro-arousals associated with respiratory events. The current study did not find a strong association between PWA and the LF/HF ratio, indicating that they are independent measures. The fact that the present study found that drops in PWA are associated with arousals and with OSA severity lends support to the validity of the LF/HF ratio as a measure of nocturnal SNS activation, since it was also associated with arousals and OSA severity.

The findings of the present study are aligned with those of earlier studies of OSA patients that reported that blood glucose concentrations are associated with the time spent with a SaO₂ <90%. For instance, a retrospective study conducted by Al-Abri, Al-Lawati, Al-Alawi and Al-Manairi (2011) of 116 males and 64 females found that T2D was significantly correlated with time spent with SaO₂ <90%. Further, according to Priou et al. (2012), increased hypoxemia during sleep is independently associated with the levels of glycosylated haemoglobin among non-diabetic OSA patients. Collectively these results indicate that the stress associated with

 $SaO_2 < 90\%$ is sufficient to elevate blood glucose levels for sustained periods of time, such that they remain elevated upon waking.

Despite confirming a relationship between morning blood glucose levels and time spent with $SaO_2 < 90\%$, glucose levels were not associated with any cognitive impairments. Previous studies of patients without OSA reported a strong relationship between blood glucose and memory impairments (Weinstein et al., 2015) and visuospatial dysfunction (van Duinkerken & Ryan, 2020). The lack of such a relationship in the present study is probably the result of two factors. First, the cognitive tests were conducted in the evening, by which time the blood glucose levels may have decreased. Second, the morning blood glucose levels were only mildly elevated in the present study, with most values falling within the normal or pre-diabetic range (<7.0 mmol/l), whereas in studies showing a relationship with cognition, patients had much higher glucose levels (i.e. in the diabetic range).

In the current study, HRV and PWA were associated with impairments on a test of visuospatial function, supporting the link between nocturnal over-activity of the SNS and visuospatial dysfunction. A systematic review of HRV and cognitive dysfunction in non-OSA patients by Forte, Favieri, et al. (2019) concluded that lower HRV was associated with poor visuospatial implementation. In contrast, Idiaquez et al. (2014) reported that performance on the Trail Making Test-B, which measures visuospatial skills (Allen, Owens, Fong, & Richards, 2011), and nocturnal over-activation of the SNS, were not related to each other in OSA (Idiaquez et al., 2014). It is unclear why Idiaquez and colleagues did not find a correlation between visuospatial deficits and over-activation of the nocturnal SNS, whereas the present study did. This difference may be due to the larger sample size in the current study, Idiaquez and colleagues' recruitment of a male-only sample, or the different measures of visuospatial function used in the two studies. Additionally, only the current study has controlled for the

cofounders that may have led to the contrasting results between the two studies. Regardless of the reason, the present study revealed a robust relationship between SNS over-activation during sleep in OSA patients, and their performance during wakefulness on the AM. This new finding indicates that nocturnal over-activity of the SNS should be taken into consideration in future studies of cognitive impairment in OSA.

Previous studies of healthy subjects have reported a relationship between sympathetic overactivation and poorer performance on tests of memory (Frewen et al., 2013; Shah et al., 2011) and RT (Mahinrad et al. (2016). The present study did not find such associations. This may be because other studies examined the effects of acute stress on cognitive performance, whereas the present study examined the effect of chronic nocturnal stress on cognitive performance during wakefulness, when stress levels were not elevated. It is pertinent that the levels of cortisol in the blood and urine of the patients in this study were not associated with any measure of OSA severity or cognitive performance. This lack of a relationship indicates that these patients were not physiologically stressed at the time of waking. It follows that the relationship observed between nocturnal over-activity of the SNS and visuospatial dysfunction was not the result of acute stress but some other factor, such as the elevations in nocturnal BP that accompany apnoeic episodes (Gąsecki, Kwarciany, Nyka, & Narkiewicz, 2013), and that are involved in brain injury (Swan, Carmelli, & Larue, 1998). BP as a mechanism for cognitive dysfunction in OSA, will be extensively discussed in the next Chapter.

The present study has limitations that should be considered in future studies. First, the non-OSA group was smaller than the OSA group. Although this difference was negated using correlational analyses that treated OSA severity as a continuous variable rather than a categorical variable, it is possible that the smaller number of participants without OSA decreased the statistical power. Second, blood glucose and cortisol measurements were based

116

on samples taken upon waking, and it is possible that a more dynamic picture of SNS overactivation could have been obtained by continuously sampling blood throughout the night. Third, the current study did not include any brain imaging, such as MRI, so it was not possible to correlate the observed cognitive deficits with structural changes. It is hoped that future studies will address these limitations.

4.5 Conclusion

This study examined whether there are associations between nocturnal over-activity of the SNS and cognitive impairments in OSA. The study revealed that PWA and the HRV LF/HF ratio are associated with OSA severity, and both are linked to the Arousal Index; whereas morning blood glucose levels are associated with the time spent with an SaO₂ <90%. It was found that SNS over-activity during sleep, as measured by PWA and HRV, is linked to visuospatial dysfunction among OSA patients. Morning blood glucose was not related to impairments on any of the cognitive tests used. These findings suggest that increased SNS activity during sleep contributes to visuospatial dysfunction in OSA. Accordingly, interventions that reduce the nocturnal activation of the SNS may improve visuospatial function in these individuals.

Chapter 5: Association Between Nocturnal Peaks of Blood Pressure and Cognitive Performance in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

Abstract

OSA is characterised by recurrent episodes of partial or complete cessation of breathing during sleep and an increased effort to breathe. OSA induces repeated spikes of nocturnal BP as a result of increased activity of the SNS during sleep. High resting BP is associated with disruptions in the structure and functioning of the cerebral blood vessels and with cognitive dysfunction. While cognitive impairment is relatively common in OSA, it is not known whether peaks in nocturnal BP are associated with such impairment. In this study, a cohort of patients participated in overnight PSG studies at a major sleep laboratory investigating whether nocturnal elevations in BP are associated with cognitive dysfunction in OSA. Nocturnal BP was continuously measured by PTT. Of the 75 participants, 12 had no OSA, 26 had mild OSA, 18 moderate OSA and 19 severe OSA. The results revealed that SBP peaks were associated with poorer performance on a test of visuospatial function, but not with impairments on tests of sustained attention, RT or autobiographical memory. In conclusion, the present results indicate that nocturnal peaks of SBP that are substantially higher than normal daytime values may contribute to visuospatial dysfunction in OSA.

5.1 Introduction

OSA refers to sleep-disordered breathing characterised by repeated collapse of the upper airway (Epstein et al., 2009). According to recent estimates, the global prevalence of OSA ranges from 9% to 38% in middle-aged individuals (Senaratna et al., 2017). Cognitive

Chapter 5

dysfunction is a prominent comorbidity of OSA that negatively affects daytime functioning. People with OSA are twice as likely as healthy peers to have difficulty concentrating, performing repetitive tasks and acquiring new knowledge (Ulfberg et al., 1996). These impairments have been attributed to the detrimental effects of sleep fragmentation and IH (Bucks et al., 2013; Canessa et al., 2011; Tamilarasan et al., 2019; Verstraeten, 2007); however, these factors are only able to account for 30–40% of the variance, so additional factors must be involved. One possible factor is systemic hypertension, which in midlife has been strongly linked to impairments in visuospatial abilities, motor speed and attention (Iadecola & Gottesman, 2019), and elevated SBP has been linked to decreased regional and brain volumes, with further reductions in volume noted over time (Firbank et al., 2007; Leritz et al., 2011). The present study is the first to examine the association between overnight peaks in BP and cognitive dysfunction in OSA.

Patients with OSA often display some degree of hypertension at rest, and the severity of resting hypertension increases with OSA severity (M. Ahmad, Makati, & Akbar, 2017). In addition, studies that have continuously monitored BP during sleep have reported that overnight BP in OSA patients can be considerably higher than resting BP (M. Ahmad et al., 2017); consequently, the resting BP in these patients may not be an accurate indicator of hypertensive risk. As these peaks in nocturnal BP are undetectable during waking, they represent an occult form of hypertension that has potential to cause organ damage during sleep. Indeed, increasing OSA severity is associated with a greater risk of cardiovascular diseases including strokes and cardiac arrhythmias (Mehra et al., 2006; Munoz et al., 2006), and there is strong evidence that nocturnal BP is more closely linked than waking BP to the risk of emerging organ damage and future cardiovascular events (Asayama et al., 2019). As the gold standard treatment for OSA, CPAP significantly reduces nocturnal BP (Dimsdale, Loredo, & Profant, 2000).

Chapter 5

People without OSA typically display a 10–15% drop in their BP during sleep, in a pattern known as 'dipping' that is determined as the average of the BP value over a nocturnal period. However, nocturnal BP dipping is absent from most OSA patients, and a lack of dipping is associated with a significant increase in the probability of nocturnal peaks in BP (Ahmad et al., 2017). These peaks result from increased activity of the SNS in response to the physiological stress caused by intermittent episodes of hypoxia and arousal from sleep (Bisogni, Pengo, Maiolino, & Rossi, 2016). Nevertheless, Almeneessier et al. (2020) found that increased SBP and DBP are expected following an obstructive event, and their values are higher with increased severity of O2 desaturation.

Until recently, researchers used 24-hour ABPM, which records BP at regular intervals (usually every 15 or 30 minutes). However, ABPM is uncomfortable and can disturb sleep patterns, thereby preventing the BP from dipping (Agarwal & Light, 2010). Further, the temporal resolution provided by ABPM is too coarse to provide an accurate assessment of BP peaks associated with apnoeic events. More recently, researchers have used PTT as a non-invasive measure of beat-to-beat BP (Almeneessier et al., 2020; Gehring et al., 2018; Zhang, Gao, & Mukkamala, 2011). Measures of nocturnal BP obtained with the PTT method are highly correlated with those obtained from the Portapres system that measures BP using a finger cuff (Hennig et al., 2012), indicating the validity of PTT for continuous measurement of BP.

The primary aim of this study was to investigate the association of nocturnal peaks in BP with cognitive dysfunction in patients with clinically verified OSA.

120

5.2 Method and Materials

5.2.1 Participants

The study participants were patients aged 18–65 years who had been referred for nocturnal diagnostic PSG studies at the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre, King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. The following exclusion criteria were applied: 1) current use of CPAP therapy; 2) a neurodegenerative disease (e.g. Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease); and/or 3) regularly sleeping less than 2 hours per night (for a PSG time duration, the AASM recommends a minimum sleep duration of 2 hours per night; Epstein et al., 2009).

The study was approved by the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology University Human Research Ethics Committee (ethics reference number: HREC 21459) and the King Abdulaziz University Hospital Human Research Ethics Committee (ethics reference number: 395-18). Informed consent was obtained from all participants after they had received an explanation of the nature of the study at the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre.

5.2.2 Procedure and Measurement

After consenting to participate and following admission to the sleep laboratory participants completed a series of questionnaires designed to collect demographic details and information about daytime sleepiness and depressive symptoms. This was followed by a battery of cognitive assessments. Cognitive tests were conducted at 5:00 pm. The time taken to complete all tests ranged from 40 to 45 minutes. The cognitive tests were administered in the same order to all participants. Prior to the sleep study (a standard nocturnal PSG study), participants' height, weight and resting BP (systolic and diastolic) using a sphygmomanometer were recorded. The same procedures and timing of all tests and evaluations in the sleep laboratory applied during all home studies.

5.2.3 Questionnaires

5.2.3.1 The Epworth Sleepiness Scale Arabic version (Ahmed et al., 2014; Johns, 1991)

This scale assesses daytime sleepiness and is frequently used with OSA patients. The scale consists of eight items, each rated from 0 to 3, with higher numbers indicating a higher chance of dozing. Scores on these eight items are summed to calculate an overall score. The minimum score is 0 and maximum is 24. In general, a higher score indicates greater levels of sleepiness; scores of less than 11 indicate little or no daytime sleepiness; scores of 11–14 indicate mild daytime sleepiness; scores of 15–17 reflect moderate daytime sleepiness; and scores greater than 17 indicate severe daytime sleepiness.

5.2.3.2 Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale-21 (Arabic version) (Ali et al., 2017; Henry & Crawford, 2005)

This 21-item questionnaire is designed to measure the magnitude of three negative emotional states, including depression. The DASS depression subscale captures reported low mood, motivation and self-esteem. There is convergent validity between the DASS and Beck depression and anxiety inventories (Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995). Scores of 0–9 indicate a lack of depressive symptoms, 10-13 indicate mild depressive symptoms, 14–20 indicate moderate depression, more than 21-27 indicates severe depression and scores of 28 or more correspond to extremely serious depression.

5.2.3.3 Polysomnographic Evaluation

Overnight PSG (SOMNO Medics Plus, SOMNOmedics, Randersacker, Germany) was used to assess sleep duration and quality, as well as breathing and other sleep-related parameters.
Chapter 5

Seventy-two of the PSG studies were conducted at the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre; for reasons related mainly to patient convenience, three studies were performed in patients' homes, using the same devices and procedures. In all cases, a sleep technician applied the PSG sensors 30 minutes before sleep time. Using surface leads, the PSG made continuous recordings of EEG, EOG, and ECG data, as well as EEG data from muscles in the submental space and bilaterally from the tibialis anterior muscles. EEG activity was measured using 10-channel recording montage (Fp1, Fp2, F3, F4, C3, C4, P3, P4, O1 and O2) and left/right electrooculography. The nasal pressure was recorded, and nasal and oral airflow were measured by thermocouple device; chest and abdominal impedance belts were used to measure respiratory muscle effort; a pulse oximeter was used to measure SaO2 and pulse wave; a tracheal microphone was used to measure snoring; and body position sensors were used to capture sleep position. The same procedure was repeated in two cases because of technical issues and loss of data at the first attempt.

5.2.3.4 Blood Pressure Measurement

Resting systolic and DBP were measured by standard methods using a digital sphygmomanometer (OMRON, Kyoto, Japan) and PTT using a SOMNOmedics device. Both measurements (resting BPs) were recorded in a sitting position prior to sleep. The first recorded value for the PTT was taken as the resting BP value. The baseline BP was defined as the first recorded value of the PTT at sleep onset. Normal or pre-hypertension is classified as SBP <140 and DBP <90; grade 1 hypertension, SBP 140–159 and DBP 90–99; grade 2 hypertension, SBP 160–179 and DBP 100–109; and grade 3 hypertension, SBP >79 and DBP >109 (Gabb et al., 2016). Beat-to-beat nocturnal BP was analysed automatically using DOMINO software based on a non-linear pulse wave velocity–SBP function in combination with initial BP calibration.

Peaks in nocturnal SBP and nocturnal DBP were taken as the highest value observed during the night.

5.2.3.5 Continuous Blood Pressure Measurement

Continuous nocturnal BP (beat-to-beat) was measured by SOMNOscreen plus, which has been validated in accordance with the European Society of Hypertension protocol (Bilo et al., 2015), using PTT (Gehring et al., 2018). PTT is calculated from the time interval between ECG R-waves and the corresponding pulse wave as detected by pulse oximetry using finger photoplethysmography. Resting SBP and DBP was measured by PTT and by digital sphygmomanometer, while overnight BP was measured continuously with PTT.

The data of PTT were included for 75 subjects for SBP peaks and 61 subjects for DBP peaks. 14 of DBP peaks were excluded due to the artifact and/or missed data. The data of the resting SBP and DBP measured by sphygmomanometer were included for all 75 subjects. However, at the end of the study, we noticed that the resting PTT data from many participants, especially that related to DBP, was distorted by artifacts caused by interference from mobile phone signals. Consequently, resting SBP and DBP measured by PTT included data for only 55 subjects for SBP and only 40 subjects for DBP.

5.2.4 Neurobehavioral Evaluation

5.2.4.1 10-Minute Psychomotor Vigilance Test (Dinges & Powell, 1985)

This computerised visual test evaluates the ability to sustain attention and respond with a button press in a timely manner to cues that are presented on a screen. The reliability and validity of the 10-minute version of the test has been confirmed in previous studies (Dinges & Powell, 1985). The test is sensitive to sleep fragmentation and identifies any sustained attention deficit (Jung et al., 2011). Three outcome measures were used: 1) mean RT; 2) mean of the slowest 10% RT; and 3) number of lapses with RT >500 ms. An RT >100 ms is considered valid; a false start is recorded when RT is <100 ms or when a response occurs without stimulus presentation.

5.2.4.2 10-Trial Austin Maze (Milner, 1965)

This computerised maze measures visuospatial ability and visuospatial memory (Crowe et al., 1999; Stolwyk et al., 2013). Participants plot a course through a chequerboard maze by pushing buttons and identifying the correct order through trial and error. Each time the correct button is pushed, a green light is displayed; when an incorrect button is pushed, a red light is displayed, and a buzzer is sounded. The Austin Maze-errors was defined as the total number of missed blocks and the Austin Maze-time was defined as the total time spent in every trail. The current study allowed for a maximum of 10 trials because the literature shows a strong correlation between errors that occur after the tenth trial of an experiment and errors to criterion (Bowden et al., 1992).

5.2.4.3 The Autobiographical Memory Interview (Kopelman et al., 1989)

This method assesses both episodic and semantic memory. For present purposes, memories of three points in the person's lifespan were assessed: childhood (before high school); early adulthood (usually including career, relationships, marriage and children); and recent life (including present and previous hospital or institution stays over the previous 5 years as well as recent holidays or journeys). Scoring was based on published guidelines (Kopelman et al., 1989). In the case of episodic memory, participants scored 3 for full recall that included specifics of time and place; 2 for recall that was personal but general; 1 for an unclear personal memory; and 0 for no answer or a semantic memory. The maximum possible score for each time period was 9, and the maximum total score was 27. In the case of semantic memory (i.e. names), responses were weighted for level of detail retained (e.g. house number, street name

and district). The maximum possible score for each time period was 21 points, and the maximum total was 63. The AMI is known to achieve high levels of accuracy, reliability and validity. The candidate has translated the English language version into Arabic; two other Arabic-speaking researchers reviewed the translation and suggested refinements in terms of expression, phrasing and concepts. The interviews were then translated into English by an independent bilingual translator with no knowledge of the topic. Comparison of the original and translated interviews revealed no significant differences in content or meaning.

5.3 Analysis

Calculation of participants' BMI was based on the international standard, dividing weight in kilograms by height in metres squared (Nuttall, 2015). PSG recordings were scored using an algorithm and were then checked manually by scoring all records according to the AASM 2012 scoring protocol (Berry, Brooks, et al., 2012). The description of abnormal breathing events during sleep was based on AASM recommendations (Berry, Budhiraja, et al., 2012). Breathing abnormalities were defined as follows: a decrease in airflow of 90% or higher from the baseline for at least 10 seconds (apnoea) and a discernible reduction in airflow of at least 30% of the pre-event baseline using nasal pressure, associated with a reduction in oxygen saturation of at least 3%, followed by either oxygen desaturation or electroencephalographic arousal (hypopnoea) despite persistent efforts to overcome the obstruction using the chest and abdominal muscles. OSA severity was estimated using the AHI. Degree of hypoxia was assessed as SaO₂ duration (in seconds) <90%. The degree of sleep fragmentation was assessed by the Arousal Index, which was calculated by dividing the total number of arousals by the duration of sleep (arousals/h). In addition, duration of NREM sleep stages N1, N2 and N3 and duration of REM sleep was analysed. Three PSG technicians verified all PSG scores to ensure

the quality of the scoring process. The technicians also randomly selected and scored cases to confirm inter-observer reliability and accuracy.

Performance on the PVT and AM was analysed using software algorithms developed for these tasks. AMIs were scored according to the published guidelines and were consecutively scored and revised by the same researcher, using the same calculation procedures for all participants.

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 26 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, US). Data from continuous variables were reviewed to determine whether any had extremely skewed distributions. Log transformation was performed to normalise the distribution of the following variables: PVT mean, PVT slowest 10%, AM time, AM errors, AMI childhood semantic memory, AMI adult early life memory, AMI recent life memory. The data were expressed as mean and *SD* for continuous variables and as frequencies and percentages for categorical variables. ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc analyses were used to identify significant differences between groups based on OSA levels and demographic variables, depressive symptoms, daytime sleepiness, BP indices and PSG parameters. Between-group comparisons of categorical data were performed using Pearson's chi-square tests.

Simple linear regression was conducted to: 1) examine the relationship between resting BP measured by PTT and sphygmomanometer; and 2) demonstrate the association between OSA severity and BP indices. Multiple linear regression analysis was used to: 1) identify the factors associated with nocturnal peaks of SBP; 2) identify any association between OSA severity and the mean of variances between baseline and peaks of SBP; 3) assess associations between nocturnal peaks of SBP and cognitive tests. Regression models were corrected for multiple comparisons with the FDR (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995).

Regression models were defined as significant if p < .05 and they showed low multicollinearity as indicated by a VIF of <2.0.

5.4 Results

Seventy-five participants (52 males and 23 females) who presented sequentially to the Sleep Medicine and Research Centre met the inclusion criteria for this study. Their mean age was 41.1 (SD = 13.0) years, and their mean BMI was 33.2 (SD = 9.3). The PSG results indicated that 12 participants did not have OSA, 26 had mild OSA, 18 had moderate OSA and 19 had severe OSA.

Table 5.1 compares the dependent variables based on participant AHI levels. While those in the severe and moderate OSA groups were older than those in the non-OSA group, ESS and depression scores did not increase significantly with OSA severity. BMI did not differ significantly across the four groups, but there were significant differences between the OSA severity groups in terms of sleep parameters, including SaO₂ time <90% and Arousal Index. Sleep stage N1 time duration percentage was significantly higher in the severe groups compared with all other groups. However, REM sleep, N2 sleep and N3 sleep stages time duration percentages were not significantly different between groups. Resting SBP and DBP were significantly higher in the severe OSA group than in the non-OSA group, and nocturnal SBP peaks not DBP peaks was higher in the severe OSA group.

	Non-OSA	Mild OSA	Moderate OSA	Severe OSA)	
	(n = 12)	(n = 26)	(n = 18)	(n = 19)	
Variable	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	p-value
Age (years)	32.7 (14.8) ^{3,4}	39.4 (12.1)	45.8 (12.4) ¹	45.7 (11.0) ¹	.01
Body Mass Index	30.0 (9.0)	32.1 (8.0)	32.8 (8.6)	37.8 (10.3)	.09
Current smoker (%) ⁺	1 (8)	6 (23)	3 (16)	9 (47)	.07
DASS-21 depression subscale	8.1 (8.1)	13.6 (9.7)	11.0 (10.7)	11.5 (9.4)	.55
ESS	9.5 (5.4)	9.2 (4.5)	11.2 (7.1)	13.0 (7.1)	.17
SaO ₂ time <90% (mins)	0 (1) ⁴	2 (6) ⁴	11 (27) ⁴	30 (43) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
Arousal Index	1.3 (1.1) ^{3,4}	5.5 (4.6) ⁴	10.3 (4.9) ^{1,4}	26.0 (16.8) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
N1 sleep time duration (%)	08 (04) ⁴	12 (8) ⁴	12 (7) ⁴	21 (13) ^{1,2,3}	<.01
N2 sleep time duration (%)	49 (10)	45 (12)	51 (15)	44 (14)	.25
N3 sleep time duration (%)	22 (09)	26 (13)	21 (16)	119 (20)	.53
REM sleep time duration (%)	14 (08) ^{3,4}	09 (07)	07 (06) ⁴	06 (07) ⁴	.01
Resting SBP (mmHg)	124.1 (16.1) ⁴	132.3 (15.1)	130.1 (18.2)	140.1 (15.1) ¹	.04
Resting DBP (mmHg)	67.1 (9.2) ⁴	72.1 (9.2)	70.3 (9.1)	77.1 (7.1) ¹	.02
Nocturnal peaks of SBP (mmHg)	146.1 (23.1) ⁴	165.1 (25.1)	157.0 (20.1) ⁴	180.0 (35.1) ^{1,3}	.01
Nocturnal peaks of DBP (mmHg) ^a	83.3 (8.3)	84.3 (8.6)	84.2 (8.6)	88.0 (8.1)	.46

Table 5.1 Comparison of demographic variables, and depressive symptoms, daytime sleepiness, PSG parameters and blood pressure indices, stratified by OSA severity.

Note: OSA severity cut-offs are; 5–14 AHI (mild); 15–29 AHI (moderate); \geq 30 AHI (severe); significant differences between groups was defined by ¹, p < .05 v. non-OSA; ², p < .05 v. mild OSA; ³, p < .05 v. moderate OSA; ⁴, p < .05 v. severe OSA; ^a: total n = 61: non-OSA (n = 8), mild OSA (n = 22), moderate OSA (n = 14), severe OSA (n = 17); DASS-21: *depression, anxiety and stress scale*–21; ESS: *Epworth sleepiness scale; Scale*; SaO₂: oxygen arterial blood saturation; BP: blood pressure; SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; +: Pearson's chi-square, N1: sleep stage 1; N2: sleep stage 2; N3: sleep stage 3; REM: rapid eye movement sleep stage.

Linear regression analysis indicated a strong relationship between the resting BP measured by a sphygmomanometer and estimated by PTT for both SBP ($R^2 = 0.89$) (Figure 5.1a) and DBP ($R^2 = 0.83$) BP (Figure 5.1b) (p < .001). Estimates from the PTT method were, on average, higher than sphygmomanometer measurements (+5.0 mmHg [SD = 3.4] for DBP and +3.2 mmHg [SD = 2.3] for DBP).



Figure 5.1 Relationship between resting SBP (a) and DBP (b) measured by sphygmomanometer and PTT. SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; PTT: pulse transit time.

Sample linear regression analysis revealed that SBP baseline and peaks were significantly correlated ($R^2 = 0.54$) (Figure 5.2a), as are DBP baseline and peaks ($R^2 = 0.55$) (Figure 5.2b).



Figure 5.2 Relationship between baseline blood pressure and nocturnal peaks of SBP (a); DBP (b).SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure.

It is notable that in all cases, nocturnal peaks of SBP and DBP were higher than resting BP (recorded prior to sleep), indicating that these patients lacked a dipping pattern of BP during sleep as a result of OSA events. In the case of SBP, this difference ranged between +2 and +86 mmHg (mean 33.2, *SD* 18.6); for DBP, the difference ranged from +1 to + 29 mmHg (mean 11.4, *SD* 6.2) (Figure 5.2). The increase in nocturnal BP meant that many patients met the criteria for a higher grade of hypertension, particularly for SBP. For instance, prior to sleep, the majority of participants (68%) had normotension, and none met the criteria for grade 3 hypertension, yet during sleep 25% of participants met this criterion (Table 5.2).

	Normal or pre-hypertension	Grade 1 hypertension	Grade 2 hypertension	Grade 3 hypertension
Resting SBP	51 (68%)	18 (24%)	6 (8%)	0 (0%)
Nocturnal peak SBP	12 (16%)	27 (36%)	17 (23%)	19 (25%)
Resting DBP	72 (96%)	2 (3%)	1 (1%)	0 (0%)
Nocturnal peak DBP	39 (64%)	21 (34%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)

Table 5.2 Descriptive data for hypertension status prior to and during sleep time: number of participants (percentage of sample).

SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; normal or pre-hypertension (SBP <140 and DBP <90); grade 1 hypertension (SBP 140–159; DBP 90–99); grade 2 hypertension (SBP 160–179; DBP 100–109); grade 3 hypertension (SBP >179; DBP >109).

Sample linear regression analysis showed that the magnitude of the difference between baseline and nocturnal peak SBP was significantly associated with OSA severity as measured by AHI $(R^2 = 0.37)$ (Figure 5.3a). In contrast, the difference between the baseline and peak DBP demonstrated no significant relationship with OSA severity ($R^2 = 0.0001$) (Figure 5.3b).

Multiple linear regression analyses were performed to examine the associations between nocturnal peaks of SBP and DBP, and BMI and PSG parameters (SaO₂ time <90% and Arousal Index) (Table 5.3). The results showed a significant amount of variation in nocturnal peak SBP (F(4,71) = 9.85, p = .0005), nocturnal peak DBP (F(4,52) = 3.19, p = .02) and mean difference between the baseline and nocturnal peak of SBP (F(4,71) = 4.20, p = .006). However, no significant variation was found in mean difference between baseline and nocturnal peaks of SBP (F(4,52) = 0.09, p = .98). The results showed significant associations between nocturnal peak SBP and BMI and the Arousal Index, while the mean difference between baseline and nocturnal peak of DBP was significantly associated with age, the mean difference between baseline DBP and nocturnal peaks of DBP was not associated with any of the variables included in the model; nor were those other variables associated with the nocturnal peaks of SBP and DBP. In the

absence of any significant relationship with OSA severity, DBP peaks were excluded from further multiple regression analyses related to cognitive tests.



Figure 5.3 Relationship between the severity of OSA (AHI) and mean variance between baseline and peaks of SBP (a) and DBP (b). SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure.

Variable	R ²	p model	Predictor	SE	β	sr	p-value
Nocturnal peaks of SBP (mmHg)	0.36	<.01					
			Age (years)	0.22	0.15	0.14	.15
			Body Mass Index	0.33	0.41	0.37	<.01
			Arousal Index	0.25	0.31	0.26	<.01
			SaO ₂ time <90%	0.00	0.08	0.06	.50
Nocturnal peaks of DBP (mmHg)	0.19	.02					
			Age (years)	0.09	0.43	0.40	<.01
			Body Mass Index	0.12	0.05	0.05	.68
			Arousal Index	0.09	0.05	0.04	.71
			SaO ₂ time <90%	0.00	0.04	0.32	.79
Mean difference between baseline and nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.32	<.01					
			Age (years)	0.18	0.11	0.10	.36
			Body Mass Index	0.26	0.21	0.18	.11
			Arousal Index	0.19	0.40	0.36	<.01
			SaO ₂ time <90%	0.00	0.01	0.01	.91

Table 5.3 Multiple linear regression analysis including age, SaO2 time <90%, Arousal</th>Index and BMI modelled to predict nocturnal peaks of blood pressure.

 R^2 = models' multiple correlations; SE = standard error; β = standardised regression coefficient; sr = semi-partial correlation; SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure.

To determine confounders that were correlated with cognitive tests, Pearson bivariate correlation tests were conducted. The results indicated that age was correlated with performance on the mean PVT RT and PVT lapses >500 ms. AM and most AMI episodic memory stages (total episodic memory, episodic early adult life memory and episodic recent life memory) were also linked to age, but age was not linked to any of the semantic memory stages. Smoking was only correlated with AM errors and AMI semantic recent life memory, and daytime sleepiness was not correlated with performance on any of the cognitive tests. The confounding variables that were associated with individual cognitive tests were subsequently included in regression models, in addition to the independent factors.

Prior to reporting the multiple linear regression results, corrections for multiple comparisons were made using the FDR adjustment. All models of PVT, AM indices and some of the AMI measures (total semantic memory and total episodic memory) remained significant (p < .05). Moreover, all models showed no multilinearity according to VIF <2.0.

The results revealed no significant associations between any PVT measures and nocturnal peak SBP, or between any PVT measure and the difference between resting and peak nocturnal SBP (Table 5.4). However, a significant relationship was observed between SBP and performance on the AM (Table 5.4). Specifically, time taken on the AM was positively correlated with magnitude of the difference between resting and peak nocturnal SBP. In addition, the number of errors made on the AM was positively correlated with both nocturnal peak SBP and the magnitude of the difference between resting SBP and peak nocturnal BP. For the remaining significant models, no significant associations were found between AMI and BP measures (Table 5.5).

Table 5.4 Multiple linear regression analyses of the association between psychomotor vigilance and Austin maze test indices and blood pressure indices (adjusted for demographic cofounders, hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms), after applying FDR corrections for multiple comparisons.

Cognitive test	Model	R ²	p model	Predictor	SE	β	sr	p-value
PVT RT-mean								
	1	0.35	<.01*	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.25	0.01	0.00	.93
	2	0.35	<.01*	Mean difference between baseline and nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.35	0.03	0.02	.81
PVT slowest 10%								
	1	0.28	<.01*	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.89	0.02	0.02	.86
	2	0.26	.01*	Mean difference between baseline and nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.26	0.01	0.01	.96
PVT RT-lapses >500ms								
	1	0.40	< .01 *	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.03	0.01	0.01	.96
	2	0.39	<.01*	Mean difference between baseline and nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.05	0.03	0.28	.80
AM-time								
	1	0.49	<.01*	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.07	0.10	0.09	.35
	2	0.55	<.01*	Mean difference between baseline and nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.11	0.27	0.22	.02
AM-errors								
	1	0.31	< .01 *	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.05	0.20	0.19	.04
	2	0.40	<.01*	Mean difference between baseline and nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.07	0.42	0.30	<.01

Note: *indicates a significant model (p <0.05) after FDR adjustment; The model was adjusted for demographic cofounders, hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms; R^2 = models' multiple correlations; AM: Austin Maze; SE = standard error; β = standardised regression coefficient; *sr* = semi-partial correlation; SBP: systolic blood pressure. Table 5.5 Multiple linear regression analyses of the association between autobiographical memory interview indices and blood pressure indices (adjusted for demographic cofounders, hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms), after applying FDR corrections for multiple comparisons.

Cognitive test	Model	R ²	p model	Predictor	SE	β	sr	p-value
Total semantic memory								
	1	0.16	.01 *	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.02	0.10	0.09	.42
	2	0.14	.10	Mean difference	0.03	0.2	0.02	.89
				between baseline and				
				nocturnal peaks of SBP				
Childhood								
semantic								
memory								
	1	0.13	.06	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.02	0.06	0.05	.66
	2	0.07	.44	Mean difference	0.01	0.03	0.03	.79
				between baseline and				
				nocturnal peaks of SBP				
Early adult life								
semantic								
memory								
	1	0.10	.10	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	.01	.08	.08	.51
	2	0.13	.15	Mean difference	0.02	0.05	0.05	.67
				between baseline and				
				nocturnal peaks of SBP				

Cognitive test	Model	R^2	p model	Predictor	SE	β	sr	p-value
Recent life								
semantic								
memory								
	1	0.13	.07	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.01	0.08	0.07	.51
	2	.13	.22	Mean difference	0.01	0.05	0.04	.72
				between baseline and				
				nocturnal peaks of SBP				
Total episodic								
memory								
	1	0.16	.03*	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.03	0.05	0.05	.67
	2	0.21	.03*	Mean difference	0.05	0.03	0.03	.84
				between baseline and				
				nocturnal peaks of SBP				
Episodic								
childhood								
memory								
	1	0.04	.59	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.01	0.01	0.08	.49
				-				
	2	0.07	.47	Mean difference	0.02	0.07	.06	.68
				between baseline and				
				nocturnal peaks of SBP				

Cognitive test	Model	R^2	p model	Predictor	SE	β	sr	p-value
Episodic early								
adult life								
memory								
	1	0.13	.08	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.01	0.13	0.12	.32
	2	0.15	.16	Mean difference	0.02	0.07	0.06	.65
				between baseline and				
				nocturnal peaks of SBP				
Episodic recent								
life memory								
	1	0.18	.01*	Nocturnal peaks of SBP	0.01	0.03	0.02	.84
	2	0.19	.06	Mean difference	0.02	0.04	0.04	.63
				between baseline and				
				nocturnal peaks of SBP				

Note: *indicates a significant model (p <0.05) after FDR adjustment; The model was adjusted for demographic cofounders, hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms; R^2 = models' multiple correlations; SE = standard error; β = standardised regression coefficient; sr = semi-partial correlation; SBP: systolic blood pressure.

5.5 Discussion

This study investigated associations between nocturnal BP and cognitive impairment in OSA patients. The results show that nocturnal peaks of SBP are significantly associated with visuospatial dysfunction in terms of timing and/or performance errors on the AM. In contrast, performance on tests of sustained attention, RT and autobiographical memory show no significant association with peaks of nocturnal SBP.

High SBP is known to contribute to brain damage through exacerbation of occult micro-strokes (Mensah, 2016), leading to decrements in cognitive performance (Gąsecki et al., 2013). Clinical hypertension is associated with abnormal white matter lesions in most areas of the brain (Kuller et al., 2010). The present findings align with previous studies of non-OSA patients that confirmed the role of elevated BP in cognitive impairments related to visuospatial deficits. A longitudinal study extending over 30 years, controlling for age, education, depression, stroke and antihypertensive medications, and excluding patients with known cognitive impairments found that participants with a higher SBP exhibited poorer performance on cognitive tests involving visuospatial ability (Swan et al., 1998). Similarly, Elias, Robbins, Schultz Jr and Pierce (1990) found that visuospatial deficits, as measured by tactile performance test localisation, were linked to increased BP, after adjusting for age and education level. A follow-up study by Gottesman et al. (2014) of 15,792 participants aged 45–64 years concluded that elevated SBP is associated with cognitive decline, including poorer performance on visuospatial tasks such as the digit symbol substitution test.

Although sustained attention and RT are known to be impaired among OSA patients, the present findings align with previous evidence that slower RT is not associated with high SBP. For instance, Waldstein, Brown, Maier and Katzel (2005) reported that, among normal participants (aged 53–84), high SBP was not associated with delayed RT as measured by the Stroop interference task. Edwards, Ring, McIntyre, Carroll and Martin (2007) have also indicated that RT does not vary between hypertensive and normotensive middle-aged groups. Further, using a simple RT test, Pavlik, Hyman and Doody (2005) found that RT was not associated with hypertension in a sample of 3,385 adult males and non-pregnant females with no history of stroke and ranging in age between 30 and 59 years.

However, the present results conflict with earlier studies regarding the role of high SBP in memory impairment. Swan et al. (1998) reported that adults with a higher lifelong SBP were more likely to perform poorly on verbal learning and memory tasks. Waldstein, Ryan, Manuck, Parkinson and Bromet (1991) compared 40 age-matched midlife males who had either normotension or elevated BP and concluded that those with elevated BP performed worse on memory tasks. In their study of an elderly hypertensive cohort, Sacktor et al. (1999) identified optimal regulation of SBP as a modifiable risk factor in preventing or minimising memory loss. One possible explanation for the difference in the present case is that a majority of participants (68%) did not suffer from chronic daytime hypertension (i.e. their resting SBP was <140 mmHg, and their resting DBP was <90). It follows that nocturnal episodes of hypertension in these OSA patients may not have been of sufficient duration to affect those areas of the brain associated with memory. If this explanation is correct, it suggests that the neural mechanisms that underpin visuospatial function are more sensitive to nocturnal peaks in BP than those underpinning response time and memory.

To the candidate's knowledge, this study is the first to investigate the association between nocturnal peaks in BP and cognitive dysfunction in patients with OSA in independent of hypoxia, sleep fragmentations, and cofounders. While daytime SBP was normotensive in 68% of participants, 84% of participants met the clinical criteria for hypertension (grades 1–3) in terms of their nocturnal peaks of SBP. This finding confirms the association between OSA and elevated nocturnal BP and demonstrates that resting BP is an unreliable indicator of peaks of nocturnal BP in OSA patients. Further, the results show that patients with the most severe OSA exhibit the largest differences between resting and nocturnal SBP. Similarly, Gehring et al. (2018) demonstrated that patients with severe OSA exhibit very high SBP values during sleep, and a cross-sectional study by Jelic et al. (2002) found that mean SBP in sleep apnoea sufferers changed significantly during sleep, including during NREM and REM sleep. Finally, the

substantial difference between resting SBP and peak nocturnal SBP (mean difference: + 33.2 mmHg) and between resting DBP and peak nocturnal DBP (mean difference: +11.4 mmHg) provides a clear indication of the strength of the stress response that is exerted via the SNS in OSA.

The present study has revealed that nocturnal peaks in SBP in OSA are associated with visuospatial dysfunction, even after controlling for age, smoking status, depressive symptoms, hypoxia and sleep fragmentation. This indicates that nocturnal BP is an important, and hitherto overlooked, factor that may contribute to cognitive dysfunction in OSA. Further, the present findings highlight the fact that the risk of organ damage in OSA (especially of the heart and kidneys) can be seriously underestimated if nocturnal BP is not taken into account. Future studies might build on these findings to determine whether treatment with CPAP can improve cognitive outcomes and reduce the risk of organ damage. Future studies should use a larger sample size so that differences in BP peaks in NREM sleep and REM sleep stages can be explored.

Measuring continuous BP has been a big challenge for sleep research because of the inconvenience that accompanies the use of cuff-based BP devices. Hence, the development of a new method (PTT) based on PSG parameters, such as ECG and plethysmography data, makes a notable contribution to clinical research by enabling the continuous measurement of BP during sleep. The present study demonstrated that BP measurements obtained at rest with the PTT method were highly correlated with measurements obtained via a sphygmomanometer, supporting previous studies that reported strong associations between BP estimates from PTT and those obtained from the finger cuff system (Portapress) (Hennig et al., 2012). The present study showed that PTT measurements were an average 3–5 mmHg higher than those obtained via a sphygmomanometer, which confirms a recent report that PTT overestimates BP by an

142

Chapter 5

average of 4–6 mmHg (Krisai et al., 2019; Zachwieja et al., 2020). Other studies have indicated a strong relationship between BP measured by PTT and cuff devices when BP is recorded for a 24-hour period, but there were differences that were most evident during exercise (Gesche et al., 2012; Wong et al., 2009). Since sleep involves minimal movement, continuous BP measurement by the PTT method may be more accurate during sleep than during wakefulness. Further investigation may be required to ascertain how the accuracy of PTT varies during sleep and wakefulness.

Although this study has provided new insights, there are several methodological limitations. First, the sample size of the non-OSA group was less than that of the OSA groups. This limitation reduced the statistical power of the group comparisons but was not a consideration in the comparisons that expressed OSA severity as a continuous variable. Second, using a nondirect method to estimate continuous BP is a potential limitation. Nevertheless, the PTT method has been documented as the best available for estimating continuous nocturnal BP, particularly in sleep research, and the results of the present study support the accuracy of this method. Finally, the current study did not conduct brain imaging, so it was not possible to comment whether structural changes (damage) in the brain were associated with the nocturnal BP spikes. It is hoped that further studies will overcome these limitations.

5.6 Conclusion

This study investigated the association between nocturnal BP spikes (as a manifestation of SNS over-activity) and impairments of sustained attention and RT, visuospatial function and autobiographical memory. The findings indicate that nocturnal peaks in SBP are significantly associated with impairments of visuospatial deficits (timing and performance errors in the AM), whereas performance on tests of sustained attention time, RT and autobiographical memory are not significantly associated with nocturnal peaks of SBP. It remains to be

determined whether the impairments of visuospatial function are permanent or whether they can be alleviated by OSA treatment.

Chapter 6: General Discussion

6.1 Overview

The present study aimed to investigate the factors associated with cognitive dysfunction in OSA, including IH, sleep fragmentation, depressive symptoms, nocturnal over-activity of the SNS including BP spikes, independent of demographic confounder effects that are known to affect cognitive performance. In addition, the characteristics of the study sample and the utility of the Arabic version of the SBQ were analysed. The study yielded novel findings that have not been demonstrated before in previous research. The following section summarises the research aims and findings of the study.

6.2 Review of the Research Findings

Chapter 2 examined the characteristics of the study sample and the capacity of the Arabic version of the SBQ to predict OSA severity among patients referred to a sleep laboratory in Saudi Arabia. Similar to previous studies, most of the study participants were male (69%). The mean age of participants was 43.1 years (range 18–65), while the mean BMI was 33.4 kg/m² (range 17–61). This study showed that both age and BMI were correlated with OSA severity, whereas current smoking status was not. The prevalence of depressive symptoms among the cohort was 74% while the prevalence of EDS was 50%. In addition, 60% of those participants with OSA were found to have either IGT or T2D. These findings are very similar to those reported for cohorts of people with OSA in other countries, making it likely that the research findings from this Saudi cohort have relevance to OSA patients globally.

Regarding the utility of the Arabic version of the SBQ, the findings indicated a significant association between SBQ scores and OSA severity. More specifically, the eight items of the

SBQ showed high sensitivity but low specificity in predicting OSA severity according to a ROC curve analysis. The loud snoring item was shown to be superior for detecting mild OSA (AHI >5), while the observed apnoea item provided the best specificity for moderate and severe OSA (AHI >15; Figure 6.1a).

Chapter 3 explored the independent effects of IH, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms on cognitive function in OSA. Depressive symptoms were shown to be independently associated with EDS but not with demographic or PSG data. In relation to cognitive performance, the findings indicated that impairments in sustained attention and RT were independently associated with hypoxia and sleep fragmentation. Impairments in visuospatial performance were independently associated with sleep fragmentation only, while impairments in visuospatial function, semantic and episodic memories, sustained attention, and RT were independently associated with depressive symptoms (Figure 6.1b).

Chapter 4 investigated the effects of HRV, PWA and stress response biomarkers (through morning urine samples, blood cortisol and blood glucose levels) as indices of nocturnal overactivity of the SNS, on cognitive dysfunction in OSA. The findings revealed that, in terms of stress response biomarkers, only morning fasting blood glucose levels were significantly associated with time spent with SaO₂ <90%. Further, the findings showed that PWA indices and HRV were linked to OSA severity (AHI) and were strongly correlated with sleep fragmentation, as measured by the Arousal Index. In relation to cognitive performance, the findings indicated a link between nocturnal over-activity of the SNS (PWA and HRV) and visuospatial dysfunction (time performance). However, the findings did not suggest any significant association between nocturnal over-activity of the SNS and sustained attention, RT or autobiographical memory (Figure 6.1c). Chapter 5 examined associations between nocturnal BP peaks and cognitive impairment. The findings pointed to an association between nocturnal SBP peaks and sleep fragmentation, as measured by the Arousal Index. Nocturnal SBP peaks were strongly correlated with visuospatial dysfunction (timing and error performance). However, significant relationships were not found between nocturnal SBP peaks and performance on measures of sustained attention, RT or autobiographical memory (Figure 6.1d).



Figure 6.1 Schematic diagrams illustrating the research findings associated with the research aims that formed the basis of Chapters 2–5 (a–d, respectively). In each diagram, an arrow links the dependent variables to the independent variable for each research aim, as discussed in the respective chapter. The green checkmarks denote a statistically significant relationship between the two variables. SBQ: *STOP-Bang questionnaire*; SNS: sympathetic nervous system.

Several of the findings presented in this thesis have implications for clinical practice and suggest directions for future research. These are discussed in the following sections.

6.3 Utility of the Arabic Version of the STOP-Bang Questionnaire

In accordance with previous studies of Saudi patients, the present study found that the Arabic version of the SBQ has high sensitivity but low specificity (BaHammam et al., 2015). Studies conducted on non-Arabic populations have also reported that the SBQ has high sensitivity and low specificity (Chung et al., 2016; Vana et al., 2013). The present study found that 29 participants who had no or mild OSA (AHI <15) were assessed by the SBQ (score >2) as having an intermediate or high risk of OSA. On this basis, 42% (29/69) of participants were incorrectly identified as being likely to have OSA. Although the high sensitivity of SBQ ensured that most cases of moderate-to-severe OSA were identified, its low specificity meant that 42% of the patients referred for PSG had no or mild OSA and did not warrant treatment with CPAP. This inconvenienced the patients, wasted scarce resources and prevented patients with moderate-to-severe OSA from undergoing a PSG in a timely fashion.

A more efficient strategy would be to focus on accurately identifying those individuals who are likely to have moderate-to-severe OSA. Based on the data from the current study, identification could be improved by placing weight on one item of the SBQ: observed apnoeic events. A 'yes' response to this item predicted an AHI >15 with a sensitivity of 87% and a specificity of 76%, compared with a sensitivity of 98% and a specificity of 32% when using a SBQ score of >2. While focussing on observed apnoeic events should improve the efficiency of PSG referrals, we ought to strive for 100% sensitivity and specificity. However, it is unlikely that this outcome could be achieved without the development of additional screening tools. Including the anatomical features of the airway, such as Mallampati size, in screening tools may increase their specificity. For instance, Avincsal et al. (2017) modified the SBQ version after adding the Mallampati size and reported that the modified SBQ version had the same sensitivity but a higher specificity than the original version.

6.4 Nocturnal Over-activity of the Sympathetic Nervous System in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

Relatively little research has examined the stress response in OSA. The association between OSA severity and nocturnal over-activity of the SNS was investigated in Chapters 4 and 5. In agreement with previous studies, the present study found that the Arousal Index was associated with nocturnal PWA indices (Adler et al., 2013; Delessert et al., 2010), HRV LF/HF ratio (Bradicich et al., 2020; Kim, Seo, & Kim, 2019) and peaks in SBP (Chouchou et al., 2013). However, while cortisol levels are a strong indicator of SNS over-activity (Tomfohr, Edwards, & Dimsdale, 2012), they were not associated with any of the PSG parameters in the present study. This lack of correspondence could be attributable to the fact that blood was only sampled for cortisol in the morning. Cortisol levels increase during a stressful event (e.g. hypoxia) and then decrease shortly thereafter, as the cortisol is metabolised. It would have been preferable to sample blood throughout the night and then to correlate fluctuations in blood cortisol with the occurrence of severe apnoeic events, but this approach was not possible within the clinical environment of the present study. It is likely that by the time blood samples were obtained in the morning after waking, the cortisol levels had returned to normal circadian rhythm. A similar problem exists for the blood glucose measurements. Hence, morning blood glucose levels as a stress response biomarker, were only associated with time spent with SaO₂ <90%, which is consistent with the results of prior studies (Al-Abri et al., 2011; Priou et al., 2012).

Since all three indices of nocturnal over-activity of the SNS (PWA indices, HRV LF/HF ratio and peaks in SBP) indicated that sleep fragmentation (Arousal Index) but not hypoxia was associated with SNS over-activity, it appears that sleep fragmentation is a stronger driver of the SNS than are episodes of hypoxia. Accordingly, the Arousal Index and morning blood glucose levels may represent useful indicators of nocturnal over-activity of the SNS in OSA.

149

6.5 Factors Associated with Cognitive Impairment in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

While it is widely accepted that moderate-to-severe OSA is associated with impaired performance in a variety of cognitive domains, most research into the causes of this impairment has focussed on the contributions of sleep fragmentation and IH. Published data make it clear that these two factors contribute to cognitive impairment in OSA but are only able to account for a fraction of the variance, meaning that additional factors must be involved. To date, few studies have examined whether depressive symptoms, nocturnal over-activity of the SNS or nocturnal spikes in BP are independently associated with cognitive impairment in OSA patients. In the present investigation, these factors were found to have an independent (negative) effect on several cognitive domains (Figure 6.2).

IH was shown to independently contribute to impairments in sustained attention and RT, which is in agreement with the results of previous research (Fowler et al., 1987; Kainulainen et al., 2020; Tanno et al., 2017). These deficits could be partly attributable to damage to the amygdala in OSA (Zhao, Yang, & Cui, 2017), which has been shown to play an important role in attentional processes (Baxter & Murray, 2002). **Sleep fragmentation** was also found to be independently associated with impairments in sustained attention, RT and visuospatial ability. Such findings are in line with those earlier studies that noted a strong association between sleep fragmentation, and sustained attention deficits and delayed RT (Ayalon, Ancoli-Israel, & Drummond, 2009). Previous studies have shown that visuospatial deficits are unique to OSA, and do not occur in other sleep disorders, such as insomnia (Olaithe et al., 2018). The present findings indicate that these visuospatial deficits may be attributable to the combined effects of sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms, although the underlying neural mechanism remains unclear.



Figure 6.2 Schematic diagram showing the factors identified by the present study to have an independent association with impairments in specific cognitive domains. SNS: sympathetic nervous system; BP: blood pressure.

Studies have presented evidence for the role of **depressive symptoms** in impairing cognitive function across different populations, though few studies have examined their relationship in OSA (Faust et al., 2017; Kaser et al., 2017). In the present study, depressive symptoms were found to exert strong independent effects on response times, sustained attention, autobiographical memory and visuospatial performance. Although the influence of depressive symptoms on sustained attention and RT in OSA patients has not previously been examined, the findings of the present study are consistent with findings from studies on depressed patients (Plante et al., 2020; Tsourtos et al., 2002). The findings also support previous research that examined deficits in autobiographical memory recall as a psychological marker of depression (Kuyken & Dalgleish, 1995). In addition, the present findings are consistent with those of Delhikar et al. (2019), who reported that depression was strongly associated with impairment

Chapter 6

of semantic memory in OSA patients. However, the present study is the first to identify visuospatial deficits among OSA patients with depressive symptoms. This observation, which suggests that depressive symptoms are an independent factor behind the visuospatial deficits in OSA, supports findings of previous studies on depressed patients (Coello, Ardila, & Rosselli, 1990; Nelson & Shankman, 2016; Paradiso, Hermann, Blumer, Davies, & Robinson, 2001). Given that depressive symptoms were associated with poor performance on all of the cognitive tests used in the present study, depressive symptoms may also be associated with impairments in other cognitive domains that were not assessed in the present study.

Some readers might assume that the depressive symptoms observed in OSA are a secondary consequence of the sleep fragmentation experienced by these patients, yet two findings from the present study argue against this idea. First, the associations between cognitive impairments and depressive symptoms were found to be independent of sleep fragmentation and IH. Second, while a massive 76% of participants with OSA had depressive symptoms, the severity of these symptoms was not correlated with the severity of OSA or the Arousal Index. Taken together, these findings emphasise the importance of viewing depressive symptoms as an independent is tested for OSA, they ought to be screened for depressive symptoms, and if these symptoms are detected, a treatment plan should be put in place.

The present study has demonstrated that SNS activity and BP can be reliably and continuously monitored during sleep in OSA patients using sensors that are routinely used during PSG studies. For the first time, and in contrast to previous research (e.g. Idiaquez et al., 2014), the present study demonstrated that lower HRV is linked to visuospatial deficits in OSA. PWA drops, which are a strong indicator of nocturnal over-activation of the SNS, were also linked to poor visuospatial performance. Finally, nocturnal spikes in SBP are another indicator of SNS

152

over-activity, and the present study found, for the first time, a strong association between high nocturnal SBP and visuospatial impairments. Previous studies in other populations have identified a link between high daytime BP and visuospatial deficits (Elias et al., 1990; Knecht et al., 2008; Swan et al., 1998).

The discovery that multiple indices of **nocturnal over-activity of the SNS** contribute independently to impaired performance on a test of visuomotor function places a spotlight on the effects of overnight stress on the brain. The elevated stress response is probably why 60% of the participants with OSA were found to have IGT or T2D; these disorders of glucose metabolism have been linked to stress and are present at much lower frequencies in the general population. Until now, researchers have considered nocturnal over-activity of the SNS to be a downstream consequence of IH. However, the present results suggest that it is an independent contributor to cognitive dysfunction that is not strongly associated with measures of hypoxia. It is suggested that future PSG studies should routinely assess overnight SNS activity. Such investigations could assist the identification of individuals who suffer from occult spikes of extremely high BP, so that they can receive antihypertensive medication to protect them from the multitude of comorbidities that are associated with elevated BP.

6.6 Limitations

The present study has several limitations that should be addressed in future research. First, the sample size of the non-OSA group was smaller than that of the OSA group. A correlational analysis was conducted to offset this difference; however, the unequal sample size of the two groups could have reduced statistical power. Selection bias is a further limitation of the present study. More specifically, the present study did not use random sampling and instead recruited participants who had been referred to a sleep study after being suspected of having a sleeping disorder. Similarly, the glucose and cortisol samples were collected on waking in the morning

Chapter 6

rather than continuously throughout the night, which meant that a less dynamic picture of SNS over-activation was obtained. Nocturnal BP was measured by the PTT method, which is based on ECG and plethysmography data. Although this is the only method that can measure continuous BP in OSA patients without disturbing sleep, it is limited because it does not measure BP directly. Another limitation relates to the fact that fMRI was not conducted in the present study, which prevented determination of whether the cognitive deficits were associated with structural changes in the brain. It should also be noted that it is not possible to know when a patient first develops OSA, as they generally do not undergo a PSG study until their symptoms have begun to interfere with their daily functions. It is likely, therefore, that variation in the time between OSA onset and testing contributed to variability in the data. A further limitation is that a limited battery of cognitive tests was used in the present study, and as these tests did not span all cognitive domains, deficits in other aspects of cognitive function such as executive function and new learning and memory, may have gone undetected.

6.7 Directions for Future Research

Future research that seeks to replicate or build on the results of the present study should consider the following points. First, the present study found that the full version of the Arabic SBQ has a high sensitivity but low specificity. The loud snoring item and observed apnoeic events have high sensitivity and superior specificity for OSA. Larger studies should seek to replicate this observation. Placing greater weight on the above two SBQ items could lead to new ways of improving the efficiency of screening patients for probable OSA.

Second, the present study confirmed that hypoxia and sleep fragmentation are independently associated with impairments in sustained attention and RT, while sleep fragmentation is independently associated with visuospatial ability. Importantly, the present study showed that depressive symptoms are independently associated with impairments in sustained attention,

RT, visuospatial ability and autographical memory. To date, the effect of depressive symptoms has been overlooked; however, the present findings indicate that full recovery of cognition in OSA patients may require interventions that address depressive symptoms, as well as hypoxia and sleep fragmentation. Therefore, future clinical studies ought to treat these three factors and examine whether this assists the recovery of cognitive function.

The present study revealed that nocturnal over-activity of the SNS, including peaks in nocturnal SBP, are associated with OSA severity. Impairment of visuospatial performance was shown to be associated with these factors independently of age, smoking status, depressive symptoms, hypoxia and sleep fragmentation. Henceforth, nocturnal over-activity of the SNS and elevated nocturnal BP should be taken into consideration when seeking to treat cognitive dysfunction in OSA patients.

In summary, the research presented in this thesis has helped to extend understanding of factors that contribute to cognitive impairment in OSA. In addition to confirming the involvement of IH and sleep fragmentation, the present study has highlighted three other factors that appear to independently contribute to cognitive dysfunction. These novel findings point to the need for further basic research and new clinical interventions that target depressive symptoms, nocturnal over-activity of the SNS and spikes in nocturnal BP in OSA.

155

References

References

- Abrishami, A., Khajehdehi, A., & Chung, F. (2010). A systematic review of screening questionnaires for obstructive sleep apnea. *Canadian Journal of Anesthesia*, 57(5), 423-438. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12630-010-9280-x
- Abuyassin, B., Sharma, K., Ayas, N. T., & Laher, I. (2015). Obstructive sleep apnea and kidney disease: A potential bidirectional relationship? *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *11*(8), 915-924. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.4946
- Adler, D., Bridevaux, P. O., Contal, O., Georges, M., Dupuis-Lozeron, E., Claudel, E., Pépin,
 J. L., & Janssens, J. P. (2013). Pulse wave amplitude reduction: a surrogate marker of micro-arousals associated with respiratory events occurring under non-invasive ventilation? *Respiratory Medicine*, *107*(12), 2053-2060.
- Agarwal, R., & Light, R. P. (2010). The effect of measuring ambulatory blood pressure on nighttime sleep and daytime activity—implications for dipping. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 5(2), 281-285. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.07011009
- Agelink, M., Baumann, M., Akila, Z., & Ziegler, D. (2001). Standardized tests of heart rate variability: Normal ranges obtained from 309 healthy humans, and effects of age, gender, and heart rate. *Clinical Autonomic Research*, 11(2), 99-108. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02322053
- Ahmad, A. N., McLeod, G., Al Zahrani, N., & Al Zahrani, H. (2019). Screening for high risk of sleep apnea in an ambulatory care setting in Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health*, 16(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16030459

- Ahmad, M., Makati, D., & Akbar, S. (2017). Review of and updates on hypertension in obstructive sleep apnea. *International Journal of Hypertension*, 2017, 1848375. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/1848375
- Ahmed, A. E., Fatani, A., Al-Harbi, A., Al-Shimemeri, A., Ali, Y. Z., Baharoon, S., & Al-Jahdali, H. (2014). Validation of the Arabic version of the Epworth Sleepiness Scale. *Journal of Epidemiology & Global Health*, 4(4), 297-302.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jegh.2014.04.004
- Akashiba, T., Kawahara, S., Akahoshi, T., Omori, C., Saito, O., Majima, T., & Horie, T. (2002). Relationship between quality of life and mood or depression in patients with severe obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Chest, 122*(3), 861-865. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.122.3.861
- Akselrod, S. (1995) Components of heart rate variability: Basic studies. In: Malik M, Camm AJ, editors. Heart Rate Variability. Futura; Armonk, NY: 1995. pp. 147–63.
- Al Moamary, M. S., Al Ghobain, M. A., Al Shehri, S. N., Alfayez, A. I., Gasmelseed, A. Y., & Al-Hajjaj, M. S. (2012). The prevalence and characteristics of water-pipe smoking among high school students in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Infection & Public Health*, 5(2), 159-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2012.01.002
- Al-Abri, M., Al-Lawati, H., Al-Alawi, Y., & Al-Manairi, A. (2011). Oxygen desaturation is associated with diabetes mellitus in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea. *European Respiratory Journal*, 38(Suppl 55), p2268.
- Al-Hamdan, N., Saeed, A., Kutbi, A., Choudhry, A. J., & Nooh, R. (2010). Characteristics, risk factors, and treatment practices of known adult hypertensive patients in Saudi Arabia.
 International Journal of Hypertension, 2010, 7. https://doi.org/10.4061/2010/168739

- Al-Nozha, M. M., Al-Mazrou, Y. Y., Al-Maatouq, M. A., Arafah, M. R., Khalil, M. Z., Khan,
 N. B., . . . Nouh, M. S. (2005). Obesity in Saudi Arabia. *Saudi Medical Journal*, 26(5), 824-829.
- Al-Sarraf, H., & Philip, L. (2003). Increased brain uptake and CSF clearance of 14C-glutamate in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Brain Research*, 994(2), 181-187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2003.09.034
- Aldossari, K. K., Aldiab, A., Al-Zahrani, J. M., Al-Ghamdi, S. H., Abdelrazik, M., Batais, M., El-Metwally, A. (2018). Prevalence of prediabetes, diabetes, and its associated risk factors among males in Saudi Arabia: A population-based survey. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2018, 2194604. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/2194604
- Algabbani, A., Almubark, R., Althumiri, N., Alqahtani, A., & BinDhim, N. (2018). The prevalence of cigarette smoking in Saudi Arabia in 2018. *Food & Drug Regulatory Science Journal, 1*, 1. https://doi.org/10.32868/rsj.v1i1.22
- Alharthi, F. R., Masoodi, I., Alomairi, N., Almuntashiri, A. H., & Alfaifi, A. (2018). The predictors of obstructive sleep apnea at a high altitude: Results of a population-based study in the western region of Saudi Arabia. *The Egyptian Journal of Hospital Medicine*, 73(1), 5818-5827.
- Ali, A. M., Ahmed, A., Sharaf, A., Kawakami, N., Abdeldayem, S. M., & Green, J. (2017). The Arabic version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21: Cumulative scaling and discriminant-validation testing. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, 30, 56-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2017.07.018
- Allen, M., Owens, T., Fong, A., & Richards, D. (2011). A functional neuroimaging analysis of the Trail Making Test-B: Implications for clinical application. *Behavioural Neurology*, 24(2), 159-171. https://doi.org/10.3233/ben-2011-0278
- Almeneessier, A. S., Alshahrani, M., Aleissi, S., Hammad, O. S., Olaish, A. H., & BaHammam,
 A. S. (2020). Comparison between blood pressure during obstructive respiratory events
 in REM and NREM sleep using pulse transit time. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 3342.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-60281-2
- Almohaya, A., Qrmli, A., Almagal, N., Alamri, K., Bahammam, S., Al-Enizi, M., Alanazi, A.,
 Almeneessier, A. S., Sharif, M. M., & BaHammam, A. S. (2013). Sleep medicine education and knowledge among medical students in selected Saudi Medical Schools. *BMC Medical Education*, 13(1), 133. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6920-13-133
- Almutairi, S. (2019). Population awareness regarding obstructive sleep apnea in Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Medicine in Developing Countries*, 3(3), 239-245. https://doi.org/10.24911/IJMDC.51-1543766652
- Aloia, M. S., Arnedt, J. T., Smith, L., Skrekas, J., Stanchina, M., & Millman, R. P. (2005).
 Examining the construct of depression in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Sleep Medicine*, 6(2), 115-121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2004.09.003
- Aloia, M. S., Ilniczky, N., Di Dio, P., Perlis, M. L., Greenblatt, D. W., & Giles, D. E. (2003). Neuropsychological changes and treatment compliance in older adults with sleep apnea. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 54(1), 71-76.
- Alotair, H., & Bahammam, A. (2008). Gender differences in Saudi patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep & Breathing*, 12(4), 323-329. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-008-0184-8
- Alqarni, S. S. M. (2016). A review of prevalence of obesity in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Obesity* & *Eating Disorders*, 2(2:25), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.21767/2471-8203.100025
- Alruwaili, H., Ahmed, A., Fatani, A., Al-Otaibi, K., Al-Jahdali, S., Ali, Y., . . . Al-Jahdali, H.
 (2015). Symptoms and risk for obstructive sleep apnea among sample of Saudi Arabian adults. *Sleep & Biological Rhythms*, *13*(4), 332-341. https://doi.org/10.1111/sbr.12124

- Alshehri, K. A., Bashamakh, L. F., Alshamrani, H. M., Alghamdi, I. O., Mahin, B. A., Alharbi,
 A. A., . . . Alhejaili, F. F. (2019). Pattern and severity of sleep apnea in a Saudi sleep center: The impact of obesity. *Journal of Family & Community Medicine*, 26(2), 127-132. https://doi.org/10.4103/jfcm.JFCM_16_19
- Álvarez, D., Hornero, R., García, M., del Campo, F., & Zamarrón, C. (2007). Improving diagnostic ability of blood oxygen saturation from overnight pulse oximetry in obstructive sleep apnea detection by means of central tendency measure. *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine*, 41(1), 13-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.artmed.2007.06.002
- Amra, B., Rahmati, B., Soltaninejad, F., & Feizi, A. (2018). Screening questionnaires for obstructive sleep apnea: An updated systematic review. *Oman Medical Journal*, 33(3), 184-192. https://doi.org/10.5001/omj.2018.36
- Antic, N. A., Catcheside, P., Buchan, C., Hensley, M., Naughton, M. T., Rowland, S., ...
 McEvoy, R. D. (2011). The effect of CPAP in normalizing daytime sleepiness, quality of life, and neurocognitive function in patients with moderate to severe OSA. *Sleep*, 34(1), 111-119. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/34.1.111
- Arnardottir, E. S., Bjornsdottir, E., Olafsdottir, K. A., Benediktsdottir, B., & Gislason, T. (2016). Obstructive sleep apnoea in the general population: Highly prevalent but minimal symptoms. *European Respiratory Journal*, 47(1), 194-202. https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.01148-2015
- Asayama, K., Fujiwara, T., Hoshide, S., Ohkubo, T., Kario, K., Stergiou, G. S., . . .
 & Imai, Y. (2019). Nocturnal blood pressure measured by home devices: Evidence and perspective for clinical application. *Journal of Hypertension*, 37(5), 905-916. https://doi.org/10.1097/hjh.000000000001987
- Assal, H. H., & Kamal, E. (2016). Gender differences in polysomnographic findings in Egyptian patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Egyptian*

Journal of Chest Diseases & Tuberculosis, 65(3), 649-654. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcdt.2016.03.009

- Avincsal, O., Dinc, M., Ulusoy, S., Dalgic, A., Ozdemir, C., & Develioglu, O. (2017). Modified Mallampati score improves specificity of STOP-BANG Questionnaire for obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of Craniofacial Surgery*, 28, 1. https://doi.org/10.1097/SCS.00000000003513
- Ayalon, L., Ancoli-Israel, S., & Drummond, S. (2009). Altered brain activation during response inhibition in obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 18(2), 204-208. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2008.00707.x
- Ayalon, L., Ancoli-Israel, S., Aka, A. A., McKenna, B. S., & Drummond, S. P. A. (2009).
 Relationship between obstructive sleep apnea severity and brain activation during a sustained attention task. *Sleep*, *32*(3), 373-381. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/32.3.373
- Baaisharah, S., Baaisharah, S., Md, A., Bamagoos, A., Altaib, H., Alamaa, M., . . .
 Wali, S. (2017). Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and stress among obstructive sleep apnea patients in Saudi Arabia. *Saudi Journal of Internal Medicine*, 7. https://doi.org/10.32790/sjim.2017.7.1.2
- BaHammam, A., Al-Aqeel, A., Alhedyani, A., Al-Obaid, G., Al-Owais, M., & Olaish, A. (2015). The validity and reliability of an Arabic version of the STOP-Bang Questionnaire for identifying obstructive sleep apnea. *The Open Respiratory Medicine Journal*, 9, 22-29. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874306401509010022
- Bahammam, A., Al-Rajeh, M., Al-Ibrahim, F., Arafah, M., & Sharif, M. (2009). Prevalence of symptoms and risk of sleep apnea in middle-aged Saudi women in primary care. *Saudi Medical Journal, 30*(12), 1572-1576.

- Bakker, J., Campbell, A., & Neill, A. (2010). Randomized controlled trial comparing flexible and continuous positive airway pressure delivery: Effects on compliance, objective and subjective sleepiness and vigilance. *Sleep*, *33*(4), 523-529.
- Ballester, E., Badia, J. R., Hernandez, L., Carrasco, E., de Pablo, J., Fornas, C., . . .
 Montserrat, J. M. (1999). Evidence of the effectiveness of continuous positive airway pressure in the treatment of sleep apnea/hypopnea syndrome. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 159(2), 495-501. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.159.2.9804061
- Bardwell, W. A., Berry, C. C., Ancoli-Israel, S., & Dimsdale, J. E. (1999). Psychological correlates of sleep apnea. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 47(6), 583-596. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(99)00062-8
- Baril, A., Gagnon, K., Brayet, P., Montplaisir, J., De Beaumont, L., Carrier, J., . . . Gosselin,
 N. (2017). Gray matter hypertrophy and thickening with obstructive sleep apnea in middle-aged and older adults. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 195(11), 1509-1518. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201606-1271OC
- Basner, M., & Dinges, D. F. (2011). Maximizing sensitivity of the psychomotor vigilance test (PVT) to sleep loss. *Sleep*, *34*(5), 581-591. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/34.5.581
- Basner, M., Mollicone, D., & Dinges, D. F. (2011). Validity and sensitivity of a brief psychomotor vigilance test (PVT-B) to total and partial sleep deprivation. *Acta Astronautica*, 69(11-12), 949-959. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actaastro.2011.07.015
- Basunia, M., Fahmy, S. A., Schmidt, F., Agu, C., Bhattarai, B., Oke, V., . . . Quist, J. (2016).
 Relationship of symptoms with sleep-stage abnormalities in obstructive sleep apnea– hypopnea syndrome. *Journal of Community Hospital Internal Medicine Perspectives*, 6(4), 32170-32170. https://doi.org/10.3402/jchimp.v6.32170

- Baxter, M. G., & Murray, E. A. (2002). The amygdala and reward. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *3*(7), 563-573.
- Bearpark, H., Elliott, L., Grunstein, R., Hedner, J., Cullen, S., Schneider, H., . . . Sullivan, C. (1993). Occurrence and correlates of sleep disordered breathing in the Australian town of Busselton: A preliminary analysis. *Sleep*, *16*(suppl_8), S3-S5. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/16.suppl_8.S3
- Bedard, M.-A., Montplaisir, J., Malo, J., Richer, F., & Rouleau, I. (1993). Persistent neuropsychological deficits and vigilance impairment in sleep apnea syndrome after treatment with continuous positive airways pressure (CPAP). *Journal of Clinical & Experimental Neuropsychology, 15, 330-341.*https://doi.org/10.1080/01688639308402567
- Bedard, M.-A., Montplaisir, J., Richer, F., & Malo, J. (1991). Nocturnal hypoxemia as a determinant of vigilance impairment in sleep apnea syndrome. *Chest*, 100(2), 367-370. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.100.2.367
- Beebe, D., & Gozal, D. (2002). Obstructive sleep apnea and the prefrontal cortex: Towards a comprehensive model linking nocturnal upper airway obstruction to daytime cognitive and behavioral deficits. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 11(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2869.2002.00289.x
- Beebe, D., Groesz, L., Wells, C., Nichols, A., & McGee, K. (2003). The neuropsychological effects of obstructive sleep apnea: A meta-analysis of norm-referenced and casecontrolled data. *Sleep*, 26(3), 298-307. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/26.3.298
- Benjafield, A. V., Ayas, N. T., Eastwood, P. R., Heinzer, R., Ip, M. S., Morrell, M. J., . . .
 Pépin, J.-L. (2019). Estimation of the global prevalence and burden of obstructive sleep apnoea: A literature-based analysis. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 7(8), 687-698.

- Benjamini, Y., & Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the false discovery rate: A practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)*, 57(1), 289-300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- Berk, M., Sanders, K. M., Pasco, J. A., Jacka, F. N., Williams, L. J., Hayles, A. L., & Dodd, S. (2007). Vitamin D deficiency may play a role in depression. *Medical Hypotheses*, 69(6), 1316-1319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2007.04.001
- Berry, R. B., Brooks, R., Gamaldo, C. E., Harding, S. M., Marcus, C., & Vaughn, B. V. (2012).
 The AASM manual for the scoring of sleep and associated events. Rules, terminology and technical specifications. Darien, IL: American Academy of Sleep Medicine.
- Berry, R. B., Budhiraja, R., Gottlieb, D. J., Gozal, D., Iber, C., Kapur, V. K., . . . Tangredi, M. M. (2012). Rules for scoring respiratory events in sleep: Update of the 2007 AASM Manual for the Scoring of Sleep and Associated Events. Deliberations of the Sleep Apnea Definitions Task Force of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 8(5), 597-619. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.2172
- Bickelmann, A. G., Burwell, C. S., Robin, E. D., & Whaley, R. D. (1956). Extreme obesity associated with alveolar hypoventilation: A Pickwickian syndrome. *American Journal* of Medicine, 21(5), 811-818. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(56)90094-8
- Biehl, B., & Landauer, A. (1975). *Das profile of mood states (POMS)*. Unpublished manuscript, University of Mannheim, Germany.
- Bielicki, P., Trojnar, A., & Sobieraj, P. (2018). The impact of smoking status on obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) severity. *European Respiratory Journal*, 52(suppl 62), PA4356. https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.congress-2018.PA4356
- Billman, G. (2013). The LF/HF ratio does not accurately measure cardiac sympatho-vagal balance. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *4*, 26-26. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2013.00026

- Bilo, G., Zorzi, C., Munera, J. E. O., Torlasco, C., Giuli, V., & Parati, G. (2015). Validation of the Somnotouch-NIBP noninvasive continuous blood pressure monitor according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol revision 2010. *Blood Pressure Monitoring*, 20(5), 291.
- Bilyukov, R. G., Nikolov, M. S., Pencheva, V. P., Petrova, D. S., Georgiev, O. B., Mondeshki,
 T. L., & Milanova, V. K. (2018). Cognitive impairment and affective disorders in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *9*, 357-357. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00357
- Bin, Y. S., Cistulli, P. A., & Ford, J. B. (2016). Population-based study of sleep apnea in pregnancy and maternal and infant outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 12(6), 871-877. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.5890
- Bird, C. M., & Burgess, N. (2008). The hippocampus and memory: Insights from spatial processing. *Nature Reviews Neurosience*, 9(3), 182-194. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2335
- Bisogni, V., Pengo, M. F., Maiolino, G., & Rossi, G. P. (2016). The sympathetic nervous system and catecholamines metabolism in obstructive sleep apnoea. *Journal of thoracic Disease*, 8(2), 243-254. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.14
- Bittencourt, L. R., Lucchesi, L. M., Rueda, A. D., Garbuio, S. A., Palombini, L. O., Guilleminault, C., & Tufik, S. (2008). Placebo and modafinil effect on sleepiness in obstructive sleep apnea. *Progress in Neuropsychopharmacoly & Biological Psychiatry*, 32(2), 552-559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2007.10.016
- Bixler, E. O., Vgontzas, A. N., Lin, H. M., Calhoun, S. L., Vela-Bueno, A., & Kales, A. (2005).
 Excessive daytime sleepiness in a general population sample: the role of sleep apnea, age, obesity, diabetes, and depression. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 90(8), 4510-4515. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-0035

- Bixler, E. O., Vgontzas, A. N., Lin, H.-M., Have, T. T., Rein, J., Vela-Bueno, A., & Kales, A. (2001). Prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in women. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 163(3), 608-613. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.163.3.9911064
- Bjorvatn, B., Lehmann, S., Gulati, S., Aurlien, H., Pallesen, S., & Saxvig, I. W. (2015). Prevalence of excessive sleepiness is higher whereas insomnia is lower with greater severity of obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep & Breathing*, 19(4), 1387-1393.
- Bjorvatn, B., Rajakulendren, N., Lehmann, S., & Pallesen, S. (2018). Increased severity of obstructive sleep apnea is associated with less anxiety and depression. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 27(6), e12647. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12647
- Bloch, K. E. (1997). Polysomnography: A systematic review. *Technology & Health Care*, 5, 285-305. https://doi.org/10.3233/THC-1997-5403
- Bokhari, F., & Albaik, M. (2019). Vitamin D and its deficiency in Saudi Arabia. In. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.88745
- Bonnet, M. H., & Arand, D. L. (2003). Clinical effects of sleep fragmentation versus sleep deprivation. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 7(4), 297-310. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1053/smrv.2001.0245
- Bonsignore, M. R., Parati, G., Insalaco, G., Castiglioni, P., Marrone, O., Romano, S., . . . Di Rienzo, M. (2006). Baroreflex control of heart rate during sleep in severe obstructive sleep apnoea: Effects of acute CPAP. *European Respiratory Journal*, 27(1), 128-135. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.06.00042904
- Bonsignore, M. R., Saaresranta, T., & Riha, R. L. (2019). Sex differences in obstructive sleep apnoea. European Respiratory Review, 28(154), 190030. https://doi.org/10.1183/16000617.0030-2019

- Borges, J., Ginani, G., Hachul, H., Cintra, F., Tufik, S., & Pompéia, S. (2013). Executive functioning in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome patients without comorbidities: Focus on the fractionation of executive functions. *Journal of Clinical & Experimental Neuropsychology*, 35(10), 1094-1107. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2013.858661
- Bosi, M., Milioli, G., Riccardi, S., Melpignano, A., Vaudano, A. E., Cortelli, P., . . . Parrino, L. (2018). Arousal responses to respiratory events during sleep: The role of pulse wave amplitude. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 27(2), 261-269. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12593
- Bouloukaki, I., Tsiligianni, I., Mermigkis, C., Bonsignore, M. R., Markakis, M., Pataka, A., ...
 & Schiza, S. (2020). Vitamin D deficiency in patients evaluated for obstructive sleep apnea: is it associated with disease severity?. Sleep and Breathing, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-020-02142-w
- Bowden, S., Dumendzic, J., Hopper, J., Kinsella, G., Clifford, C., & Tucker, A. (1992). Healthy adults' performance on the Austin maze. *Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 6(1), 43-52. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854049208404116
- Bradicich, M., Sievi, N. A., Grewe, F. A., Gasperetti, A., Kohler, M., & Schwarz, E. I. (2020). Nocturnal heart rate variability in obstructive sleep apnoea: A cross-sectional analysis of the Sleep Heart Health Study. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, S129-S138. http://jtd.amegroups.com/article/view/44697
- Bradley, D., & Phillipson, E. (1985). Pathogenesis and pathophysiology of the obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Medical Clinics of North America*, 69(6), 1169-1185. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-7125(16)30981-6
- Brooks, B., Cistulli, P. A., Borkman, M., Ross, G., McGhee, S., Grunstein, R. R., . . .Yue, D. K. (1994). Obstructive sleep apnea in obese noninsulin-dependent diabetic patients: Effect of continuous positive airway pressure treatment on

insulin responsiveness. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* & *Metabolism*, 79(6), 1681-1685. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.79.6.7989475

- Buckley, T. M., & Schatzberg, A. F. (2005). On the interactions of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis and sleep: Normal HPA axis activity and circadian rhythm, exemplary sleep disorders. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 90(5), 3106-3114.
- Bucks, R. S., Nanthakumar, S., Starkstein, S. S., Hillman, D. R., James, A., McArdle, N., . . . Skinner, T. C. (2018). Discerning depressive symptoms in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: The effect of continuous positive airway pressure therapy on Hamilton Depression Rating Scale symptoms. *Sleep*, 41(12). https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsy178
- Bucks, R. S., Nanthakumar, S., Starkstein, S. S., Hillman, D. R., James, A., McArdle, N., Hatch, K., & Skinner, T. C. (2018). Discerning depressive symptoms in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: the effect of continuous positive airway pressure therapy on Hamilton Depression Rating Scale symptoms. Sleep, 41(12). https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsy178
- Bucks, R. S., Olaithe, M., & Eastwood, P. (2013). Neurocognitive function in obstructive sleep apnoea: A meta-review. *Respirology*, 18(1), 61-70. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1843.2012.02255.x
- Budhiraja, R., Javaheri, S., Pavlova, M. K., Epstein, L. J., Omobomi, O., & Quan, S.
 F. (2020). Prevalence and correlates of periodic limb movements in OSA and the effect of CPAP therapy. *Neurology*, 94(17), e1820-e1827. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.00000000008844

- Burch, G. E. (1954). Digital plethysmography: Introducing a method for recording simultaneously the time course of the rate of blood flow into and out of the finger tip (Vol. 11). Grune & Stratton.
- Burr, R. L. (2007). Interpretation of normalized spectral heart rate variability indices in sleep research: A critical review. *Sleep*, 30(7), 913-919. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/30.7.913
- Cakirer, B., Hans, M. G., Graham, G., Aylor, J., Tishler, P. V., & Redline, S. (2001). The relationship between craniofacial morphology and obstructive sleep apnea in whites and in African-Americans. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 163(4), 947-950. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.163.4.2005136
- Camm, A. J., Malik, M., Bigger, J. T., Breithardt, G., Cerutti, S., Cohen, R. J., ... & Lombardi,
 F. (1996). Heart rate variability: standards of measurement, physiological interpretation
 and clinical use. Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North
 American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology.
- Canessa, N., Castronovo, V., Cappa, S. F., Aloia, M. S., Marelli, S., Falini, A., . . . Ferini-Strambi, L. (2011). Obstructive sleep apnea: Brain structural changes and neurocognitive function before and after treatment. *American Journal of Respiratory* & *Critical Care Medicine*, 183(10), 1419-1426. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201005-0693OC
- Caporale, M., Palmeri, R., Corallo, F., Muscarà, N., Romeo, L., Bramanti, A., . . . Lo Buono,
 V. (2020). Cognitive impairment in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: A descriptive review. *Sleep & Breathing*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-020-02084-3
- Carley, D. W., & Farabi, S. S. (2016). Physiology of sleep. *Diabetes Spectrum*, 29(1), 5-9. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaspect.29.1.5

- Carskadon, M. A., & Dement, W. C. (2005). Normal human sleep: An overview. *Principles & Practice of Sleep Medicine*, *4*, 13-23.
- Carskadon, M., Dement, W., Kryger, M., Roth, T., & Roehrs, T. (2005). Normal human sleep: An overview. In M. H. Kryger, T. Roth, & W. C. Dement (Eds.), *Principles and practice of sleep medicine* (5th ed., pp. 13-23). Elsevier/Saunders. https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-72-160797-7/50009-4
- Carty, M. L., Wixey, J. A., Kesby, J., Reinebrant, H. E., Colditz, P. B., Gobe, G., & Buller, K.
 M. (2010). Long-term losses of amygdala corticotropin-releasing factor neurons are associated with behavioural outcomes following neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 208(2), 609-618.
- Casale, M., Pappacena, M., Rinaldi, V., Bressi, F., Baptista, P., & Salvinelli, F. (2009).
 Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: From phenotype to genetic basis. *Current Genomics*, 10(2), 119-126. https://doi.org/10.2174/138920209787846998
- Catai, A. M., Pastre, C. M., Godoy, M. F. d., Silva, E. d., Takahashi, A. C. d. M., & Vanderlei,
 L. C. M. (2020). Heart rate variability: Are you using it properly? Standardisation
 checklist of procedures. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, 24(2), 91-102.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjpt.2019.02.006
- Catcheside, P., Chiong, S., Mercer, J., Saunders, N., & McEvoy, R. (2002). Noninvasive cardiovascular markers of acoustically induced arousal from non–rapid-eye-movement sleep. *Sleep*, *25*(7), 797-804.
- Chai-Coetzer, C. L., Antic, N. A., Rowland, L. S., Catcheside, P. G., Esterman, A., Reed, R. L., ... McEvoy, R. D. (2011). A simplified model of screening questionnaire and home monitoring for obstructive sleep apnoea in primary care. *Thorax*, 66(3), 213. https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.2010.152801

- Champod, A. S., Eskes, G. A., Foster, G. E., Hanly, P. J., Pialoux, V., Beaudin, A. E., & Poulin,
 M. J. (2013). Effects of Acute Intermittent Hypoxia On Working Memory In Young
 Healthy Adults. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 187(10),
 1148-1150. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201209-1742LE
- Chapman, A. B., Abraham, W. T., Zamudio, S., Coffin, C., Merouani, A., Young, D., . . . Schrier, R. W. (1998). Temporal relationships between hormonal and hemodynamic changes in early human pregnancy. *Kidney International*, 54(6), 2056-2063. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00217.x
- Chapman, E., Hagen, S., & Gallagher, H. (2016). Is there a relationship between ultrasound scanning ability (sonography) and visuospatial perception or psychomotor ability? *Ultrasound (Leeds, England), 24*(4), 214-221. https://doi.org/10.1177/1742271X16674039
- Chapman, J. L., Kempler, L., Chang, C. L., Williams, S. C., Sivam, S., Wong, K. K., . . . Marshall, N. S. (2014). Modafinil improves daytime sleepiness in patients with mild to moderate obstructive sleep apnoea not using standard treatments: A randomised placebo-controlled crossover trial. *Thorax, 69*(3), 274-279. https://doi.org/10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-203796
- Chiner, E., Signes-Costa, J., Arriero, J. M., Marco, J., Fuentes, I., & Sergado, A. (1999). Nocturnal oximetry for the diagnosis of the sleep apnoea hypopnoea syndrome: A method to reduce the number of polysomnographies? *Thorax*, 54(11), 968-971. https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.54.11.968
- Chiu, H.-Y., Chen, P.-Y., Chuang, L.-P., Chen, N.-H., Tu, Y.-K., Hsieh, Y.-J., . . . Guilleminault, C. (2017). Diagnostic accuracy of the Berlin questionnaire, STOP-Bang, STOP, and Epworth Sleepiness Scale in detecting obstructive

sleep apnea: A bivariate meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *36*, 57-70. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2016.10.004

- Chooi, Y. C., Ding, C., & Magkos, F. (2019). The epidemiology of obesity. *Metabolism: Clinical & Experimental*, 92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2018.09.005
- Chotinaiwattarakul, W., O'Brien, L. M., Fan, L., & Chervin, R. D. (2009). Fatigue, tiredness, and lack of energy improve with treatment for OSA. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 5(3), 222-227. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19960642, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2699166/
- Chouchou, F., Pichot, V., Pépin, J., Tamisier, R., Celle, S., Maudoux, D., . . . & PROOF Study Group. (2013). Sympathetic overactivity due to sleep fragmentation is associated with elevated diurnal systolic blood pressure in healthy elderly subjects: The PROOF-SYNAPSE study. *European Heart Journal*, *34*(28), 2122-2131.
- Chung, F., Abdullah, H., & Liao, P. (2016). STOP-Bang Questionnaire: A practical approach to screen for obstructive sleep apnea. *Chest*, 149(3), 631-638. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.15-0903
- Chung, F., Subramanyam, R., Liao, P., Sasaki, E., Shapiro, C., & Sun, Y. (2012). High STOP-Bang score indicates a high probability of obstructive sleep apnoea. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 108(5), 768-775. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aes022
- Chung, F., Yegneswaran, B., Liao, P., Chung, S. A., Vairavanathan, S., Islam, S., . . . Shapiro,
 C. M. (2008). STOP questionnaire: A tool to screen patients for obstructive sleep apnea. *Anesthesiology*, *108*(5), 812-821. https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.0b013e31816d83e4
- Coello, E., Ardila, A., & Rosselli, M. (1990). Is there a cognitive marker in major depression? *International Journal of Neuroscience*, *50*(3-4), 137-145.
- Cohen, J. (1992). Statistical power analysis. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 1(3), 98-101. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.ep10768783

- Cornforth, D., Tarvainen, M., & Jelinek, H. (2014). How to calculate Renyi entropy from heart rate variability, and why it matters for detecting cardiac autonomic neuropathy. *Frontiers in Bioengineering & Biotechnology: Computational Physiology & Medicine, 2, 34.* https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2014.00034
- Cox, D. J., Kovatchev, B. P., Gonder-Frederick, L. A., Summers, K. H., McCall, A., Grimm,
 K. J., & Clarke, W. L. (2005). Relationships between hyperglycemia and cognitive performance among adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 28(1), 71-77. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.28.1.71
- Crinion, S. J., Ryan, S., & McNicholas, W. T. (2017). Obstructive sleep apnoea as a cause of nocturnal nondipping blood pressure: Recent evidence regarding clinical importance and underlying mechanisms. *European Respiratory Journal*, 49(1), 1601818. https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.01818-2016
- Cross, N. E., Harrison, C. M., Yee, B. J., Grunstein, R. R., Wong, K. K. H., Britt, H. C., & Marshall, N. S. (2016). Management of snoring and sleep apnea in Australian primary care: The BEACH study (2000-2014). *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *12*(8), 1167-1173. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.6060
- Cross, R. L., Kumar, R., Macey, P. M., Doering, L. V., Alger, J. R., Yan-Go, F. L., & Harper,
 R. M. (2008). Neural alterations and depressive symptoms in obstructive sleep apnea patients. *Sleep*, *31*(8), 1103-1109.
- Crowe, S. F., Barclay, L., Brennan, S., Farkas, L., Gould, E., Katchmarsky, S., & Vayda, S. (1999). The cognitive determinants of performance on the Austin maze. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 5(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1355617799511016

- Cuspidi, C., Tadic, M., Sala, C., Gherbesi, E., Grassi, G., & Mancia, G. (2019). Blood pressure non-dipping and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 8(9), 1367. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8091367
- D'Rozario, A. L., Field, C. J., Hoyos, C. M., Naismith, S. L., Dungan, G. C., Wong, K. K. H., . . . Bartlett, D. J. (2018). Impaired neurobehavioural performance in untreated obstructive sleep apnea patients using a novel standardised test battery. *Frontiers in Surgery*, 5(35). https://doi.org/10.3389/fsurg.2018.00035
- da Silva, B. C., Kasai, T., Coelho, F. M., Zatz, R., & Elias, R. M. (2018). Fluid redistribution in sleep apnea: Therapeutic implications in edematous states. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 4, 256-256. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2017.00256
- Dai, Y., Li, X., Zhang, X., Wang, S., Sang, J., Tian, X., & Cao, H. (2016). Prevalence and predisposing factors for depressive status in Chinese patients with obstructive sleep apnoea: A large-sample survey. *PLoS One*, 11(3), e0149939. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0149939
- Darby, D., & Walsh, K. W. (2005). Walsh's neuropsychology: A clinical approach. Churchill Livingstone.
- de Aquino Lemos, V., Antunes, H., dos Santos, R., Lira, Tufik, S., & de Mello, M. (2012).
 High altitude exposure impairs sleep patterns, mood, and cognitive functions. *Psychophysiology*, 49(9), 1298-1306. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2012.01411.x
- Delessert, A., Espa, F., Rossetti, A., Lavigne, G., Tafti, M., & Heinzer, R. (2010). Pulse wave amplitude drops during sleep are reliable surrogate markers of changes in cortical activity. *Sleep*, *33*(12), 1687-1692. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/33.12.1687
- Delhikar, N., Sommers, L., Rayner, G., Schembri, R., Robinson, S.R., Wilson, S., & Jackson, M. (2019). Autobiographical memory from different life stages in individuals with

obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 25(3), 266-274. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617718001091

- Dempsey, J. A., Veasey, S. C., Morgan, B. J., & O'Donnell, C. P. (2010). Pathophysiology of sleep apnea. *Physiological Reviews*, 90(1), 47-112. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00043.2008
- Derderian, S. S., Bridenbaugh, R. H., & Rajagopal, K. R. (1988). Neuropsychologic symptoms in obstructive sleep apnea improve after treatment with nasal continuous positive airway pressure. *Chest*, *94*(5), 1023-1027. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.94.5.1023
- Dewan, N. A., Nieto, F. J., & Somers, V. K. (2015). Intermittent hypoxemia and OSA: Implications for comorbidities. *Chest*, 147(1), 266-274. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.14-0500
- Dijk, D.-J. (2009). Regulation and functional correlates of slow wave sleep (SWS). Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, 5(2 Suppl), S6-S15. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19998869
- Dimsdale, J. E., Loredo, J. S., & Profant, J. (2000). Effect of continuous positive airway pressure on blood pressure: A placebo trial. *Hypertension*, *35*(1), 144-147.
- Ding, X., Yan, B. P., Karlen, W., Zhang, Y.-T., & Tsang, H. K. (2020). Pulse transit time based respiratory rate estimation with singular spectrum analysis. *Medical & Biological Engineering & Computing*, 58(2), 257-266. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11517-019-02088-6
- Dinges, D. F., & Powell, J. W. (1985). Microcomputer analyses of performance on a portable, simple visual RT task during sustained operations. *Behavior Research Methods*, *Instruments, & Computers, 17*(6), 652-655.

- Dopp, J. M., Reichmuth, K. J., & Morgan, B. J. (2007). Obstructive sleep apnea and hypertension: Mechanisms, evaluation, and management. *Current Hypertension Reports*, 9(6), 529-534. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11906-007-0095-2
- Draghici, A., & Taylor, J. (2016). The physiological basis and measurement of heart rate variability in humans. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology*, *35*(1), 22-22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40101-016-0113-7
- Durân, J., Esnaola, S., Rubio, R., & Iztueta, Á. (2001). Obstructive sleep apnea–hypopnea and related clinical features in a population-based sample of subjects aged 30 to 70 yr. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 163(3), 685-689. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.163.3.2005065
- Edwards, C., Mukherjee, S., Simpson, L., Palmer, L. J., Almeida, O. P., & Hillman, D. R. (2015). Depressive symptoms before and after treatment of obstructive sleep apnea in men and women. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *11*(9), 1029-1038. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.5020
- Edwards, L., Ring, C., McIntyre, D., Carroll, D., & Martin, U. (2007). Psychomotor speed in hypertension: Effects of reaction time components, stimulus modality, and phase of the cardiac cycle. *Psychophysiology*, 44(3), 459-468. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2007.00521.x
- Edwards, N., Blyton, D. M., Kirjavainen, T., Kesby, G. J., & Sullivan, C. E. (2000). Nasal continuous positive airway pressure reduces sleep-induced blood pressure increments in preeclampsia. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 162(1), 252-257. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.162.1.9905006
- Ejaz, S. M., Khawaja, I. S., Bhatia, S., & Hurwitz, T. D. (2011). Obstructive sleep apnea and depression: A review. *Innovations in Clinical Neuroscience*, 8(8), 17-25. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3173758/

- Ekstedt, M., Akerstedt, T., & Söderström, M. (2004). Microarousals during sleep are associated with increased levels of lipids, cortisol, and blood pressure. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 66(6), 925-931. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.psy.0000145821.25453.f7
- Elias, M. F., Robbins, M. A., Schultz Jr, N. R., & Pierce, T. W. (1990). Is blood pressure an important variable in research on aging and neuropsychological test performance? *Journal of Gerontology*, 45(4), 128-135. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/45.4.p128
- Eltzschig, H. K., & Eckle, T. (2011). Ischemia and reperfusion: From mechanism to translation. *Nature Medicine*, *17*(11), 1391-1401. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2507
- Epstein, L. J., Kristo, D., Strollo, P. J., Jr., Friedman, N., Malhotra, A., Patil, S. P., . . .
 Weinstein, M. D. (2009). Clinical guideline for the evaluation, management and long-term care of obstructive sleep apnea in adults. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 5(3), 263-276. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19960649
- Facco, F. L., Ouyang, D. W., Zee, P. C., & Grobman, W. A. (2014). Sleep disordered breathing in a high-risk cohort prevalence and severity across pregnancy. *American Journal of Perinatology*, 31(10), 899-904. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0033-1363768
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007, 2007/05/01). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences.
 Behavior Research Methods, 39(2), 175-191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Faust, K., Nelson, B. D., Sarapas, C., & Pliskin, N. H. (2017). Depression and performance on the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status. *Applied Neuropsychology: Adult, 24*(4), 350-356. https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2016.1185426
- Fawzi, A., Basheer, H. H., Patel, M., & Sharma, S. (2017). Oxygen desaturation index for diagnosing obstructive sleep apnoea in patients with morbid obesity. *Thorax*, 72(12), A115-A115. https://doi.org/10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-210983.204

- Ferini-Strambi, L., Baietto, C., Di Gioia, M. R., Castaldi, P., Castronovo, C., Zucconi, M., & Cappa, S. F. (2003). Cognitive dysfunction in patients with obstructive sleep apnea (OSA): Partial reversibility after continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP). *Brain Research Bulletin, 61*(1), 87-92. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0361-9230(03)00068-6
- Ferri, R., Drago, V., Aricò, D., Bruni, O., Remington, R. W., Stamatakis, K., & Punjabi, N. M. (2010). The effects of experimental sleep fragmentation on cognitive processing. *Sleep Medicine*, 11(4), 378-385. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2010.01.006
- Findley, L. J., Barth, J. T., Powers, D. C., Wilhoit, S. C., Boyd, D. G., & Suratt, P. M. (1986). Cognitive impairment in patients with obstructive sleep apnea and associated hypoxemia. *Chest*, 90(5), 686-690. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.90.5.686
- Firbank, M. J., Wiseman, R. M., Burton, E. J., Saxby, B. K., O'Brien, J. T., & Ford, G. A. (2007). Brain atrophy and white matter hyperintensity change in older adults and relationship to blood pressure. Brain atrophy, WMH change and blood pressure. *Journal of Neurology*, 254(6), 713-721. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-006-0238-4
- Fong, S.Y., Ho, C. K., & Wing, Y. K. (2005). Comparing MSLT and ESS in the measurement of excessive daytime sleepiness in obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 58(1), 55-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2004.05.004
- Forte, G., De Pascalis, V., Favieri, F., & Casagrande, M. (2019). Effects of blood pressure on cognitive performance: A systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(1), 34. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9010034
- Forte, G., Favieri, F., & Casagrande, M. (2019). Heart rate variability and cognitive function: A systematic review. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 13, 710. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00710

- Fowler, B., Taylor, M., & Porlier, G. (1987). The effects of hypoxia on reaction time and movement time components of a perceptual–motor task. *Ergonomics*, 30(10), 1475-1485. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140138708966040
- Franklin, K. A., & Lindberg, E. (2015). Obstructive sleep apnea is a common disorder in the population—a review on the epidemiology of sleep apnea. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 7(8), 1311-1322. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.06.11
- Frewen, J., Finucane, C., Savva, G., Boyle, G., Coen, R., & Kenny, R. (2013). Cognitive function is associated with impaired heart rate variability in ageing adults: The Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing wave one results. *Clinical Autonomic Research*, 23(6), 313-323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10286-013-0214-x
- Gabb, G. M., Mangoni, A. A., Anderson, C. S., Cowley, D., Dowden, J. S., Golledge, J., . . . Perkovic, V. (2016). Guideline for the diagnosis and management of hypertension in adults—2016. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 205(2), 85-89.
- Gagnon, K., Baril, A. A., Gagnon, J. F., Fortin, M., Décary, A., Lafond, C., . . . Gosselin, N.
 (2014). Cognitive impairment in obstructive sleep apnea. *Pathologie Biologie*, 62(5), 233-240. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.patbio.2014.05.015
- Gaines, J., Vgontzas, A. N., Fernandez-Mendoza, J., & Bixler, E. O. (2018). Obstructive sleep apnea and the metabolic syndrome: The road to clinically-meaningful phenotyping, improved prognosis, and personalized treatment. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 42, 211-219. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2018.08.009
- Galluzzi, S., Nicosia, F., Geroldi, C., Alicandri, A., Bonetti, M., Romanelli, G., . . . Frisoni, G.
 B. (2009). Cardiac autonomic dysfunction is associated with white matter lesions in patients with mild cognitive impairment. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series*A, Biological Sciences & Medical Sciences, 64(12), 1312-1315. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glp105

- Garbarino, S., Guglielmi, O., Sanna, A., Mancardi, G. L., & Magnavita, N. (2016). Risk of occupational accidents in workers with obstructive sleep apnea: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep*, 39(6), 1211-1218. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.5834
- Garbarino, S., Scoditti, E., Lanteri, P., Conte, L., Magnavita, N., & Toraldo, D. M. (2018).
 Obstructive sleep apnea with or without excessive daytime sleepiness: Clinical and experimental data-driven phenotyping. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 9, 505. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00505
- Gąsecki, D., Kwarciany, M., Nyka, W., & Narkiewicz, K. (2013). Hypertension, brain damage and cognitive decline. *Current Hypertension Reports*, 15(6), 547-558. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11906-013-0398-4
- Gehring, J., Gesche, H., Drewniok, G., Küchler, G., & Patzak, A. (2018). Nocturnal blood pressure fluctuations measured by using pulse transit time in patients with severe obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Sleep & Breathing*, 22(2), 337-343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-017-1555-9
- George, C. F. P. (2001). Reduction in motor vehicle collisions following treatment of sleep apnoea with nasal CPAP. *Thorax*, 56(7), 508-512. https://doi.org/10.1136/thorax.56.7.508 %J Thorax
- Gesche, H., Grosskurth, D., Küchler, G., & Patzak, A. (2012). Continuous blood pressure measurement by using the pulse transit time: Comparison to a cuff-based method. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 112(1), 309-315.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-1983-3
- Gesztelyi, G., Finnegan, W., DeMaro, J. A., Wang, J.-Y., Chen, J.-L., & Fenstermacher, J. (1993). Parenchymal microvascular systems and cerebral atrophy in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Brain Research*, 611(2), 249-257. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(93)90510-T

- Gislason, T., & Sunnergren, O. (2014). Obstructive sleep apnoea in adults. In *Respiratory epidemiology: ERS monograph* (pp. 88-105). European Respiratory Society. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=_clUBAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PA8 8&dq=.+Obstructive+sleep+apnoea+in+adults.+In:+Annesi-Maesano+I,+Lundb%C3%A4ck+B+and+Viegi+G,+eds.+Respiratory+Epidemiology +(ERS+Monograph).+Sheffield,+European+Respiratory+Society,+2014%3B+pp.+88 %E2%80%93105.&ots=30ihSG4XGn&sig=qFwpG4e2J-uq2WvYkIUUmf1AP_U#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Goel, A. K., Talwar, D., & Jain, S. K. (2015). Evaluation of short-term use of nocturnal nasal continuous positive airway pressure for a clinical profile and exercise capacity in adult patients with obstructive sleep apnea–hypopnea syndrome. *Lung India*, 32(3), 225-232. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-2113.156226
- Goldstein, D. S., Bentho, O., Park, M.-Y., & Sharabi, Y. (2011). Low-frequency power of heart rate variability is not a measure of cardiac sympathetic tone but may be a measure of modulation of cardiac autonomic outflows by baroreflexes. *Experimental Physiology*, 96(12), 1255-1261. https://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.2010.056259
- Golpe, R., Jiménez, A., Carpizo, R., & Cifrian, J. M. (1999). Utility of home oximetry as a screening test for patients with moderate to severe symptoms of obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep* 22(7), 932. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/22.7.932
- Gottesman, R. F., Schneider, A. L. C., Albert, M., Alonso, A., Bandeen-Roche, K., Coker, L., . . . Mosley, T. H. (2014). Midlife hypertension and 20-year cognitive change: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Neurocognitive Study. *JAMA Neurology*, 71(10), 1218-1227. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.1646
- Gottlieb, D. J., Whitney, C. W., Bonekat, W. H., Iber, C., James, G. D., Lebowitz, M., . . . Rosenberg, C. E. (1999). Relation of sleepiness to respiratory disturbance ondex.

American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 159(2), 502-507. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.159.2.9804051

- Gowing, L. R., Ali, R. L., Allsop, S., Marsden, J., Turf, E. E., West, R., & Witton, J. (2015).
 Global statistics on addictive behaviours: 2014 status report. *Addiction*, *110*(6), 904-919. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12899
- Goyal, M., & Johnson, J. (2017). Obstructive sleep apnea diagnosis and management. *Missouri Medicine*, *114*(2), 120-124. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30228558
- Greenber, H., Lakticova, V., & Scharf, S. M. (2017). Obstructive sleep apnea: Clinical features, evaluation, and principles of management. In T. Roth & W. C. Dement (Eds.), *Principles and practice of sleep medicine* (6th ed., pp. 1110-1124). Elsevier.
- Gregory, L. (2011). Autobiographical memory. In S. Goldstein & J. A. Naglieri (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of child behavior and development* (pp. 187-187). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-79061-9_252
- Grote, L., Zou, D., Kraiczi, H., & Hedner, J. (2003). Finger plethysmography—a method for monitoring finger blood flow during sleep disordered breathing. Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology, 136(2-3), 141-152. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1569-9048(03)00090-9
- Güemes, M., Rahman, S. A., & Hussain, K. (2016). What is a normal blood glucose? Archives of Disease in Childhood, 101(6), 569-574. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2015-308336
- Guilleminault, C., Tilkian, A., & Dement, W. C. (1976). The sleep apnea syndrome. *Annual Review in Medicine*, 27, 465-484. https://doi.org/ 2601:40e:8200:bfa0:b816:431d:c8c2:78c6
- Gyulay, S., Olson, L. G., Hensley, M. J., King, M. T., Allen, K. M., & Saunders, N. A. (1993). A comparison of clinical assessment and home oximetry in the diagnosis of obstructive

sleep apnea. *The American Review of Respiratory Disease*, 147(1), 50-53. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm/147.1.50

- Haba-Rubio, J., Darbellay, G., Herrmann, F., Frey, J., Fernandes, A., Vesin, J., . . . Tschopp. (2005). Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: Effect of respiratory events and arousal on pulse wave amplitude measured by photoplethysmography in NREM sleep. *Sleep & Breathing*, 9(2), 73-81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-005-0017-y
- Hamilton, G., & Chai-Coetzer, L. C. (2019). Assessment and investigation of adult OSA. Australian Journal for General Practitioners, 48, 176-181. https://doi.org/10.31128/AJGP-12-18-4777
- Hang, L.-W., Wang, H.-L., Chen, J.-H., Hsu, J.-C., Lin, H.-H., Chung, W.-S., & Chen, Y.-F. (2015). Validation of overnight oximetry to diagnose patients with moderate to severe obstructive sleep apnea. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, 15(1), 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12890-015-0017-z
- Hansford, A. (2011). Thirty years of CPAP: A brief history of OSA. *ResMedica Clinical Newsletter* (14),16.https://www.resmed.com/au/dam/documents/articles/clinical_newsletter/resmedic a14.pdf
- Harris, M., Glozier, N., Ratnavadivel, R., & Grunstein, R. R. (2009, Dec). Obstructive sleep apnea and depression. Sleep Med Rev, 13(6), 437-444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2009.04.001
- Hassan, G. (2018). Syndrome Z and its association with obstructive sleep apnea. *International Journal of Diabetes & Endocrinology*, 3(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ijde.20180301.13
- Hayley, A. C., Williams, L. J., Kennedy, G. A., Berk, M., Brennan, S. L., & Pasco,J. A. (2014). Prevalence of excessive daytime sleepiness in a sample of the

Australianadultpopulation.SleepMedicine,15(3),348-354.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2013.11.783

- Hedner, J., Darpo, B., Ejnell, H., Carlson, J., & Caidahl, K. (1995). Reduction in sympathetic activity after long-term CPAP treatment in sleep apnoea: cardiovascular implications. *European Respiratory Journal*, 8(2), 222. http://erj.ersjournals.com/content/8/2/222.abstract
- Hennig, A., Gesche, H., Fietze, I., Penzel, T., Glos, M., & Patzak, A. (2012). Measurement of sleep apnoea-related blood pressure changes using the pulse transit time and the Penaz principle. *Atemwegs- und Lungenkrankheiten, 38*, 447-454. https://doi.org/10.5414/ATX01811
- Henry, J. D., & Crawford, J. R. (2005). The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): Construct validity and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 44(Pt 2), 227-239. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466505x29657
- Hill, E. A. (2016). Obstructive sleep apnoea/hypopnoea syndrome in adults with Down syndrome. *Breathe*, *12*(4), e91-e96. https://doi.org/10.1183/20734735.012116
- Hirotsu, C., Betta, M., Bernardi, G., Marques-Vidal, P., Vollenweider, P., Waeber, G., . . . Heinzer, R. (2020). Pulse wave amplitude drops during sleep: Clinical significance and characteristics in a general population sample. *Sleep*, 43(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsz322
- Hirsch, J. A., & Bishop, B. (1981). Respiratory sinus arrhythmia in humans: How breathing pattern modulates heart rate. *American Journal of Physiology—Heart & Circulatory Physiology*, 241(4), H620-H629. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.1981.241.4.H620
- Hocking, J., Thomas, H. J., Dzafic, I., Williams, R. J., Reutens, D. C., & Spooner, D. M. (2013). Disentangling the cognitive components supporting Austin maze performance in left

versus right temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 29(3), 485-491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.08.020

- Hoffstein, V. (2002). Relationship between smoking and sleep apnea in clinic population. *Sleep*, 25(5), 517-522. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/25.5.517
- Holland, A. C., & Kensinger, E. A. (2010). Emotion and autobiographical memory. *Physics of Life Reviews*, 7(1), 88-131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plrev.2010.01.006
- Hong, C. C.-H., Fallon, J. H., Friston, K. J., & Harris, J. C. (2018, 2018-October-31). Rapid
 Eye Movements in Sleep Furnish a Unique Probe Into Consciousness [Review].
 Frontiers in Psychology, 9(2087). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02087
- Hong, S., & Dimsdale, J. E. (2003). Physical activity and perception of energy and fatigue in obstructive sleep apnea. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 35(7), 1088-1092. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.Mss.0000074566.94791.24
- Hori, T., Sugita, Y., Koga, E., Shirakawa, S., Inoue, K., Uchida, S., . . . Fukuda, N. (2001).
 Proposed supplements and amendments to 'A Manual of Standardized Terminology,
 Techniques and Scoring System for Sleep Stages of Human Subjects', the
 Rechtschaffen & Kales (1968) standard. *Psychiatry & Clinical Neurosciences*, 55(3),
 305-310. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1819.2001.00810.x
- Horton, C. L., & Malinowski, J. E. (2015). Autobiographical memory and hyperassociativity in the dreaming brain: Implications for memory consolidation in sleep. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6.
- Hoth, K., Zimmerman, M., Meschede, K., Arnedt, J., & Aloia, M. (2013). Obstructive sleep apnea: Impact of hypoxemia on memory. *Sleep & breathing*, 17(2), 811-817. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-012-0769-0

- Hou, H., Zhao, Y., Yu, W., Dong, H., Xue, X., Ding, J., . . . Wang, W. (2018). Association of obstructive sleep apnea with hypertension: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Global Health*, 8(1), 010405. https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.08.010405
- Hou, Y. X., Jia, S. S., & Liu, Y. H. (2010, Apr). 17beta-Estradiol accentuates contractility of rat genioglossal muscle via regulation of estrogen receptor alpha. Arch Oral Biol, 55(4), 309-317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archoralbio.2010.02.002
- Howard, M. E., Desai, A. V., Grunstein, R. R., Hukins, C., Armstrong, J. G., Joffe, D., . . .
 Pierce, R. J. (2004). Sleepiness, sleep-disordered breathing, and accident risk factors in commercial vehicle drivers. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 170(9), 1014-1021. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200312-1782OC
- Huang, K.-T., Chin, C.-H., Tseng, C.-C., Chang, H.-C., Chen, Y.-C., Wang, C.-C., ... Su, M.-C. (2014). The influence of obesity on different genders in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *The Scientific World Journal, 2014*, 487215-487215. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/487215
- Iadecola, C., & Gottesman, R. F. (2019). Neurovascular and cognitive dysfunction in hypertension. *Circulation Research*, 124(7), 1025-1044. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.118.313260
- Iadecola, C., Yaffe, K., Biller, J., Bratzke, L. C., Faraci, F. M., Gorelick, P. B., . . . Zeki Al Hazzouri, A. (2016). Impact of hypertension on cognitive function: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Hypertension*, 68(6), e67-e94. https://doi.org/10.1161/hyp.00000000000000053
- Ibrahim, A. S., Almohammed, A. A., Allangawi, M. H., A Sattar, H. A. A., Mobayed, H. S., Pannerselvam, B., & Philipose, M. V. (2007). Predictors of obstructive sleep apnea in snorers. *Annals of Saudi Mmedicine*, 27(6), 421-426. https://doi.org/10.5144/0256-4947.2007.421

- Idiaquez, J., Santos, I., Santin, J., Del Rio, R., & Iturriaga, R. (2014). Neurobehavioral and autonomic alterations in adults with obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep Medicine*, 15(11), 1319-1323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2014.05.030
- Ip, M. S. M., Lam, B., Tang, L. C. H., Lauder, I. J., Ip, T. Y., & Lam, W. K. (2004). A community study of sleep-disordered breathing in middle-aged chinese women in hong Kong: Prevalence and gender differences. *Chest*, 125(1), 127-134. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.125.1.127
- Irwin, M., Thompson, J., Miller, C., Gillin, J. C., & Ziegler, M. (1999). Effects of sleep and sleep deprivation on catecholamine and interleukin-2 levels in humans: Clinical implications. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 84(6), 1979-1985. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.84.6.5788
- Ishman, S. L., Cavey, R. M., Mettel, T. L., & Gourin, C. G. (2010). Depression, sleepiness, and disease severity in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Laryngoscope*, 120(11), 2331-2335. https://doi.org/10.1002/lary.21111
- Jamal, B., Eskandrani, R., & Alyahya, A. A. (2018). Undiagnosed obstructive sleep apnoea in the population of Saudi Arabia. Oral Health and Dental Management Journal, 17 (4).
- James, P. T. (2004). Obesity: The worldwide epidemic. *Clinics in Dermatology*, 22(4), 276-280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2004.01.010
- Jaryal, A. K., Selvaraj, N., Santhosh, J., Anand, S., & Deepak, K. K. (2009). Monitoring of cardiovascular reactivity to cold stress using digital volume pulse characteristics in health and diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Monitoring & Computing*, 23(2), 123-130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10877-009-9174-z
- Jehan, S., Auguste, E., Pandi-Perumal, S. R., Kalinowski, J., Myers, A. K., Zizi, F., Rajanna, M. G., Jean-Louis, G., & McFarlane, S. I. (2017). Depression, Obstructive Sleep Apnea

and Psychosocial Health. Sleep medicine and disorders : international journal, 1(3), 00012. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29517078

- Jehan, S., Auguste, E., Zizi, F., Pandi-Perumal, S. R., Gupta, R., Attarian, H., Jean-Louis, G., & McFarlane, S. I. (2016). Obstructive Sleep Apnea: Women's Perspective. Journal of sleep medicine and disorders, 3(6), 1064. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28239685
- Jehan, S., Masters-Isarilov, A., Idoko Salifu, F. Z., Jean-Louis, G., Pandi-Perumal, S. R., Gupta, R., Brzezinski, A., & McFarlane, S. I. (2015). Sleep disorders in postmenopausal women. Journal of sleep disorders & therapy, 4(5).
- Jelic, S., Bartels, M. N., Mateika, J. H., Ngai, P., DeMeersman, R. E., & Basner, R. C. (2002). Arterial stiffness increases during obstructive sleep apneas. *Sleep*, *25*(8), 850-855.
- Jennum, P., & SjØL, A. (1992). Epidemiology of snoring and obstructive sleep apnoea in a Danish population, age 30–60. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 1(4), 240-244. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.1992.tb00045.x
- Johns, M. W. (1991). A new method for measuring daytime sleepiness: The Epworth Sleepiness Scale. *Sleep*, *14*(6), 540-545. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/14.6.540
- Joosten, K. (2017). How do we recognize the child with OSAS. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, *52*(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/ppul.23639
- Jung, C. M., Ronda, J. M., Czeisler, C. A., & Wright, K. P., Jr. (2011). Comparison of sustained attention assessed by auditory and visual psychomotor vigilance tasks prior to and during sleep deprivation. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 20(2), 348-355. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2010.00877.x
- Jung, R., & Kuhlo, W. (1965). Neurophysiological studies of abnormal night sleep and the pickwickian syndrome. *Progress in Brain Research*, 18, 140-159. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0079-6123(08)63590-6

- Jurysta, F., Kempenaers, C., Lanquart, J.-P., Noseda, A., van de Borne, P., & Linkowski, P. (2013). Long-term CPAP treatment partially improves the link between cardiac vagal influence and delta sleep. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, 13(1), 29. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2466-13-29
- Kainulainen, S., Duce, B., Korkalainen, H., Oksenberg, A., Leino, A., Arnardottir, E.
 S., . . . Leppänen, T. (2020). Severe desaturations increase psychomotor vigilance task-based median reaction time and number of lapses in obstructive sleep apnoea patients. *European Respiratory Journal*, 55(4), 1901849. https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.01849-2019
- Kales, S. N., & Czeisler, C. A. (2016). Obstructive sleep apnea and work accidents: Time for action. *Sleep*, 39(6), 1171-1173. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.5822
- Kapse, V., Patel, V., Mhaisekar, D., & Kulkarni, M. (2019). Gender differences in clinical profile and risk factors for obstructive sleep apnea in a public health care setting. *International Journal of Research in Medical Sciences*, 7(7), 2808. https://doi.org/10.18203/2320-6012.ijrms20192924
- Kapur, V. K., Auckley, D. H., Chowdhuri, S., Kuhlmann, D. C., Mehra, R., Ramar, K., & Harrod, C. G. (2017). Clinical practice guideline for diagnostic testing for adult obstructive sleep apnea: An American Academy of Sleep Medicine clinical practice guideline. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *13*(3), 479-504. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.6506
- Kapur, V. K., Baldwin, C. M., Resnick, H. E., Gottlieb, D. J., & Nieto, F. J. (2005). Sleepiness in patients with moderate to severe sleep-disordered breathing. *Sleep*, *28*(4), 472-478.
- Kario, K. (2018). Nocturnal hypertension. *Hypertension*, 71(6), 997-1009. https://doi.org/doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.10971

Kasai, T., Floras, J. S., & Bradley, T. D. (2012). Sleep apnea and cardiovascular disease.
 Circulation, 126(12), 1495-1510.
 https://doi.org/doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.070813

- Kaser, M., Zaman, R., & Sahakian, B. J. (2017). Cognition as a treatment target in depression. *Psychological Medicine*, 47(6), 987-989.
- Kashyap, R., Hock, L. M., & Bowman, T. J. (2001). Higher prevalence of smoking in patients diagnosed as having obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleeping & Breathing*, 5(4), 167-172. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-001-0167-5
- Kim, H., Dinges, D. F., & Young, T. (2007). Sleep-disordered breathing and psychomotor vigilance in a community-based sample. *Sleep*, 30(10), 1309-1316. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/30.10.1309
- Kim, J. B., Seo, B. S., & Kim, J. H. (2019). Effect of arousal on sympathetic overactivity in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep Medicine*, 62, 86-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2019.01.044
- Kim, J., In, K., Kim, J., You, S., Kang, K., Shim, J., . . . Shin, C. (2004). Prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in middle-aged Korean men and women. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 170(10), 1108-1113. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200404-519OC
- Kim, N. H., Cho, N. H., Yun, C.-H., Lee, S. K., Yoon, D. W., Cho, H. J., . . . Shin, C. (2013). Association of obstructive sleep apnea and glucose metabolism in subjects with or without obesity. *Diabetes Care*, 36(12), 3909-3915. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-0375
- Kim, S.-W., & Taranto-Montemurro, L. (2019). When do gender differences begin in obstructive sleep apnea patients? *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 11(Suppl 9), S1147-S1149. https://doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2019.04.37

- Kimoff, R. J. (1996). Sleep fragmentation in obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep*, *19*(9 Suppl), S61-66. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/19.suppl_9.s61
- Kleim, B., & Ehlers, A. (2008). Reduced autobiographical memory specificity predicts depression and posttraumatic stress disorder after recent trauma. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 76(2), 231-242. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.76.2.231
- Knauert, M., Naik, S., Gillespie, M. B., & Kryger, M. (2015). Clinical consequences and economic costs of untreated obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. World Journal of Otorhinolaryngology—Head & Neck Surgery, 1(1), 17-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wjorl.2015.08.001
- Knecht, S., Wersching, H., Lohmann, H., Bruchmann, M., Duning, T., Dziewas,
 R., . . . Ringelstein, E. B. (2008). High-normal blood pressure is associated with poor cognitive performance. *Hypertension*, 51(3), 663-668. https://doi.org/10.1161/hypertensionaha.107.105577
- Knight, E. L., Giuliano, R. J., Shank, S. W., Clarke, M. M., & Almeida, D. M. (2020).
 Parasympathetic and sympathetic nervous systems interactively predict change in cognitive functioning in midlife adults. *Psychophysiology*, 57(10), e13622.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13622
- Konuk, N., Atasoy, N., Atik, L., & Akay, Ö. (2006). Open-label study of adjunct modafinil for the treatment of patients with fatigue, sleepiness, and major depression treated with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *Advances in Therapy*, 23(4), 646-654. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02850053
- Kopelman, M. D., Wilson, B. A., & Baddeley, A. D. (1989). The autobiographical memory interview: A new assessment of autobiographical and personal semantic memory in amnesic patients. *Journal of Clinical & Experimental Neuropsychology*, *11*(5), 724-744. https://doi.org/10.1080/01688638908400928

- Korf, E. S., White, L. R., Scheltens, P., & Launer, L. J. (2004). Midlife blood pressure and the risk of hippocampal atrophy: The Honolulu Asia Aging Study. *Hypertension*, 44(1), 29-34. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.0000132475.32317.bb
- Krisai, P., Vischer, A. S., Kilian, L., Meienberg, A., Mayr, M., & Burkard, T. (2019). Accuracy of 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring by a novel cuffless device in clinical practice. *Heart*, 105(5), 399. https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2018-313592
- Krishnan, V., Dixon-Williams, S., & Thornton, J. D. (2014). Where there is smoke ... there is sleep apnea: Exploring the relationship between smoking and sleep apnea. *Chest*, 146(6), 1673-1680. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.14-0772
- Kuller, L. H., Margolis, K. L., Gaussoin, S. A., Bryan, N. R., Kerwin, D., Limacher, M., ...
 Women's Health Initiative Memory Study Research, G. (2010). Relationship of hypertension, blood pressure, and blood pressure control with white matter abnormalities in the Women's Health Initiative Memory Study (WHIMS)-MRI trial. *Journal of Clinical Hypertension (Greenwich, Conn.), 12*(3), 203-212. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7176.2009.00234.x
- Kuyken, W., & Dalgleish, T. (1995). Autobiographical memory and depression doi:10.1111/j.2044-8260.1995.tb01441.x.
- Kyotani, Y., Takasawa, S., & Yoshizumi, M. (2019). Proliferative pathways of vascular smooth muscle cells in response to intermittent hypoxia. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20112706
- Lal, C., Strange, C., & Bachman, D. (2012). Neurocognitive impairment in obstructive sleep apnea. *Chest*, *141*(6), 1601-1610. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.11-2214
- Latshang, T. D., Lo Cascio, C. M., Stöwhas, A. C., Grimm, M., Stadelmann, K., Tesler, N., ... & Bloch, K. E. (2013). Are nocturnal breathing, Sleep, and cognitive performance

impaired at moderate altitude (1,630–2,590 m). Sleep, 36 (12), 1969-1976. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.3242

- Lavie, L. (2015). Oxidative stress in obstructive sleep apnea and intermittent hypoxia revisited—the bad ugly and good: Implications to the heart and brain. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 20, 27-45. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2014.07.003
- Lavie, L. (2019). Intermittent Hypoxia and Obstructive Sleep Apnea: Mechanisms, Interindividual Responses and Clinical Insights. In Hypoxia. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.86117
- Lavie, P. (2008). *Restless nights: Understanding snoring and sleep apnea*. Yale University Press. https://books.google.com/books?id=DQuA6gRFieoC
- Lee, D. Y., Kim, E., & Choi, M. H. (2015). Technical and clinical aspects of cortisol as a biochemical marker of chronic stress. *BMB Reports*, 48(4), 209-216. https://doi.org/10.5483/bmbrep.2015.48.4.275
- Lee, M. L., Katsuyama, Â. M., Duge, L. S., Sriram, C., Krushelnytskyy, M., Kim, J. J., & de la Iglesia, H. O. (2016). Fragmentation of rapid eye movement and nonrapid eye movement sleep without total sleep loss impairs hippocampus-dependent fear memory consolidation. *Sleep*, 39(11), 2021-2031. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.6236
- Lee, R. W. W., Chan, A. S. L., Grunstein, R. R., & Cistulli, P. A. (2009). Craniofacial phenotyping in obstructive sleep apnea—a novel quantitative photographic approach. *Sleep*, 32(1), 37-45. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19189777
- Lee, R. W., Vasudavan, S., Hui, D. S., Prvan, T., Petocz, P., Darendeliler, M. A., & Cistulli, P. A. (2010). Differences in craniofacial structures and obesity in Caucasian and Chinese patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep*, 33(8), 1075-1080. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/33.8.1075

- Lee, V. V., Trinder, J., & Jackson, M. L. (2016). Autobiographical memory impairment in obstructive sleep apnea patients with and without depressive symptoms. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 25(5), 605-611. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12418
- Lemogne, C., Piolino, P., Friszer, S., Claret, A., Girault, N., Jouvent, R., . . . Fossati,
 P. (2006) Episodic autobiographical memory in depression: Specificity, autonoetic consciousness, and self-perspective. *Consciousness & Cognition*, 15(2), 258-268. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2005.07.005
- Leritz, E. C., Salat, D. H., Williams, V. J., Schnyer, D. M., Rudolph, J. L., Lipsitz, L., . . Milberg, W. P. (2011). Thickness of the human cerebral cortex is associated with metrics of cerebrovascular health in a normative sample of community dwelling older adults. *NeuroImage*, 54(4), 2659-2671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.050
- Lévy, P., Kohler, M., McNicholas, W. T., Barbé, F., McEvoy, R. D., Somers, V. K., . . . Pépin,
 J. L. (2015). Obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 1,
 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.15
- Li, K. K., Kushida, C., Powell, N. B., Riley, R. W., & Guilleminault, C. (2000). Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: A comparison between Far-East Asian and white men. *Laryngoscope*, 110 (10 Pt 1), 1689-1693. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005537-200010000-00022
- Li, K., Rüdiger, H., & Ziemssen, T. (2019). Spectral analysis of heart rate variability: Time window matters. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 10, 545. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00545
- Li, Y., Vgontzas, A., Kritikou, I., Fernandez-Mendoza, J., Basta, M., Pejovic, S., . . . Bixler, E. O. (2017). Psychomotor vigilance test and its association with daytime sleepiness and
inflammation in sleep apnea: Clinical implications. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *13*(9), 1049-1056. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.6720

- Lin, C.-L., Yeh, C., Yen, C.-W., Hsu, W.-H., & Hang, L.-W. (2009). Comparison of the indices of oxyhemoglobin saturation by pulse oximetry in obstructive sleep apnea hypopnea syndrome. *Chest*, 135(1), 86-93. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.08-0057
- Liu, C., Chen, M.-S., & Yu, H. (2017). The relationship between obstructive sleep apnea and obesity hypoventilation syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*, 8(54), 93168-93178. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.21450
- Logan, A. G., Perlikowski, S. M., Mente, A., Tisler, A., Tkacova, R., Niroumand, M., . . . Bradley, T. D. (2001). High prevalence of unrecognized sleep apnoea in drug-resistant hypertension. *Journal of Hypertension*, 19(12), 2271-2277. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004872-200112000-00022
- Lohman, D. F. (1979). *Spatial ability: A review and reanalysis of the correlational literature.*. Stanford Univ Calif School of Education.
- Lombardi, C., Pengo, M. F., & Parati, G. (2019). Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome and autonomic dysfunction. *Autonomic Neuroscience*, 221, 5. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autneu.2019.102563
- Louis, J. M., Koch, M. A., Reddy, U. M., Silver, R. M., Parker, C. B., Facco, F. L., . . Zee, P. C. (2018). Predictors of sleep-disordered breathing in pregnancy. *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 218(5), 521.e521-521.e512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2018.01.031
- Lovibond, P. F., & Lovibond, S. H. (1995). The structure of negative emotional states: Comparison of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) with the Beck Depression and Anxiety Inventories. *Behaviour Research & Therapy*, *33*(3), 335-343. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(94)00075-u

- Lovibond, S. H., & Lovibond, P. F. (1995). Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales. Psychology Foundation of Australia (Vol. 56).
- Luz, G. P., Guimarães, T. M., Weaver, T. E., Nery, L. E., e Silva, L. O., Badke, L., . . . Bittencourt, L. (2016). Impaired sustained attention and lapses are present in patients with mild obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep & Breathing*, 20(2), 681-687. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-015-1279-7
- Lyberg, T., Krogstad, O., & Djupesland, G. (1989). Cephalometric analysis in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome: Skeletal morphology. *The Journal of Laryngology* & Otology, 103(3), 287-292. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022215100108734
- Macey, P. M., Kumar, R., Woo, M. A., Valladares, E. M., Yan-Go, F. L., & Harper, R. M. (2008). Brain structural changes in obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep*, *31*(7), 967-977. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18652092
- Macey, P. M., Woo, M. A., Kumar, R., Cross, R. L., & Harper, R. M. (2010). Relationship between obstructive sleep apnea severity and sleep, depression and anxiety symptoms in newly-diagnosed patients. *PLoS One*, 5(4), e10211e10211. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010211
- Macias, A., Cardenas, C., Maldonado, A., Talamo, C., Medrano, G., Avila, J., & Espinoza, A. (2013). Depression and excessive daytime sleepiness en obstructive sleep apnea patients. *European Respiratory Journal, 42*(Suppl 57), P4034. http://erj.ersjournals.com/content/42/Suppl_57/P4034.abstract
- Mackinger, H. F., & Svaldi, J. J. (2004). Autobiographical memory predicts cognitive but not somatic change in sleep apnea patients vulnerable for affective disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 81(1), 17-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-0327(03)00170-8

- Mahinrad, S., Jukema, J. W., van Heemst, D., Macfarlane, P. W., Clark, E. N., de Craen, A. J.,
 & Sabayan, B. (2016). 10-second heart rate variability and cognitive function in old age. *Neurology*, 86(12), 1120-1127. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.00000000002499
- Mahmood, K., Akhter, N., Eldeirawi, K., Onal, E., Christman, J. W., Carley, D. W., & Herdegen, J. J. (2009). Prevalence of type 2 diabetes in patients with obstructive sleep apnea in a multi-ethnic sample. *Journal of clinical sleep medicine : JCSM : official publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine*, 5(3), 215-221.
- Malliani, A. (2006). Cardiovascular variability is/is not an index of autonomic control of circulation. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 101(2), 684-688. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00562.2006
- Malpas, S. C. (2002). Neural influences on cardiovascular variability: Possibilities and pitfalls. American Journal of Physiology—Heart & Circulatory Physiology, 282(1), H6-H20. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.2002.282.1.H6
- Mandrekar, J. N. (2010). Receiver operating characteristic curve in diagnostic test assessment. Journal of Thoracic Oncology, 5(9), 1315-1316.
- Mansukhani, M. P., Kolla, B. P., & Somers, V. K. (2019). Hypertension and cognitive decline: Implications of obstructive sleep apnea. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine*, 6(96), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2019.00096
- Marrone, O., Lo Bue, A., Salvaggio, A., Dardanoni, G., & Insalaco, G. (2013). Comorbidities and survival in obstructive sleep apnoea beyond the age of 50. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 43(1), 27-33. https://doi.org/10.1111/eci.12011
- Marshall, N. S., Barnes, M., Travier, N., Campbell, A. J., Pierce, R. J., McEvoy, R. D., ...
 Gander, P. H. (2006). Continuous positive airway pressure reduces daytime sleepiness
 in mild to moderate obstructive sleep apnoea: a meta-analysis. *Thorax*, *61*(5), 430-434.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.2005.050583

- Martin, S. E., Engleman, H. M., Deary, I. J., & Douglas, N. J. (1996). The effect of sleep fragmentation on daytime function. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 153(4), 1328-1332. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.153.4.8616562
- Martinez-Rivera, C., Abad, J., Fiz, J. A., Rios, J., & Morera, J. (2008). Usefulness of truncal obesity indices as predictive factors for obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Obesity* (*Silver Spring*), 16(1), 113-118. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2007.20
- Martynowicz, H., Porębska, I., Poręba, R., Mazur, G., & Brzecka, A. (2016). Nocturnal blood pressure variability in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. In M. Pokorski (Ed.), *Advancements in clinical research* (pp. 9-15). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2016_64
- Massie, C. A., Hart, R. W., Peralez, K., & Richards, G. N. (1999). Effects of humidification on nasal symptoms and compliance in sleep apnea patients using continuous positive airway pressure. *Chest*, 116(2), 403-408. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.116.2.403
- Mayo Clinic (2020). *Obstructive sleep apnea*. https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseasesconditions/obstructive-sleep-apnea/symptoms-causes/syc-20352090
- Mazza, S., Pepin, J. L., Naegele, B., Plante, J., Deschaux, C., & Levy, P. (2005). Most obstructive sleep apnoea patients exhibit vigilance and attention deficits on an extended battery of tests. *European Respiratory Journal*, 25(1), 75-80. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.04.00011204
- McArdle, Hillman, D., Beilin, L., & Watts, G. (2007). Metabolic risk factors for vascular disease in obstructive sleep apnea: A matched controlled study. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 175(2), 190-195. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200602-2700C
- Mcardle, N., Devereux, G., Heidarnejad, H., Engleman, H. M., Mackay, T. W., & Douglas, N. J. (1999). Long-term use of CPAP therapy for sleep apnea/hypopnea syndrome.

American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 159(4), 1108-1114. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.159.4.9807111

- McCorry, L. K. (2007). Physiology of the autonomic nervous system. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 71(4), 78-78. https://doi.org/10.5688/aj710478
- McCraty, R., & Shaffer, F. (2015). Heart rate variability: New perspectives on physiological mechanisms, assessment of self-regulatory capacity, and health risk. *Global Advances in Health & Medicine*, *4*(1), 46-61. https://doi.org/10.7453/gahmj.2014.073
- McIntyre, R. S., Cha, D. S., Soczynska, J. K., Woldeyohannes, H. O., Gallaugher, L. A., Kudlow, P., ... & Baskaran, A. (2013). Cognitive deficits and functional outcomes in major depressive disorder: Determinants, substrates, and treatment interventions. *Depression & Anxiety*, 30(6), 515-527. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22063
- McNicholas, W. T. (2018). Diagnostic criteria for obstructive sleep apnea: Time for reappraisal. Journal of Thoracic Disease, 10(1), 531-533. https://doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.12.91
- Mediano, O., Barceló, A., de la Peña, M., Gozal, D., Agustí, A., & Barbé, F. (2007). Daytime sleepiness and polysomnographic variables in sleep apnoea patients. *European Respiratory Journal*, 30(1), 110-113. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00009506
- Medic, G., Wille, M., & Hemels, M. E. (2017). Short- and long-term health consequences of sleep fragmentation. *Nature & Science of Sleep*, 9, 151-161. https://doi.org/10.2147/NSS.S134864
- Medical Advisory Secretariat. (2006). Polysomnography in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: An evidence-based analysis. *Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series*, 6(13), 1-38. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23074483

- Meerlo, P., Sgoifo, A., & Suchecki, D. (2008). Restricted and disrupted sleep: Effects on autonomic function, neuroendocrine stress systems and stress responsivity. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 12(3), 197-210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2007.07.007
- Mehra, R., Benjamin, E. J., Shahar, E., Gottlieb, D. J., Nawabit, R., Kirchner, H. L., . . . Sleep Heart Health, S. (2006). Association of nocturnal arrhythmias with sleep-disordered breathing: The Sleep Heart Health Study. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 173(8), 910-916. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200509-1442OC
- Memon, J., & Manganaro, S. N. (2020). *Obstructive sleep-disordered breathing (SDB)*. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island (FL).
- Mensah, G. A. (2016). Hypertension and target organ damage: Don't believe everything you think! *Ethnicity & Disease*, *26*(3), 275-278. https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.26.3.275
- Millman, R. P., Kimmel, P. L., Shore, E. T., & Wasserstein, A. G. (1985). Sleep apnea in hemodialysis patients: The lack of testosterone effect on its pathogenesis. *Nephron*, 40(4), 407-410. https://doi.org/10.1159/000183509
- Milner, B. (1965). Visually-guided maze learning in man: Effects of bilateral hippocampal, bilateral frontal, and unilateral cerebral lesions. *Neuropsychologia*, 3(4), 317-338. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(65)90005-9
- Milner, B., Johnsrude, I., & Crane, J. (1997). Right medial temporal-lobe contribution to object-location memory. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 352*(1360), 1469-1474. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1997.0133
- W., T. Mohamad, & Ismail, (2011). Obstructive sleep apnoea hypopnea syndrome—an overview. Malaysian Family Physician, 6(1), 2-6. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25606213

- Moser, R. J., III, & Rajagopal, K. R. (1987). Obstructive sleep apnea in adults with tonsillar hypertrophy. Archives of Internal Medicine, 147(7), 1265-1267. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1987.00370070079012
- Mozafari, A., Zand, N., Abyar Hoseini, S. A., Mohebi, S., Gholabchi Fard, R., Rasouli, A., . . . Hatami, S. (2014). Relationship between road accidents with sleep apnea and sleep quality among truck drivers in Iran. *European Respiratory Journal*, 44(Suppl 58), 2296. http://erj.ersjournals.com/content/44/Suppl_58/P2296.abstract
- Munoz, R., Duran-Cantolla, J., Martinez-Vila, E., Gallego, J., Rubio, R., Aizpuru, F., & De La Torre, G. (2006). Severe sleep apnea and risk of ischemic stroke in the elderly. *Stroke*, 37(9), 2317-2321. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000236560.15735.0f
- Mushquash, C. J., & Bova, D. L. (2007). Cross-cultural assessment and measurement issues. Journal on Developmental Disabilities, 13(1), 53-65.
- Naëgelé, B., Thouvard, V., Pépin, J. L., Lévy, P., Bonnet, C., Perret, J. E., . . . Feuerstein, C. (1995). Deficits of cognitive executive functions in patients with sleep apnea syndrome. *Sleep*, 18(1), 43-52. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/18.1.43
- Nagai, M., Hoshide, S., & Kario, K. (2010). Sleep duration as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease—a review of the recent literature. *Current Cardiology Reviews*, 6(1), 54-61. https://doi.org/10.2174/157340310790231635
- Nagappa, M., Liao, P., Wong, J., Auckley, D., Ramachandran, S. K., Memtsoudis, S., . . . Chung, F. (2015). Validation of the STOP-Bang Questionnaire as a screening tool for obstructive sleep apnea among different populations: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One*, *10*(12), e0143697-e0143697. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143697
- Nair, D., Dayyat, E. A., Zhang, S. X., Wang, Y., & Gozal, D. (2011). Intermittent hypoxia-induced cognitive deficits are mediated by NADPH oxidase activity

in a murine model of sleep apnea. *PloS One*, 6(5), e19847-e19847. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019847

- Nair, D., Ramesh, V., Li, R. C., Schally, A. V., & Gozal, D. (2013). Growth hormone releasing hormone (GHRH) signaling modulates intermittent hypoxia-induced oxidative stress and cognitive deficits in mouse. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 127(4), 531-540. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12360
- Nair, D., Zhang, S. X. L., Ramesh, V., Hakim, F., Kaushal, N., Wang, Y., & Gozal, D. (2011).
 Sleep fragmentation induces cognitive deficits via nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase–dependent pathways in mouse. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 184*(11), 1305-1312. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201107-1173OC
- Nam, S.-E., Haque, M. N., Shin, Y. K., Park, H. S., & Rhee, J.-S. (2020). Constant and intermittent hypoxia modulates immunity, oxidative status, and blood components of red seabream and increases its susceptibility to the acute toxicity of red tide dinoflagellate. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 105, 286-296. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.07.030
- Nanthakumar, S., Bucks, R. S., & Skinner, T. C. (2016, May). Are we overestimating the prevalence of depression in chronic illness using questionnaires? Meta-analytic evidence in obstructive sleep apnoea. Health Psychol, 35(5), 423-432. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000280
- Narkiewicz, K., & Somers, V. K. (2003). Sympathetic nerve activity in obstructive sleep apnoea. Acta Physiologica Scandinavica, 177(3), 385-390. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-201X.2003.01091.x

- Nathan, D. M., Davidson, M. B., DeFronzo, R. A., Heine, R. J., Henry, R. R., Pratley, R., & Zinman, B. (2007). Impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance: Implications for care. *Diabetes Care*, 30(3), 753-759.
- Nelson, B. D., & Shankman, S. A. (2016). Visuospatial and mathematical dysfunction in major depressive disorder and/or panic disorder: A study of parietal functioning. *Cognition & Emotion*, 30(3), 417-429. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2015.1009003
- Netzer, N. C., Stoohs, R. A., Netzer, C. M., Clark, K., & Strohl, K. P. (1999). Using the Berlin Questionnaire to identify patients at risk for the sleep apnea syndrome. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 131(7), 485-491. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-131-7-199910050-00002
- Nock, N. L., Li, L., Larkin, E. K., Patel, S. R., & Redline, S. (2009). Empirical evidence for 'Syndrome Z': A hierarchical 5-factor model of the metabolic syndrome incorporating sleep disturbance measures. *Sleep*, 32(5), 615-622. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/32.5.615
- Noda, A., Yasuma, F., Miyata, S., Iwamoto, K., Yasuda, Y., & Ozaki, N. (2019). Sleep fragmentation and risk of automobile accidents in patients with obstructive sleep apnea:
 Sleep fragmentation and automobile accidents in OSA. *Health*, *11*, 171-181. https://doi.org/10.4236/health.2019.112015
- Nuttall, F. Q. (2015). Body Mass Index: Obesity, BMI, and health: A critical review. *Nutrition Today*, *50*(3), 117-128. https://doi.org/10.1097/NT.000000000000092
- Ohayon, M. M., Dauvilliers, Y., & Reynolds, C. F., 3rd. (2012). Operational definitions and algorithms for excessive sleepiness in the general population: Implications for DSM-5 nosology. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 69(1), 71-79. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1240

- Oksenberg, A., Arons, E., Nasser, K., Shneor, O., Radwan, H., & Silverberg, D. S. (2010). Severe obstructive sleep apnea: Sleepy versus nonsleepy patients. *Laryngoscope*, 120(3), 643-648. https://doi.org/10.1002/lary.20758
- Olaithe, M., Bucks, R. S., Hillman, D. R., & Eastwood, P. R. (2018). Cognitive deficits in obstructive sleep apnea: Insights from a meta-review and comparison with deficits observed in COPD, insomnia, and sleep deprivation. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 38, 39-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2017.03.005
- Olaithe, M., Skinner, T. C., Hillman, D., Eastwood, P. E., & Bucks, R. S. (2015, 2015/03/01).
 Cognition and nocturnal disturbance in OSA: the importance of accounting for age and premorbid intelligence. Sleep and Breathing, 19(1), 221-230.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-014-1000-2
- Olson, A. L., & Zwillich, C. (2005). The obesity hypoventilation syndrome. *The American Journal of Medicine, 118*(9), 948-956. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2005.03.042
- Ong, K. C., & Clerk, A. A. (1998). Comparison of the severity of sleep-disordered breathing in Asian and Caucasian patients seen at a sleep disorders center. *Respiratory Medicine*, 92(6), 843-848. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0954-6111(98)90386-9
- Otero, L., Figueredo, M. d. C., Riveros-Rivera, A., & Hidalgo, P. (2019). Cognitive impairment and obstructive sleep apnea. In *Sleep medicine in clinical neurology*. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.82756
- Ouanes, S., & Popp, J. (2019). High cortisol and the risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease: A review of the literature. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, *11*(43). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2019.00043

- Owen, J. E., BenediktsdÓttir, B., Gislason, T., & Robinson, S. R. (2019). Neuropathological investigation of cell layer thickness and myelination in the hippocampus of people with obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep*, *42*(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsy199
- Oyarce, M. P., & Iturriaga, R. (2018). Contribution of oxidative stress and inflammation to the neurogenic hypertension induced by intermittent hypoxia. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9(893). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00893
- Pack, A. I., Maislin, G., Staley, B., Pack, F. M., Rogers, W. C., George, C. F., & Dinges, D. F. (2006). Impaired performance in commercial drivers: role of sleep apnea and short sleep duration. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 174(4), 446-454. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200408-1146OC
- Pagana, K. D., & Pagana. T. J. (2003). *Mosby's diagnostic and laboratory test reference* (6th ed.). St. Louis, MO; Mosby.
- Pagani, M., Lombardi, F., Guzzetti, S., Sandrone, G., Rimoldi, O., Malfatto, G., . . . Malliani,
 A. (1984). Power spectral density of heart rate variability as an index of sympathovagal interaction in normal and hypertensive subjects. *Journal of Hypertensions Supplement*, 2(3), S383-385.
- Paradiso, S., Hermann, B., Blumer, D., Davies, K., & Robinson, R. (2001). Impact of depressed mood on neuropsychological status in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Journal of Neurology*, *Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 70(2), 180-185.
- Parati, G., Lombardi, C., Hedner, J., Bonsignore, M. R., Grote, L., Tkacova, R., . . . McNicholas, W. T. (2013). Recommendations for the management of patients with obstructive sleep apnoea and hypertension. *European Respiratory Journal*, 41(3), 523-538. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00226711

- Park, K. S., & Kang, E. W. (2018). Is only fixed positive airway pressure a robust tool for kidney protection in patients with obstructive sleep apnea? *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, S3819-S3823. http://jtd.amegroups.com/article/view/25007
- Patel, S. R., White, D. P., Malhotra, A., Stanchina, M. L., & Ayas, N. T. (2003). Continuous positive airway pressure therapy for treating sleepiness in a diverse population with obstructive sleep apnea: Results of a meta-analysis. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 163(5), 565-571. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.163.5.565
- Pavlik, V. N., Hyman, D. J., & Doody, R. (2005). Cardiovascular risk factors and cognitive function in adults 30–59 years of age (NHANES III). *Neuroepidemiology*, 24(1-2), 42-50. https://doi.org/10.1159/000081049
- Peppard, P. E., Young, T., Barnet, J. H., Palta, M., Hagen, E. W., & Hla, K. M. (2013). Increased prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in adults. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 177(9), 1006-1014. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kws342
- Peppard, P. E., Young, T., Palta, M., Dempsey, J., & Skatrud, J. (2000). Longitudinal study of moderate weight change and sleep-disordered breathing. *JAMA*, 284(23), 3015-3021. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.284.23.3015
- Petkar, H., Dande, S., Yadav, R., Zeng, Y., & Thanh, A. (2010, 01/01). A Pilot Study to Assess
 Designer's Mental Stress Using Eye Gaze System and Electroencephalogram. Asme
 International Design Engineering Technical Conferences and Computers and
 Information in Engineering Conference, Proceedings, Vol 2, Pts a and B, 2, 899-909
- Pham, L. V., & Schwartz, A. R. (2015). The pathogenesis of obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 7(8), 1358-1372. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.07.28

- Pien, G. W., Pack, A. I., Jackson, N., Maislin, G., Macones, G. A., & Schwab, R. J. (2014). Risk factors for sleep-disordered breathing in pregnancy. *Thorax*, 69(4), 371-377. https://doi.org/10.1136/thoraxjnl-2012-202718
- Pinto, J. A., Ribeiro, D. K., Cavallini, A. F. d. S., Duarte, C., & Freitas, G. S. (2016).
 Comorbidities associated with obstructive sleep apnea: A retrospective study. *International Archives of Otorhinolaryngology*, 20(2), 145-150.
 https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0036-1579546
- Pires, P. W., Dams Ramos, C. M., Matin, N., & Dorrance, A. M. (2013). The effects of hypertension on the cerebral circulation. *American Journal of Physiology. Heart & Circulatory Physiology, 304*(12), H1598-H1614. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00490.2012
- Plante, D. T., Hagen, E. W., Ravelo, L. A., & Peppard, P. E. (2020). Impaired neurobehavioral alertness quantified by the psychomotor vigilance task is associated with depression in the Wisconsin Sleep Cohort study. *Sleep Medicine*, 67, 66-70. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2019.11.1248
- Popovic, R. M., & White, D. P. (1998, Mar). Upper airway muscle activity in normal women: influence of hormonal status. J Appl Physiol (1985), 84(3), 1055-1062. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1998.84.3.1055
- Poyares, D., Guilleminault, C., Hachul, H., Fujita, L., Takaoka, S., Tufik, S., & Sass, N. (2007).
 Pre-eclampsia and nasal CPAP: Part 2. Hypertension during pregnancy, chronic snoring, and early nasal CPAP intervention. *Sleep Medicine*, 9(1), 15-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2007.04.019
- Prasad, K., Sehgal, I., Agarwal, R., Nath Aggarwal, A., Behera, D., & Dhooria, S. (2017). Assessing the likelihood of obstructive sleep apnea: A comparison of nine screening

questionnaires. *Sleep & Breathing*, 21(4), 909-917. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-017-1495-4

- Priou, P., Le Vaillant, M., Meslier, N., Chollet, S., Masson, P., Humeau, M. P., ... & Gagnadoux, F. (2012). Independent association between obstructive sleep apnea severity and glycated hemoglobin in adults without diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 35(9), 1902-1906. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc11-2538
- Punjabi, N. M. (2008). The epidemiology of adult obstructive sleep apnea. Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society, 5(2), 136-143. https://doi.org/10.1513/pats.200709-155MG
- Rajala, R., Partinen, M., Sane, T., Pelkonen, R., Huikuri, K., & Seppäläinen, A. M. (1991).
 Obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome in morbidly obese patients. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 230(2), 125-129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2796.1991.tb00419.x
- Ramos, A. R., Figueredo, P., Shafazand, S., Chediak, A. D., Abreu, A. R., Dib, S.
 I., . . Wallace, D. M. (2017). Obstructive sleep apnea phenotypes and markers of vascular disease: A review. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *8*, 659-659. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2017.00659
- Randerath, W. J., Treml, M., Priegnitz, C., Hedner, J., Sommermeyer, D., Zou, D., . . . Grote,
 L. (2016). Parameters of overnight pulse wave under treatment in obstructive sleep apnea. *Respiration*, 92(3), 136-143. https://doi.org/10.1159/000448248
- Rashid, N. H., Zaghi, S., Scapuccin, M., Camacho, M., Certal, V., & Capasso, R. (2020). The value of oxygen desaturation index for diagnosing obstructive sleep apnea: A systematic review. *The Laryngoscope*. https://doi.org/10.1002/lary.28663
- Rauchs, G., Desgranges, B., Foret, J., & Eustache, F. (2005). The relationships between memory systems and sleep stages. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 14(2), 123-140. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2005.00450.x

- Ravesloot, M., Maanen, J., Hilgevoord, A., Wagensveld, B., & Vries, N. (2012). Obstructive sleep apnea is underrecognized and underdiagnosed in patients undergoing bariatric surgery. *European Archives of Otorhinolaryngology*, 269(7), 1865-1871. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-012-1948-0
- Redolfi, S., Yumino, D., Ruttanaumpawan, P., Yau, B., Su, M. C., Lam, J., & Bradley, T. D. (2009). Relationship between overnight rostral fluid shift and obstructive sleep apnea in nonobese men. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 179(3), 241-246. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200807-1076OC
- Reichmuth, K. J., Austin, D., Skatrud, J. B., & Young, T. (2005). Association of sleep apnea and type ii diabetes. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 172(12), 1590-1595. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200504-637OC
- Resta, O., Foschino-Barbaro, M. P., Legari, G., Talamo, S., Bonfitto, P., Palumbo, A., . . . De Pergola, G. (2001). Sleep-related breathing disorders, loud snoring and excessive daytime sleepiness in obese subjects. *International Journal of Obesity*, 25(5), 669-675. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0801603
- Rezaeitalab, F., Moharrari, F., Saberi, S., Asadpour, H., & Rezaeetalab, F. (2014). The correlation of anxiety and depression with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Journal of Research in Medical Sciences*, *19*(3), 205-210.
- Rice, G. E., Caswell, H., Moore, P., Hoffman, P., & Lambon Ralph, M. A. (2018). The roles of left versus right anterior temporal lobes in semantic memory: A neuropsychological comparison of postsurgical temporal lobe epilepsy patients. *Cerebral Cortex*, 28(4), 1487-1501. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhx362
- Ridgway, L., & McFarland, K. (2006). Apnea diving: Long-term neurocognitive sequelae of repeated hypoxemia. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *20*(1), 160-176.

- Rogier van der Velde, A., Meijers, W. C., & de Boer, R. A. (2015). Cardiovascular biomarkers: Translational aspects of hypertension, atherosclerosis, and heart failure in drug development. In M. Wehling (Ed.), *Principles of translational science in medicine* (2nd ed., pp. 167-183). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800687-0.00018-9
- Romero-Corral, A., Caples, S. M., Lopez-Jimenez, F., & Somers, V. K. (2010). Interactions between obesity and obstructive sleep apnea: Implications for treatment. *Chest*, 137(3), 711-719. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.09-0360
- Saaresranta, T., Anttalainen, U., & Polo, O. (2015). Sleep disordered breathing: is it different for females? ERJ Open Research, 1(2), 00063-02015. https://doi.org/10.1183/23120541.00063-2015
- Saaresranta, T., Hedner, J., Bonsignore, M. R., Riha, R. L., McNicholas, W. T., Penzel, T., ... Grote, L. (2016). Clinical phenotypes and comorbidity in european sleep apnoea patients. *PLoS One*, *11*(10), e0163439. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163439
- Sacktor, N., Gray, S., Kawas, C., Herbst, J., Costa, P., & Fleg, J. (1999). Systolic blood pressure within an intermediate range may reduce memory loss in an elderly hypertensive cohort. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry & Neurology*, *12*(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1177/089198879901200102
- Saeed, A. A., Al-Hamdan, N. A., Bahnassy, A. A., Abdalla, A. M., Abbas, M. A., & Abuzaid,
 L. Z. (2011). Prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension among
 Saudi adult population: A national survey. *International Journal of Hypertension*,
 2011, 8. https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/174135
- Samuel, J., & Franklin, C. (2008). Hypoxemia and hypoxia. In J. A. Myers, K. W. Millikan, &T. J. Saclarides (Eds.), *Common surgical diseases: An algorithmic approach to*

problem solving (pp. 391-394). New York, NJ: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-75246-4 97

- Sasai, T., Matsuura, M., & Inoue, Y. (2013). Change in heart rate variability precedes the occurrence of periodic leg movements during sleep: An observational study. *BMC Neurology*, 13, 139-139. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2377-13-139
- Sasaki, N., Nagai, M., Mizuno, H., Kuwabara, M., Hoshide, S., & Kario, K. (2018). Associations between characteristics of obstructive sleep apnea and nocturnal blood pressure surge. *Hypertension*, 72(5), 1133-1140. https://doi.org/doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.11794
- Sassi, R., Cerutti, S., Lombardi, F., Malik, M., Huikuri, H. V., Peng, C. K., ... & Lip, G. Y. (2015). Advances in heart rate variability signal analysis: joint position statement by the e-Cardiology ESC Working Group and the European Heart Rhythm Association co-endorsed by the Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society. EP Europace, 17(9), 1341-1353. https://doi.org/10.1093/europace/euv015

Sateia, M. J. (2014). International classification of sleep disorders. Chest, 146(5), 1387-1394.

- Schellenberg, J. B., Maislin, G., & Schwab, R. J. (2000). Physical findings and the risk for obstructive sleep apnea. American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 162(2), 740-748. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.162.2.9908123
- Schock, L., Schwenzer, M., Sturm, W., & Mathiak, K. (2011). Alertness and visuospatial attention in clinical depression. *BMC Psychiatry*, 11, 78. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-11-78
- Schwartz, A. R., Patil, S. P., Laffan, A. M., Polotsky, V., Schneider, H., & Smith, P. L. (2008).
 Obesity and obstructive sleep apnea: Pathogenic mechanisms and therapeutic approaches. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, 5(2), 185-192.
 https://doi.org/10.1513/pats.200708-137MG

- Schwarz, E. I., Stradling, J. R., & Kohler, M. (2018). Physiological consequences of CPAP therapy withdrawal in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea—an opportunity for an efficient experimental model. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 10(Suppl 1), S24-S32. https://doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.12.142
- Sella, F., Sader, E., Lolliot, S., & Cohen Kadosh, R. (2016). Basic and advanced numerical performances relate to mathematical expertise but are fully mediated by visuospatial skills. *Journal of Experimental Psychology. Learning, Memory, & Cognition, 42*(9), 1458-1472. https://doi.org/10.1037/xlm0000249
- Senaratna, C. V., Perret, J. L., Lodge, C. J., Lowe, A. J., Campbell, B. E., Matheson, M. C., . . . Dharmage, S. C. (2017). Prevalence of obstructive sleep apnea in the general population: A systematic review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 34, 70-81. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2016.07.002
- Seneviratne, U., & Puvanendran, K. (2004). Excessive daytime sleepiness in obstructive sleep apnea: Prevalence, severity, and predictors. *Sleep Medicine*, *5*(4), 339-343.
- Sequeira, V. C. C., Bandeira, P. M., & Azevedo, J. C. M. (2019). Heart rate variability in adults with obstructive sleep apnea: A systematic review. *Sleep Science (Sao Paulo, Brazil)*, 12(3), 214-221. https://doi.org/10.5935/1984-0063.20190082
- Series, F. (1993). Utility of nocturnal home oximetry for case finding in patients with suspected sleep apnea hypopnea syndrome. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 119(6), 449. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-119-6-199309150-00001
- Sforza, E. (2012). Sleep apnea syndrome and cognition. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *3*(87). https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2012.00087
- Sforza, E., & Roche, F. (2016). Chronic intermittent hypoxia and obstructive sleep apnea: An experimental and clinical approach. *Hypoxia*, 4, 99-108. https://doi.org/10.2147/HP.S103091

- Shaffer, F., & Ginsberg, J. P. (2017). An overview of heart rate variability metrics and norms. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 5(258). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00258
- Shah, A. J., Su, S., Veledar, E., Bremner, J. D., Goldstein, F. C., Lampert, R., ... & Vaccarino, V. (2011). Is heart rate variability related to memory performance in middle-aged men? *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 73(6), 475-482. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182227d6a
- Shao, C., Qi, H., Lang, R., Yu, B., Tang, Y., Zhang, L., ... Wang, L. (2019). Clinical features and contributing factors of excessive daytime sleepiness in Chinese obstructive sleep apnea patients: The role of comorbid symptoms and polysomnographic variables. *Canadian Respiratory Journal*, 2019, 5476372. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/5476372
- Shochat, T., & Pillar, G. (2003). Sleep apnoea in the older adult: Pathophysiology, epidemiology, consequences and management. *Drugs & Aging*, 20(8), 551-560. https://doi.org/10.2165/00002512-200320080-00001
- Shoib, S., Malik, J. A., & Masoodi, S. (2017). Depression as a manifestation of obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of Neurosciences in Rural Practice*, 8(3), 346-351. https://doi.org/10.4103/jnrp.jnrp_462_16
- Shrivastava, D., Jung, S., Saadat, M., Sirohi, R., & Crewson, K. (2014). How to interpret the results of a sleep study. *Journal of Community Hospital Internal Medicine Perspectives*, 4(5), 24983-24983. https://doi.org/10.3402/jchimp.v4.24983
- Silva, H. A. d., Passos, M. H. P. D., Oliveira, V. M. A. d., Palmeira, A. C., Pitangui, A. C. R., & Araújo, R. C. d. (2016). Short version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21: Is it valid for Brazilian adolescents? *Einstein (Sao Paulo, Brazil), 14*(4), 486-493. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-45082016AO3732

- Simões, E. N., Padilla, C. S., Bezerra, M. S., & Schmidt, S. L. (2018). Analysis of attention subdomains in obstructive sleep apnea patients. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 9, 435-435. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00435
- Singhal, P., Joshi, Y., Singh, G., & Kulkarni, S. (2016). Study of factors affecting compliance of continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) in obstructive sleep apnea–hypopnea syndrome (OSAHS). *The European Respiratory Journal*, 48(suppl 60). https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.congress-2016.PA2362
- Somers, V. K., Dyken, M. E., Mark, A. L., & Abboud, F. M. (1993). Sympathetic-nerve activity during sleep in normal subjects. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 328(5), 303-307. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199302043280502
- Soni, M., Kos, K., Lang, I. A., Jones, K., Melzer, D., & Llewellyn, D. J. (2012). Vitamin D and cognitive function. *Scandinavian Journal of Clinical & Laboratory Investigation* Supplement, 243, 79-82. https://doi.org/10.3109/00365513.2012.681969
- Spicuzza, L., Caruso, D., & Di Maria, G. (2015). Obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome and its management. *Therapeutic Advances in Chronic Disease*, 6(5), 273-285. https://doi.org/10.1177/2040622315590318
- Stolwyk, R. J., Lee, S., McKay, A., & Ponsford, J. L. (2013). Exploring what the Austin maze measures: A comparison across conventional and computer versions. *Brain Impairment*, 14(2), 243-252. https://doi.org/10.1017/BrImp.2013.23
- Strassburger, T. L., Lee, H. C., Daly, E. M., Szczepanik, J., Krasuski, J. S., Mentis, M. J., . . . Alexander, G. E. (1997). Interactive effects of age and hypertension on volumes of brain structures. *Stroke*, 28(7), 1410-1417. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.str.28.7.1410
- Sullivan, C. E., Issa, F. G., Berthon-Jones, M., & Eves, L. (1981). Reversal of obstructive sleep apnoea by continuous positive airway pressure applied through the nares. *The Lancet*, *1*(8225), 862-865. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(81)92140-1

- Swan, G. E., Carmelli, D., & Larue, A. (1998). Systolic blood pressure tracking over 25 to 30 years and cognitive performance in older adults. *Stroke*, 29(11), 2334-2340. https://doi.org/doi:10.1161/01.STR.29.11.2334
- Sztajzel, J. (2004). Heart rate variability: A noninvasive electrocardiographic method to measure the autonomic nervous system. *Swiss Medical Weekly*, *134*(35-36), 514-522.
- Tajima, A., Hans, F. J., Livingstone, D., Wei, L., Finnegan, W., DeMaro, J., & Fenstermacher, J. (1993). Smaller local brain volumes and cerebral atrophy in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Hypertension*, 21(1), 105-111. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.hyp.21.1.105
- Takeda, T., Nishimura, Y., Satouchi, M., Kamiryo, H., Takenaka, K., Kasai, D., ... Yokoyama, M. (2006). Usefulness of the oximetry test for the diagnosis of sleep apnea syndrome in Japan. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, 331(6), 304-308. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000441-200606000-00002
- Tamilarasan, V., Mohan, M., Ramanjaneya, R., Sadana, D., Malapaka, R. C., Annapandian, V.
 M., . . . Kumar, H. (2019). Prevalence of cognitive impairment in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *ERJ Open Research*, 5(suppl 3), P115. https://doi.org/10.1183/23120541.sleepandbreathing-2019.P115
- Tanno, S., Tanigawa, T., Maruyama, K., Eguchi, E., Abe, T., & Saito, I. (2017). Sleep-related intermittent hypoxia is associated with decreased psychomotor vigilance in Japanese community residents. *Sleep Medicine*, 29, 7-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2016.08.024
- Tasali, E., & Ip, M. S. M. (2008). Obstructive sleep apnea and metabolic syndrome: Alterations in glucose metabolism and inflammation. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, 5(2), 207-217. https://doi.org/10.1513/pats.200708-139MG

- Taylor, J. A., Carr, D. L., Myers, C. W., & Eckberg, D. L. (1998). Mechanisms underlying very-low-frequency RR-interval oscillations in humans. *Circulation*, 98(6), 547-555. https://doi.org/doi:10.1161/01.CIR.98.6.547
- Temirbekov, D., Güneş, S., Yazıcı, Z. M., & Sayın, İ. (2018). The ignored parameter in the diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: The oxygen desaturation index. *Turkish Archives of Otorhinolaryngology*, 56(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.5152/tao.2018.3025
- Terrill, P. I. (2020). A review of approaches for analysing obstructive sleep apnoearelated patterns in pulse oximetry data. *Respirology*, 25(5), 475-485. https://doi.org/10.1111/resp.13635
- Teschler, H., Berthon-Jones, M., Thompson, A. B., Henkel, A., Henry, J., & Konietzko, N. (1996). Automated continuous positive airway pressure titration for obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine*, 154(3), 734-740. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.154.3.8810613
- Thayer, J. F., Yamamoto, S. S., & Brosschot, J. F. (2010). The relationship of autonomic imbalance, heart rate variability and cardiovascular disease risk factors. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 141(2), 122-131.
- Thomas, R. J., Rosen, B. R., Stern, C. E., Weiss, J. W., & Kwong, K. K. (2005). Functional imaging of working memory in obstructive sleep-disordered breathing. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 98(6), 2226-2234. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01225.2004
- Tiemeier, H., Pelzer, E., Jönck, L., Möller, H. J., & Rao, M. L. (2002). Plasma catecholamines and selective slow wave sleep (SWS) deprivation. *Neuropsychobiology*, 45(2), 81-86. https://doi.org/10.1159/000048681
- Tietjens, J. R., Claman, D., Kezirian, E. J., Marco, T. D., Mirzayan, A., Sadroonri, B., Goldberg, A. N., Long, C., Gerstenfeld, E. P., & Yeghiazarians, Y. (2019). Obstructive

References

Sleep Apnea in Cardiovascular Disease: A Review of the Literature and Proposed Multidisciplinary Clinical Management Strategy. Journal of the American Heart Association, 8(1), e010440. https://doi.org/doi:10.1161/JAHA.118.010440

- Tomfohr, L. M., Ancoli-Israel, S., Loredo, J. S., & Dimsdale, J. E. (2011). Effects of continuous positive airway pressure on fatigue and sleepiness in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: Data from a randomized controlled trial. Sleep, 34(1), 121-126. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/34.1.121
- Tomfohr, L. M., Edwards, K. M., & Dimsdale, J. E. (2012). Is obstructive sleep apnea associated with cortisol levels? A systematic review of the research evidence. Sleep Medicine Reviews, 16(3), 243-249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2011.05.003
- Torres, G., Sánchez-de-la-Torre, M., & Barbé, F. (2015). Relationship between OSA and hypertension. Chest, 148(3), 824-832. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.15-0136
- Tsourtos, G., Thompson, J., & Stough, C. K. (2002). Evidence of an early information processing speed deficit in unipolar major depression. Psychological Medicine, 32(2), 259-265. doi:10.1017/S0033291701005001
- Tsuno, N., Jaussent, I., Dauvilliers, Y., Touchon, J., Ritchie, K., & Besset, A. (2007). Determinants of excessive daytime sleepiness in a French community-dwelling elderly population. Journal of Sleep Research, 16(4), 364-371. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2007.00606.x
- Udwadia, Z. F., Doshi, A. V., Lonkar, S. G., & Singh, C. I. (2004). Prevalence of sleepdisordered breathing and sleep apnea in middle-aged urban indian men. American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 169(2), 168-173. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200302-265OC

- Ulfberg, J., Carter, N., Talbäck, M., & Edling, C. (1996). Excessive daytime sleepiness at work and subjective work performance in the general population and among heavy snorers and patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Chest, 110(3), 659-663. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.110.3.659
- van Duinkerken, E., & Ryan, C. M. (2020). Diabetes mellitus in the young and the old: Effects on cognitive functioning across the life span. Neurobiology of Disease, 134, 104608. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2019.104608
- van Kralingen, K. W., de Kanter, W., de Groot, G. H., Venmans, B. J., van Boxem, T., van Keimpema, A. R., & Postmus, P. E. (1999). Assessment of sleep complaints and sleepdisordered breathing in a consecutive series of obese patients. Respiration, 66(4), 312-316. https://doi.org/10.1159/000029400
- Vana, K. D., Silva, G. E., & Goldberg, R. (2013). Predictive abilities of the STOP-Bang and Epworth Sleepiness Scale in identifying sleep clinic patients at high risk for obstructive sleep apnea. Research in Nursing & Health, 36(1), 84-94. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21512
- Vat, S., Haba-Rubio, J., Tafti, M., Tobback, N., Andries, D., & Heinzer, R. (2015). Scoring criteria for portable monitor recordings: A comparison of four hypopnoea definitions in a population-based cohort. Thorax, 70(11), 1047-1053. https://doi.org/10.1136/thoraxjnl-2014-205982
- Vats, M. G., Mahboub, B. H., Al Hariri, H., Al Zaabi, A., & Vats, D. (2016). Obesity and sleeprelated breathing disorders in Middle East and UAE. Canadian Respiratory Journal, 2016, 9673054. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9673054
- Velasquez, A., Rahangdale, S., & Malhotra, A. (2010). CPAP effect on cardiovascular disease. Sleep Medicine Clinics, 5(3), 383-392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsmc.2010.05.009

References

- Verstraeten, E. (2007). Neurocognitive effects of obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Current Neurology & Neuroscience Reports, 7(2), 161-166.
- Waldstein, S. R., Brown, J. R., Maier, K. J., & Katzel, L. I. (2005). Diagnosis of hypertension and high blood pressure levels negatively affect cognitive function in older adults.
 Annals of Behaviour Medicine, 29(3), 174-180. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324796abm2903_3
- Waldstein, S. R., Ryan, C. M., Manuck, S. B., Parkinson, D. K., & Bromet, E. J. (1991). Learning and memory function in men with untreated blood pressure elevation. Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology, 59(4), 513-517. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-006x.59.4.513
- Wali, S. O., Abalkhail, B., & Krayem, A. (2017). Prevalence and risk factors of obstructive sleep apnea syndrome in a Saudi Arabian population. Annals of Thoracic Medicine, 12(2), 88-94. https://doi.org/10.4103/1817-1737.203746
- Walia, H. K., Li, H., Rueschman, M., Bhatt, D. L., Patel, S. R., Quan, S. F., Gottlieb, D. J., . . . Mehra, R. (2014). Association of severe obstructive sleep apnea and elevated blood pressure despite antihypertensive medication use. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, 10(08), 835-843. https://doi.org/doi:10.5664/jcsm.3946
- Wallace, A., & Bucks, R. S. (2013). Memory and obstructive sleep apnea: a meta-analysis. Sleep, 36(2), 203-220. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.2374
- Walsh, J. S., Bowles, S., & Evans, A. L. (2017). Vitamin D in obesity. Current
 Opinion in Endocrinology Diabetes & Obesity, 24(6), 389-394.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/med.00000000000371
- Wang, J., Wu, X., Lai, W., Long, E., Zhang, X., Li, W., . . . Lin, H. (2017). Prevalence of depression and depressive symptoms among outpatients: A systematic review and

meta-analysis. BMJ Open, 7(8), e017173-e017173. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017173

- Wang, W., Tretriluxana, S., Redline, S., Surovec, S., Gottlieb, D. J., & Khoo, M. C. (2008). Association of cardiac autonomic function measures with severity of sleep-disordered breathing in a community-based sample. Journal of Sleep Research, 17(3), 251-262. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2008.00652.x
- Wang, Y., Chen, B. Y., Cao, J., Guo, M. N., & Dong, L. X. (2006). The relationship between arousal and nocturnal heart rate variability in patients with obstructive sleep apnea–hypopnea syndrome. Zhonghua Jie He He Hu Xi Za Zhi, 29(4), 233-235.
- Ward, K. L., Hillman, D. R., James, A., Bremner, A. P., Simpson, L., Cooper, M. N., . . . Mukherjee, S. (2013). Excessive daytime sleepiness increases the risk of motor vehicle crash in obstructive sleep apnea. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, 09(10), 1013-1021. https://doi.org/doi:10.5664/jcsm.3072
- Watanabe, T., Isono, S., Tanaka, A., Tanzawa, H., & Nishino, T. (2002). Contribution of body habitus and craniofacial characteristics to segmental closing pressures of the passive pharynx in patients with sleep-disordered breathing. American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 165(2), 260-265. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.165.2.2009032
- Weinstein, G., Maillard, P., Himali, J. J., Beiser, A. S., Au, R., Wolf, P. A., ... & DeCarli, C. (2015). Glucose indices are associated with cognitive and structural brain measures in young adults. Neurology, 84(23), 2329-2337. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000001655
- Weiss, J. W., Tamisier, R., & Liu, Y. (2015). Sympathoexcitation and arterial hypertension associated with obstructive sleep apnea and cyclic intermittent hypoxia. Journal of Applied Physiology, 119(12), 1449-1454.

- Wetter, D. W., Young, T. B., Bidwell, T. R., Badr, M. S., & Palta, M. (1994). Smoking as a risk factor for sleep-disordered breathing. Archives of Internal Medicine, 154(19), 2219-2224. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1994.00420190121014
- White, D. P (2006). Sleep apnea. Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society, 3(1), 124-128. https://doi.org/10.1513/pats.200510-116JH
- White, L. H., & Bradley, T. D. (2013). Role of nocturnal rostral fluid shift in the pathogenesis of obstructive and central sleep apnoea. The Journal of Physiology, 591(5), 1179-1193. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.245159
- Whittle, A. T., Marshall, I., Mortimore, I. L., Wraith, P. K., Sellar, R. J., & Douglas, N. J. (1999). Neck soft tissue and fat distribution: Comparison between normal men and women by magnetic resonance imaging. Thorax, 54(4), 323-328. https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.54.4.323
- Wilcox, I., McNamara, S. G., Collins, F. L., Grunstein, R. R., & Sullivan, C. E. (1998).
 'Syndrome Z': The interaction of sleep apnoea, vascular risk factors and heart disease. Thorax, 53 (Suppl 3), S25-S28. https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.53.2008.S25
- Williams, J. M., & Dritschel, B. H. (1988). Emotional disturbance and the specificity of autobiographical memory. Cognition & Emotion, 2(3), 221-234. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699938808410925
- Wilson, A., & Ross, M. (2003). The identity function of autobiographical memory: Time is on our side. Memory, 11(2), 137-149. https://doi.org/10.1080/741938210
- Wimms, A., Woehrle, H., Ketheeswaran, S., Ramanan, D., & Armitstead, J. (2016).
 Obstructive sleep apnea in women: Specific issues and interventions. BioMed Research International, 2016, 1764837. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1764837

- Wiseman, R., Saxby, B., Burton, E., Ford, G., & O'Brien, J. (2004). Hippocampal atrophy, whole brain volume, and white matter lesions in older hypertensive subjects. Neurology, 63, 1892-1897. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000144280.59178.78
- Wolf, J., Hering, D., & Narkiewicz, K. (2010). Non-dipping pattern of hypertension and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Hypertension Research, 33(9), 867-871.
- Wong, M., Poon, C., & Zhang, Y.-T. (2009). An evaluation of the cuffless blood pressure estimation based on pulse transit time technique: A half year study on normotensive subjects. Cardiovascular Engineering (Dordrecht, Netherlands), 9, 32-38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10558-009-9070-7
- Woods, C. E., Usher, K., & Maguire, G. P. (2015). Obstructive sleep apnoea in adult indigenous populations in high-income countries: An integrative review. Sleep & Breathing, 19(1), 45-53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-014-1032-7
- Wosu, A. C., Vélez, J. C., Barbosa, C., Andrade, A., Frye, M., Chen, X., ... & Williams, M. A. (2014). The relationship between high risk for obstructive sleep apnea and general and central obesity: Findings from a sample of Chilean college students. ISRN Obesity, 2014, 871681. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/871681
- Yaffe, K., Laffan, A. M., Harrison, S. L., Redline, S., Spira, A. P., Ensrud, K. E., . . . Stone, K. L. (2011). Sleep-disordered breathing, hypoxia, and risk of mild cognitive impairment and dementia in older women. JAMA, 306(6), 613-619.
- Ye, L., Pien, G. W., Ratcliffe, S. J., & Weaver, T. E. (2009). Gender differences in obstructive sleep apnea and treatment response to continuous positive airway pressure. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, 5(6), 512-518. https://doi.org/doi:10.5664/jcsm.27650
- Younes, M. (2017). The case for using digital EEG analysis in clinical sleep medicine. Sleep Science & Practice, 1(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41606-016-0005-0

- Young, T., Palta, M., Dempsey, J., Skatrud, J., Weber, S., & Badr, S. (1993). The occurrence of sleep-disordered breathing among middle-aged adults. New England Journal of Medicine, 328(17), 1230-1235. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199304293281704
- Young, T., Shahar, E., Nieto, F. J., Redline, S., Newman, A. B., Gottlieb, D. J., ... & Samet, J. M. (2002). Predictors of sleep-disordered breathing in community-dwelling adults: The Sleep Heart Health Study. Archives of Internal Medicine, 162(8), 893-900. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.162.8.893
- Yu, B. -H., Ancoli-Israel, S., & Dimsdale, J. E. (1999). Effect of CPAP treatment on mood states in patients with sleep apnea. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 33(5), 427-432. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3956(99)00020-5
- Yu, H., Chen, L., Li, H., Xin, H., Zhang, J., Wei, Z., & Peng, D. (2019). Abnormal restingstate functional connectivity of amygdala subregions in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Neuropsychiatric Disease & Treatment, 15, 977-987. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S191441
- Zacharia, A., Haba-Rubio, J., Simon, R., John, G., Jordan, P., Fernandes, A., . . . Tschopp, J.
 M. (2008). Sleep apnea syndrome: Improved detection of respiratory events and cortical arousals using oxymetry pulse wave amplitude during polysomnography. Sleep & Breathing, 12(1), 33-38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-007-0126-x
- Zachwieja, J., Neyman-Bartkowiak, A., Rabiega, A., Wojciechowska, M., Barabasz, M., Musielak, A., . . . Ostalska-Nowicka, D. (2020). Comparison of cuff-based and cuffless continuous blood pressure measurements in children and adolescents. Clinical & Experimental Hypertension, 42(6), 512-518. https://doi.org/10.1080/10641963.2020.1714642

- Zammit, C., Liddicoat, H., Moonsie, I., & Makker, H. (2010). Obesity and respiratory diseases. *International Journal of General Medicine*, *3*, 335-343. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJGM.S11926
- Zhang, G., Gao, M., & Mukkamala, R. (2011). Robust, beat-to-beat estimation of the true pulse transit time from central and peripheral blood pressure or flow waveforms using an arterial tube-load model. *Conference Proceedings of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine* & *Biology Society*, 2011, 4291-4294. https://doi.org/10.1109/iembs.2011.6091065
- Zhang, J., & Veasey, S. (2012). Making sense of oxidative stress in obstructive sleep apnea: Mediator or distracter? *Frontiers in Neurology*, *3*(179). https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2012.00179
- Zhao, F., Yang, J., & Cui, R. (2017). Effect of hypoxic injury in mood disorder. *Neural Plasticity*, 2017, 6986983-6986983. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/6986983
- Zheng, D., Xu, Y., You, S., Hackett, M. L., Woodman, R. J., Li, Q., ... Anderson, C. S. (2019).
 Effects of continuous positive airway pressure on depression and anxiety symptoms in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea: Results from the sleep apnoea cardiovascular endpoint randomised trial and meta-analysis. *EClinicalMedicine*, *11*, 89-96.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2019.05.012</u>

Appendices

Appendix 1: RMIT ethics approval

Human Research Ethics C Research and Innovation	committee (HREC) office		
NHAMRC Code. EC00237	Notice of Appr	oval	
Date:	4 July 2018		
Project number:	21459		
Project title:	The effect of stress sleepiness in Obstr	response on cognition, ructive Sleep Apnoea	mood and da
Risk classification:	More than low risk		
Chief investigator:	Professor Stephen	Robinson	
Approval period:	From: 4 July 2018 To: 26 February 202	1	
The following documents	have been reviewed and approved:		
21450 Dobingen ann	Title	Version	Date
21459 Robinson appn	haat (Australia)	Final	3 July 20
Participant Information S	heet (Australia) beet (Soudi Arabia)		
Arabic & English DASS			5 July 20
Epworth Sleeniness Scal	le		
Autobiographical Memor	v Interview		
Study protocol	,		
Stop Bang Questionnaire	9		
The following documents	have been noted:		
	Title		Date
Financial guarantee (Sau	udi Arabia Ministry of Education)		2 May 2
Saudi Sleep Lab Accepta	ance		May 20
 Terms of approval: 1. Responsibilities It is the responsi project are aware HREC. Approval 2. Amendments Approval must be the request for a secretary. Amen. 3. Adverse events You should notify 	of chief investigator bility of the above chief investigator to e e of the terms of approval and to ensur is valid only whilst the chief investigato e sought from HREC to amend any asp mendment form, which is available on dments must not be implemented without y the HREC immediately (within 24 hou	ensure that all other investiga e that the project is conducte or holds a position at RMIT U pect of a project. To apply for the HREC website and subm out first gaining approval from urs) of any serious or unantici	ators and staff d as approved niversity. an amendmer itted to the HR h HREC. pated adverse
of the research of project. 4. Annual reports Continued appro	on participants, and unforeseen events	that might affect the ethical a submission of an annual repo	ort. Annual repo
the project is of l	ess than 12 months duration then a fina	al report only is required.	year or the pro



Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) Research and Innovation office NH&MRC Code: EC00237

6. Monitoring

Projects may be subject to an audit or any other form of monitoring by the HREC at any time.

7. Retention and storage of data

The investigator is responsible for the storage and retention of original data according to the requirements of the *Australian code for the responsible conduct of research* (section 2) and relevant RMIT policies.

8. Special conditions of approval Nil.

In any future correspondence please quote the project number and project title above.

Prof Stephen Bird Chairperson RMIT HREC

cc: Dr Peter Burke, HREC secretary Mr Ridwan Alomri, Research student Prof Gerard Kennedy, Associate supervisor Appendix 2: Publications and Conference Abstracts Related to the Thesis

Publications

Alomri, R. M., Kennedy, G. A., Wali, S. O., Ahejaili, F., & Robinson, S. R. (2020). Differential associations of hypoxia, sleep fragmentation and depressive symptoms with cognitive dysfunction in obstructive sleep apnoea. *Sleep*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsaa213</u> (Published)

Alomri, R. M., Kennedy, G. A., Wali, S. O., Ahejaili, F., & Robinson, S. R. Association between nocturnal sympathetic nervous system activity and cognitive dysfunction in obstructive sleep apnoea. (Accepted for publication in Scientific Reports Journal - Nature)

Alomri, R. M., Kennedy, G. A., Wali, S. O., Ahejaili, F., Zelko, M., & Robinson, S. R. Association between nocturnal peaks of blood pressure and cognitive dysfunction in obstructive sleep apnoea. (Under review in Hypertension)

Alomri, R. M., Kennedy, G. A., Wali, S. O., Ahejaili, F., & Robinson, S. R. Risk factors and characteristics of obstructive sleep apnoea patients referred for an overnight sleep study in Saudi Arabia: Utility of the *STOP-Bang questionnaire* as a screening tool. (Prepared for submission)

Conference Abstracts

Alomri, R. M., Kennedy, G. A., Wali, S. O., Ahejaili, F., & Robinson, S. R. (2019). Hypoxia effects on psychomotor vigilance test performance in obstructive sleep apnoea. *Proceedings of Sleep Down Under*, Sydney, 16–19 October. (**Travel award**)

Alomri, R. M., Kennedy, G. A., Wali, S. O., Ahejaili, F., & Robinson, S. R. (2019). Peaks of systolic blood pressure while sleeping are associated with the severity of impaired cognitive

function in obstructive sleep apnoea. Proceedings of the World Sleep Congress, Vancouver,

20–25 September.

Appendix 3: STOP Bang Questionnaire

Height _	inches/cm Weight lb/kg
Age	_
Male/Fei	nale
BMI	
Collar siz	ze of shirt: S, M, L, XL, or inches/cm
Neck cire	cumference* cm
1. Snorin	g
Do you s	nore loudly (louder than talking or loud enough to be heard
through o	closed doors)?
Yes	No
2 Tired	
Do you c	ften feel tired fatiqued or sleenv during davtime?
Yes	No
3. Observ	/ed
Has anyo	ine observed you stop breatning during your sleep?
res	NO
4. Blood	pressure
Do you h	ave or are you being treated for high blood <i>p</i> ressure?
Yes	No
5 RMI	
BMI mor	r_{2} than $25 kg/m^{2}$?
	No
105	140
6. Age	
Age over	50 yr old?
Yes	No
7 Neck (vircumference
Neck cire	sumference greater than 40 cm?
Yes	No No
8. Gende	r
Gender n	nale?
Yes	No
* Neck c	ircumference is measured by staff
High viel	x of OSA, answering yes to three or more items
Low rich	of OSA , answering yes to the of more items
LOWTISK	of 0.021, answering yes to less than unce items
Adapted	from:
STOP Q	uestionnaire
A Tool	to Screen Patients for Obstructive Sleep Apnea
	v 1 1

Appendix 4: The Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale - 21 Items

	AJJZ I Name:	Date:							
Please read each statement and circle a number 0, 1, 2 or 3 which indicates how much the statement applied to you over the past week . There are no right or wrong answers. Do not spend too much time on any statement.									
The	rating scale is as follows:								
0 1 2 3	Did not apply to me at all Applied to me to some degree, or some of the time Applied to me to a considerable degree or a good part of time Applied to me very much or most of the time								
1 (s)	I found it hard to wind down	0	1	2	3				
2 (a)	I was aware of dryness of my mouth	0	1	2	3				
3 (d)	I couldn't seem to experience any positive feeling at all	0	1	2	3				
4 (a)	I experienced breathing difficulty (e.g. excessively rapid breathing, breathlessness in the absence of physical exertion)	0	1	2	3				
5 (d)	I found it difficult to work up the initiative to do things	0	1	2	3				
6 (s)	I tended to over-react to situations	0	1	2	3				
7 (a)	I experienced trembling (e.g. in the hands)	0	1	2	3				
8 (s)	I felt that I was using a lot of nervous energy	0	1	2	3				
9 (a)	I was worried about situations in which I might panic and make a fool of myself	0	1	2	3				
10 (d)	I felt that I had nothing to look forward to	0	1	2	3				
11 (s)	I found myself getting agitated	0	1	2	3				
12 (s)	I found it difficult to relax	0	1	2	3				
13 (d)	I felt down-hearted and blue	0	1	2	3				
14 (s)	I was intolerant of anything that kept me from getting on with what I was doing	0	1	2	3				
15 (a)	I felt I was close to panic	0	1	2	3				
16 (d)	I was unable to become enthusiastic about anything	0	1	2	3				
17 (d)	I felt I wasn't worth much as a person	0	1	2	3				
18 (s)	I felt that I was rather touchy	0	1	2	3				
19 (a)	I was aware of the action of my heart in the absence of physical exertion (e.g. sense of heart rate increase, heart missing a beat)	0	1	2	3				
20 (a)	I felt scared without any good reason	0	1	2	3				
21 (d)	I felt that life was meaningless	0	1	2	3				
Appendix 5: Epworth Sleepiness Scale

Name:	Today's date:
Your age (Yrs):	Your sex (Male = M, Female = F):
How likely are you to doze tired?	e off or fall asleep in the following situations, in contrast to feeling just
This refers to your usual wa	ay of life in recent times.
Even if you haven't done so you.	ome of these things recently try to work out how they would have affected
Use the following scale to a	choose the most appropriate number for each situation:
	 0 = would never doze 1 = slight chance of dozing 2 = moderate chance of dozing 3 = high chance of dozing
It is imp	portant that you answer each question as best you can.
Situation	Chance of Dozing (0-3)
Sitting and reading	
Sitting inactive in a public	n lace (e.g. a theatre or a meeting)
As a passenger in a car for	an hour without a break
Lying down to rest in the a	Infernoon when circumstances permit
Sitting and talking to some	cone
Sitting quietly after a lunch	n without alcohol
In a car, while stopped for a	a few minutes in the traffic
	THANK YOU FOR YOUR COOPERATION
	© M.W. Johns 1990-97

Appendix 6: Travel Award (Annual Scientific Meeting of the Australasian Sleep Association)

Ref ID: 483

For the attention of: Ridwan Alomri

,Dear Ridwan

On behalf of the Organising Committee, I am pleased to inform you of the success of your student travel grant application to assist you with travel expenses to attend **Sleep DownUnder 2019**, to be .held at the International Convention Centre, Sydney, 16 - 19 October 2019

:You have been awarded the below amount as a student travel grant

\$400.00

Amount Awarded